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PROJECT GOMLE

The Charleston County Historical Survey was carried out for the Charleston
County Councll and a public~private partnership created by the Council and the
Charleston County Planning Department. Funding was providaed through a
matching grant by the State Historic Peeservation Offics (SHPO}, combined with
Ffunding from Charleston County Counsil and the Historic Charleston Foundation
4% well as the City of Charleston, and the municipalities of Ravenel, Seabrook
ITwland, and Kiawah Island. The Preservation Society of Charleston donated
technical assistance through its student internship program.

Charleston County Council initiated this project in response Yo cooncerns
voicsd by citizens for the preservation of significant historic sites.
Although Charleston County's rich historical legacy is widely acknowledged,
the historical associations and importance of particular gproperties is not
always sasy to interpret. Identification and protection of historic resources
is a common goal of citizens' land-use study committees, historic preservation
organizations, and community groups, Aas increasing development  puts
undocumented historic sites and properties at risk. The survey is intended to
pe used by the general public as well as by profsssionals and volunteers
invalved in local land use planning, tourism and educational projects that
promote public appreciation for Charleston County’s irreplaceable cultural
resources.

The project is part of the Statewide Survey of Historic Places, a pragram of
the State Historic Preservation Office. The Statewide Survey ldentifies
cultural rescurces that are eligible for the Natlional Register of Historic
Places, and provides infermatlion needed by the S$HPG as it reviews the lmpact
of federalliy-licensed or approved proijects on properties that are eligible for
or listed in the Register. The permitting process of such agencies as South
Carolina Coastal Council and United S5tates Department of Transportation relies
upon this SHPO review, although protection through local planning and zoning
ig not provided by National Register status. There are also some federal and
state matching grants available to sites listed on the National Register of
Historic Places. Information about the National Register program is available
from the SHPO.

Congolidation of previous surveys in the county was a project goal of both
Charleston County Council and the SHPG. There are properties in the county
that have been listed in the National Register since it was <reated by federal
legislation in 1966, Systematic surveys of historic places have been carried
cut in parts of Charleston County for the SHPO since 1973, and individual
buildings, sites, and districts have been included in earlier inventories. In
1873 the Berkeley~-Charleston-Dorchester Council of Governments and the SHPO
cellaborated on a preliminary countywide survey, after which the Rockville
Higtoric District and MeClellanville Historie District were listed in the
Hational BRegister of Historic Places. In 1983 the SHFO surveyed known sites
for the Thematic Resources of Edisto Igland National Register nomination.
These earlier proiect areas were included in the present inventory in order to
provide current information in the format of the Statewide B3Burvey. The
proeject also provides compiled information for portions of Christ Church
Parigh, where 1988 survey boundaries overlapped the boundaries of municipal
Mount Pleasant and unincorporated Charleston County.

Because an archascliogical inventory of Charleston County wag beling carried out
simultaneously by the South Caroling Institute of Archasology and
Anthropoliogy, archaeological resources arse not included in this inventory.
The historical narrative that ig part of this report incorporates findings
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from the archaeclogical inventory projecdt raport. Also, Lorl Ann Leuci,
Preservation Soclety intern, wrote & separate report abstracted from Lwo
archaenlogical studies related to the VanderHorst family of Kiawah Isgland and
Christ Church Parish.

METHOD OF SURVEY

The Charleston County Historical Survey 1s one component of a larger ypreser-
vation process. Other components are the lmportant public—private partnership
egtablished by Chavleston County Council, and the archasological inventory
conductad by the south Carclina Institute of Archaesology and Anthropology.

The Historical and Architectural Survey was carrisd out in two phases. Phase
one included field work on Edisto Island, Wadmalaw Island, and along the
Highway 61 Corridor, as well as a prelirinary historical overview and projsct
vreport. Phase Two covered the remaining areas of the survey area and proiect
completion. Phase Two was essentially completed betwesn Septenber 1991 and
August 1992,

I. Project Scoping: The Publig-Private Partnsrship

In addition to its immediate project goals of acguiring survey records and a
typology of roral historic resvurces, Charleston County Council sought through
this survey to increase public awareness of pressrvation issues and support
for public preservation efforts. County officials had expressed an interest
in achieving status as a Certified Local Government through the SHPO during
the initiation of the grant for this survey project. The grant was received
by the County in April 1930. The total project budget was funded over two
years by the SHPO with matching funds from Charleston County Council, the
Historic Charleston Foundation, the City of Charleston, and the municipalities
of Ravenel, Seabrook Island and XKiawah Island; technical assistance by the
Preservation Scciety of Charleston ig part of the local match. The total
project budget includes the archaeclogical inventory and interpretive report
by the Scuth Carolina Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology, University of
South Carolina (SCIARY.

In order te ralse public awareness and foster public support of preservation,
project sponsors and state officials decided that a successful project would
depend upon broad-based community participation throughout the process. Wide-
ranging public invelvement would insure that the fullest possible range of
community historic preservation issues were discussed, and would gain the
asgigtance of citizens in identifying local resocurces. UGltimately, it was
hoped the project would help in reaching a local public consensus as to how
best to protect historic resources.

The project Steering Committes was made up of preservationiste and educators
representing sponsor organizations and municipalities -~ Historic Charleston
Foundation, Preservation Scclety of Charleston, City of Charleston, Ravenel,
Kiawalh Island and Seabrook Island; as well as representatives of the National
Trust for Historic FPreservation, Edisto Island Historical Society, The
Lowcountry ©Open Land Trust, &very Research Center of the Collegs of
Charleston, the Town of MeClellanville, and the awendaw and ¥Wadmalaw Island
citizens’ Land Use Commissions.

Three major polintg of emphasis emerged as the Steering Committee and SHPO
designad the proiect’s zcope. First was the need for the historical narrative
to tie historic contexts to specific fisld observations. Second, it was
deemed essential that the archaesclogital survey undertaken by the South
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carclina Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology (SCIAR) be coordinated with
the historical survey. Finally, the ismportance of public meetings throughout
the survey area was defined as an integral part of the survey project itself.
The format for these meetings was outlined at this stage. Local speakers
sultable to the constituency st esach meeting would present the project,
providing an appropriaste introduction of the consultant and project sponsors
to the wvarious communities. Strong publicity efforts would ald in large
turpnout, to ensure the best opportunity to address local preservation issues,
disgeminate basic preservation information, and gauge support of County
preservation efforts. Tangible benefits, including the protection of heritage
and economic incentives, would be stressed to the public.

In its final role, the Steering Committee will assist in conducting final
mestings across Charieston County. These meestings, to be scheduled after
project completion, will provide the opportunity to discouss project findings,
Ieeal  higstoric resources, and reovmmendations for future preservation
activities.

Ir. Archaeological Inventory

The Charleston County Ristorical Survey is one of the projects funded by the
grant te Charlestoeon County from the SHPO. The other component of the grant is
an archaeclogical data base and interpretive report for the County PFlanning
Department. The two consultant firms, SCIAA and Preservation Consultants,
carried out sample fleldwork together in order to develop the cooperative
procedures,

Linda France Stine and Steven D. 3Smith analyzed the files at the South
Carolina Institute of Archaeclogy and Anthropology, Univerasity o©f South
Carclina, developing a compiled inventory of recorded archaeological sites.
Federsl, state and local agencies ave regquired to consider archasclogical
regsources in their planning. As Dr. Stine pointed out in her report, there is
hardly an avea of Charleston County that has not been impacted by human use oz
cccupation in the prehistoric or historic period. County planners are
therefore faced with an enormous task in protecting archaeclogical resources
in areas proposed for development. The interpretive raport provided by SCIAA
will be an ald toward consistent planning decisions.

Archaecloglical gites are wvaluable for the historical record they contain.
infortunately, they arve at risk of vandalism or looting by people who want to
posgess artifacts. Unauthorized digging is not only trespassing; it is also
destruction of irreplaceable resocurces. For this reason, the locations of
archaeslogical sites, and the themes for which they are significant, potential
indicators of artifacts, are not publicly ascessible documents.

IIT. Historical and Architectural Inventorv: Products and Method of Survey

The products of Charleston County Historical Survey are Survey Site Cards,
Photographs, Slidea, and Maps annotated to show Survey Sites; and this Project
Report, which summarizes the results of the project and includes Historical
Narrative, Bibliography, and Evaluation of Survey Data with Typelogy Section.
The evaluation includes a list of the properties that have besen determined by
the SHPO to be eligible for the National Reglster of Historic Places. Survey
products are provided in duplicate to Charleston County Council through the
Planning Department and to the SHPO.

A. During the intenaive-level field survey, we used USGS Topographic maps
and Charleston County rgad maps to drive every road in the survey area. Each
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property that was eligible for survey (survey-eligikle properties are defined
as above-ground cultural resources that were consiructed befors 1942 and
retain their intsgrity; those constructed after 1941 that arve significant for
dexsign or historical associations; natural landscape featurss with cultural
agaociationg; and gignificant man-made landscape features) was assigned a site
number and a Survey 8ite <Card filled out. In both incorporated and
unincorporated areas, the c¢ard includes street address and Tax Map parcel
mumber. The site number was entersd on USEE Topographic maps. For every
accegsible property, at least one black-and-white photograph was taken.
General historical and thematic informaticon was added to individual cards as
appropriate. For many properties, a shetch site plan or map showing the
general area was ingluded, and the photograph affixed Lo the card.

Color glides were taken of properties that are listed in or eligible for the
National Register, and of cother properties that are significant or interesting
for their historical associations and present appearsance, or that are typlcal
of the range of resources surveyed.

B. The historical narrative provides a&an overview of the historical
development of the survey ares and interprets the circumstances under which
Charleston County’s built environment was developed. The history is organized
chronoiogically and thematically, with each section including examples of
related sites. The proiject began with & review of available written
materials, or secondary sources: previcus esurvay and National Register
documente, archasoclogical reports, published books, and articles in journals
and periodicals. Robert P. Stockton managed thematic and toplcal research
into architectural history, government, and transportazion. As additional
information became availlable through the fisld survey, it was Iincorporated
into the historic narrative.

The sgecond phase of the historical research was site~directed. The proiect
ppongors had identified topics such as freedmen’s communities, transportation,
agriculture and fishing that have not been consistently documented, or were
poorly understood. Az sites were Located that relate to these themes, it was
possible to do more intensive research, for example, study of religious
history was undertaken after field work determined the denominaiticonal
affiliastions relevant to the survey area. ¥or the rise of black land
ownership, deeds and plats at the Charleston County Reglster of Mesne
Conveyance were consulted. Xenn Swing, Pregervation Society intern, provided
regearsh assigtance with this phase.

Copies of unpublished local, church and family histories were provided by
residents and property owners whom we met during fiseld work and at public
meetings. These documents are invaluable in sreag that have been neglected by
previous historians. Our policy with these papers, whether they are
handwritten or typed, has been to assk permission to cite them, and to copy
them for future use. In nearly every instance, permission has been granted,
and copies have been deposited with the South Carolina Historical Society.

C. Consolidation of previcus surveys was handled according to the nature of
each project. Sullivan‘sg Island and the Mount Pleasant Historic District have
both been documented fully for the Statewvide Survey, The area included in
s#ach of those sgurveys is fully under the Jurisdiction of the respectlve
municipality. Findinga from those projsets were incorporated into the
narrative history, hut the inventories were not re-mapped or renumbered.
Those reports and site cards are filed at the respective Town Planning
Departments, and with the State Historic Preservation Office.



James Island and Johns Island have besn inventoried for the Statewide Burvey,
with joint lecel sponsorship by the City of Charlsston and Charleston County.
Am with Sullivan’s Island and the HMount Pleazant Historic District, survey
findings were incorporated inte the histoerical overview as appropriate, but
the inventories were not re-mapped or renumbered. The islands are
geographically distinet entities, bubt municipal portions of each are under the
Yurisdiction of the City of Charleston, and unincorporated areas under the
jurisdiction of Charleston County. Por that reason, the survey report and
site cards from the James Island and Johns Island Historic Survey are filed
with both City and County, as well as the SHPO.

Hozt of the peninsular Clity of Charvieston has been included in the Statewide
Survey. Because of the integral connections between the City and County, the
context of the historical overview contains many references ito historical
events and developments in the city. Survey reports and site cards for
properties in the City of Charleston are filed with the Planning and Zoning
fepartment’s Preservation Qffice, and with the SHPO.

Portions of Christ Chureh Parish were included in the Statewide Survey in
1988, with local sponsorship by the Town of Hount Pleasant. Boundaries of
that prodect overlap the boundaries of sunicipal Mount Pleasant  and
unincorporated Charleston County, Az with the other projects cited above,
findings from that project were incorporated into the historical overview. In
addition, the USGS Topographlc Maps submitted with the Charleston County
Historical Survey indicate the boundaries of the 1988 project. Information
about properties within those boundaries will be provided to Charleston County
in the form of the "Town of Mount Pleasant Cultural Resource Survey, 1988"
Final Survey Report, which includes copies of maps showing each site and
coples of all the site cards, with Tax Map parcel number. The original site
cards are filed with the Town of Mount Pleasant Planning Department and SHPO,

Finally, the Village of Rockville HNational Register Historic District and
MceClellanville Hational Register Historic District, and individual Rational
Register~listed sites in the project area were resurveyed, numbered and mapped
as part of this project, to provide information in a format consistent with

the Statewlde Survey. Site cards reference the previocus National Register
ligtings.
B. The Reconnaissance Survey for the developed St. Andrews area was carried

out a8 a regearch prolect using current Charleston County Tax Maps. Archival
regearch is usually reguired for suburban survey proiects, becausge the dates
of residences that were bullt between about 1930 and 1950 can be dlifficult to

determine visually. The Reconnalissance provides informaticon about the
location of properties that are likely to be eligible for the Statewlide
Survey; agpecifically, those that were constructed before 18%42. This

information is provided as & preliminary step to a more comprehensive
inventory, which would involve field work and further research ints property
and community history. Twentieth century subdivisions emphasized strestscapes
and public spaces, so a complete inventory in the developed areas West of the
Ashley will also inciude a landscape component.

The earliest available plat of esach subdirision was obtained at the Charleston
County RMC Office. The property lines on these plats are generally congistent
with ¢urrent parcels. Each plat iz annotated as to the date of survey, ths
period when most of the bulldings were constructed, and the Charleston County
Tax Map that includes the area.



E. The Preservation Socisty of Charleston supported the Charleston County
Historical Burvey through its intsrnship program. Three separate Lntern
projects were developed and carried out during the course of Phase One and
Phase Two. Henn Swing worked primerily &s a researcher, using the map files
of the BSouth Carolina Historicval Society, Charleston Library Society,
Charlegton County Public Library, and the deeds and plats filed with the
Charleston County Register of Mesne dJonveyance. Through compariscons of
historic maps of the gcounty, and the current USGS Topographic HMaps, he
provided inforwation about transporitation rovtes and land uge. Deed ressarch
focussed on individual property histories and ownership patterns, especially
during the years betwesn the Civil War and World War One. His findinge helped
the field surveyors to understand important facets of land use, and were
incorporated into the property histories on Phase One survey site cards.

Lorisnn Leuci concentrated on Kiawah Island., Using information made available
by Chicora Foundation and SouthAre, Inc., and with the agsistance of the Town
of Kiawah Island and Kiawah Resort BAsscciates, she wrote a summary report
"Kiawah Island: The First Three Hundred ¥ears” for the Preservation Soclety.
fler research was incorporated into the overview historical garrative that is
included with this report.

Summer Rutherford worked with the Edisto Island Historical Society, the Edisto
Ieland Community Assoclation and the Land Use Study Committee to clarify the
preservation values held by the Edisto Island community. Her goal was to
identify issues, define the planning process ag it affects historic resources,
and outline appropriate options for maintaining the historic character of
Edisto Island. This project took place after completion of Phase One, and
ugsed the survey products for Hdisto Island as a bpasis for discussing
preservation values in the community. Ms. Rutherford's report, "Working on
*Bdisto Time’: Preservation and Community Values, a Study of Hdisto Island,
South Carolina” i an  excellent model for students, pregervation
professionales, and citizens who ars interested in using the Btatewide
Inventory of Historic Places as part of a community~based planning process.

IIY. Public Meetings

Public meetings are important to the survey process. OFfficially, they inform
the residents of an area about the preject and  its sponsocrs. The
presentations are intended to help build public awareness and appreciation for
the diversity of sites that are considered historically significant. The fact
of being included in a study of historic properties can enhance the value of a
site in the eyes of its owners and neighbors, especizlly when they accept the
criteria used for determining what is "historie.” -

Public meetings can help local groups begln discussions of how they can
protect historic sites and educate themselves about their own history. They
introduce citizens te rescurce agencies and organizations, and explain the
gfforts those groups are making to build the preservation oonstituency.
Finally, for the consultant, the public meeting iz & way te meeb the people in
an arsa who are most interested in thelr local history. ©On & “sign up sheet™
attendees supply their names and telephone numbers and sometimes the sites or
subjects about which they are well-informed. These are the people who will
help with inaccessible sites, with introductions to knowledgesable older
regidents, and with church histories.

The sponsoring organizations and Steering Committee of the Charleston County
Survey took the public meetings component of the project wvery seriously.
Their efforts resulted in a series of meetings that were gome of the most
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succesaful that ws have besn involved with. The interactive meeting format
involved community leaders, County and State officials, and the consultant
tean. The project was introduced by a local citizen committed te histeric
praeservation as part of the guality of life. County staff explained Council‘s
intent in sponsoring the survey: to respond to the lovsl groups whose concern
for the loss of historic resources was expressed In a series of land use
plans, adopted by Council, that called for an inventory of historic sites; and
to respond to the fact that general knowledge of historic sites in Charleston
County has been incomplete.

The consultant’s role in these public meetings is to explain the manner in
which the project is being carried out, and, using slides, to begin a
discussion of the broad rangs of cultural rescurces that are significant to
lccal history. Some explanation of varicus preservation programs ie
appropriate, but this was usually left to the guestion-and-answer session.

The gecgraphically, scocially and economically diverse communities in which we
mat proved to have a varlilety of concerns. It was in the general £loox
digcugsion that the value of local sponscrship and introductions were most
apparent. The content ¢of the questions, addressed to the consultant or State
and County staff, related to local historic sitea and local preservation
issues. Discussion centered on toplcs relevant to the group in attendance,
and lald the groundwork for a responsible field survey.
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BOUNDARIES OF SURVEY AREA AND NUMBER OF SQUARE MILEES BURVEYED

Charlieston County compriges about 945 sguare mileg of land and watser.
Historic resources In several areas of the county have already been incluoded
in the Statewide Survey. James Island (31.5 sguare miles), Johns Izland (74
gouare miles) and Sullivan’s Island {2.7 sqguare miles) have been gurveyed in
thelr entirety. A I3-sguare mile ares of unplncorporated Charleston County
adjacent to the Town of Mount Pleasant, The Mount Pleasant Historic District,
and much of the peninsular City of Charleston have been surveved.

The sguare mileage of the area surveyed for the Charleston County Historical
Survey, 19%1-149%2, is as follows:

Edisto Izland 2.6 aguare miles
Wadmalaw Island 43.0 sgquare miles
Folly Island F.5 sguare miles
Kiawah Island 4.6 sguare miles
Seabroock Island 4.9 mguare miles
Highway 61 Corridor 35.¢0 square miles
“Town of Lincolaville L8 sguare mile
Town of Hollywood 17.3 sguare miles
Town of Megget: 17.1 sguare miles
Town 0f Ravenel 19.5 sguare miles
Unincorporated areas in 8t. Pauls Parish 142.1 sguare miles
Town of Awendaw 1.0 séuare mile
Town of HeClellanville 2.1 sgqusre miles
Unincorporated areas east of the Cooper River 121.7 square miles
Francig Marion Hational Forest 150.0 square miles
TOTAL AREA SURVEYED 639%9.2 SQUARE MILES

The Francis Marion National Forest is under the djurisdiction of the United
States Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, a federal agency. Under the
provigions of the Hational Historic Pregervation BAot, the USDA is charged with
documenting cultural resourcves within the forest, and avoiding or mitigating
adverse impact of Forest Ssrvice activities. There are & number of "oub-
parcels,” privately-held property surrounded by the National Forest, which are
accessible via Forest Service or gounty roads. Thesse out-parcels were
included in the above-ground historical survey; the separate archasological
component of the overall grant did not include the sites managed by the USDA
Forest Service.

Because the patterns of historicsl development on Kiawah, Seabrook and Folly
islands have resulted in mostly post-World War Two structures (with the
notable exception of Kiawah’s VanderHorst Mansion), the cultural resources,
including military aites, on those islands are primarily archaeclegical in
nature.

The ¢ities of North Charleston and Igle of Palms were not included in the
project.
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EVRELUATION OF BURVEY DATA

5492 gurvey gite numbers were assigned during the project, représenting a total
@wE 6%3 survey site cards. For this evaluation, the &%3 site cards are
combined with the 72 gite cards for National Regiscter propsriies, for a total
af 772 Survey Sitesg.

T« Froperties in the Survey Ares that are Listed in the Hational Register
of Historic Places.

The Complled Index of Sites includes all properties in the survey area that
have been listed in the National Register of Historlce Places. They have besn

agsigned Site Numbers #004 through #144. Seventy~nine site cards were
prepared for the thirty-eight individual Natlonal Register listings in the
RILVEY Ares. Two Historic Districts have bpeen listed on the Hational

Register: McocClellanville Historic District (Sites #401 through #47%) and
Rockville Historice District {8ites #145 through #178)}. Site numbers have also
been assigned to the two historic districts: McClellanviile Historic
Digtrict, #7%, and Rockville Historie Digtriect, #£104.

i1, Potential National Register Listings in the Survey Area.

After evaluation ¢f the survey sites and site card data, the State Historic
Preservation QIffice determined a number of properties in the survey area that
are HEligible for Listing or the National Register of Historic Places. These
recommendations are based upon the present architectural integrity and
available historical information for the properties inciuded in the survey.
Should changes occur or further informaticn become available, cther properties
in Charleston County may be determined by the SHPC to be eligible for listing.

B INDIVIDUALLY BLIGIBLE PROPERTIES
Sitef Survey Property
184 Ambrose House, Wadmalaw Island
198 Allendale Plantation Rouse, Wadmalaw Island
210 Wadmalaw Island Post Office
214 Rogebank Road, Wadmalaw Island
216 Grimball House, Wadmalaw Island
240 Atlantic Intraccastal Waterway, Cuts at Dawhoo River
262 Bughy Bridge Road/Causeway and Bridge s5ite, Wadmalaw Island
281 Whaley House, Edisto Island
2986 Whaley House, Bdisto Island
308 Crawford’'s Plantation House, Edisto Island
311 Pine Barren [Barony!, Grimball House, Edisto Island
313 Brown House, Edisto Island
320 House, Indige Hill Read, Edisto Island
328 Pope House, Edisto Island
336 Cypress Trees Plantation, Edisto Island
349 Botany Bay Road and Abandoned Causeway, Edisto Island
36 Pine Landing Road and Pine Landing, Bdisto Island
378.1 Slave Cabin at Green Point Plantation, Bdisto Islsand
378.2 Slave Cabin at Green Point Plantation, Edisto Isliand
dai Tabby Ruins, Edisto Island
382 Dawho River Drawbridge, Edisto Island
383 Edingsviile Beach Road, Edisto Island
3%4.0 Gak Lawn, Gonzales House, near Parkers Ferry
394.1 Eliiott Family Cemetery at Oak Lawn
445.0 U.5, Biological Survey Office, McClellanville
445,1 Fire Lockout Tower, HMeflelilanville :
448.0 Bethel AME Church, McClellanville
446.1 Bethel AME Church Cemetery, McoClellanville
520 House, 80%% Highway 174, Adams Run
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530 Pire Lookout Tower, Adams Run

837 Yonges Island Post Office, Meggett

601.0 Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Depot, Ravensl
&4 Wilkinson-Boingau House, Adams Run

645 Adams Run School

709 Silver Hill House, MoClellanville

Fi7 Houge, Rast Meesting Street, Lincolnville

736 Santee Gun Club Lodge, Santee Uoastal Regerve

B. ELIGIBLE AS COMPLEXES

Site#d Survey Property

243 Kew Cut Plantation, Wadmalaw island

260~-264 Sosnowskl Farm Complex, Wadmalaw Island

270 Point Farm, Wadmalaw Island

355 Killbroock Plantation, Highway 61 Corridor

577 Tibwin Plantation House, Stable and Oak Allee, MeClellanvilie

664, 6646 Towles~Golden House and Towles-Williams House, Meggett

50%9~510 0ld Wiltown Road {Dixie Plantation Reoad) and Cak Allee, Dixe
Flantation, 8t. Pauls Parish

682-684 Cox/ Harmony Hall Complex, near Meggett

C. EXPANEIONS AND ADDENDA TQ PREVIOUS NATIONAL REGTISTER LISTINGS

Sitefd Survey Property

144.1 Mangse Road {adjacent to Presbyvterian Mense, BEdisto Island:
142.% Cattle Trough (at Windsor Plantstion, Bdisto Island)
176 Towngend Pecan Orchard (to Rogkville Historic District)
177 Bailey House (to Rockville Historic District)

309 Dr. Woodruff House, Edisto Island

310 House, Peters Point Road, Bdistoe Island

620 Parkers Ferry Road {tc Barnwell House, Prospesct Hill)

L. POTENTIAL HISTORIC DISTRICTS
13 Transportation Network at Southern End of Edisto Island

3itef Survey Property

131 Tabby Oven Ruins {listed on National Register)

1985 Framptons Inlet Landing

34% Botany Bay Road and Causeway

29 Transportation Network at Northeast Side of Edisto Island

Sitef Survey Property

11% William Seabrook Housg (listed orn National Register)
i16.2 Bteamboat Landing

334 Steamboat Landing Road

3 ashley River Historic District

As part of the Ashley River Special Area Management Plan, the S5tate Historic
Preservation Cffice concluded that there is an eligible Hational Reglister
historic district encompassing areas in both Charleston and Dorchester
counties. The boundaries are to include the historis properties and vistas
along the Ashley River, bounded roughly by Site #364 (railroad bridge) to
the south; Highway 165 {(Bacons Bridge Road} to the north; Highway 61 (Ashiey
River Raad) to the west; and visual buffers on the east (Dorchester Road)
side of the river.
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4}y Heggett Historic District

Sitef Eurvey Property

585 Calvary Baptist Church

585 A5C Produce Assoclation; Exchange Bank
589 Meggett Post Offics

530 House, 4775 Highway 165

Open space sasociated with rallroad line

5)  Adams Run Historic District

Siref Survey Property

520 House, B0%6 adames Run School Road
BEz2 House, BOY7 Adams Bun School Road
523 Housge, 8109 Adams Run School Road
643 Wilkingon Summer House; Boineau House
644 House, 5151 Righway 174

645 Adamgz Run Scheool

646 House, 5158 Highway 174

647 House, 5145 Highway 174

648, 0 Christ Church

648.1 Christ Church Cemetery

649 Houae, 5126 Highway 174

8y HcClellanviile Historic District

Upon evaluation of the survey data in the Town of McClellanville, it is the
BHPO's recommendation that the National Register nomination for the
McClellanville Historic Disgtrict be revised to reflect more acourately
current conditions. Hurricane Hugo {September 21-22, 1989) either destroyed
or heavily damaged numerous properties within the historic district. Some
historic properties that sustained sigrificant damage were subseguently
rehakilitated, but have not retalned their architectural integrity. A small
enclave of higtoric commercial properties has been dsolated from the core of

the proposed historic district by non-historic dntrusions. As a result, a
district boundary reduction &8s proposed for the northern part of
MeClellanville along Pinckney Street. The proposed National Register

Historic District will be enlarged over the current HNaticnal Register
Historic District by the inclusion of six properties to the south and west.
The following is a list of contributing properties in the proposed National
Register McClellanville Historic District.

Site# Survey Froperty

401 House, 423 Plnckney Street

402 MeClellan Summer House, Rutledge Court

403 MeClellan House, 532 Pinckney Street

404 Graham House, 528 Pinckney Street

405 Murray Houge, 514 Pinckney Street

406 Taylor House, 506 Pinckney Street

407 Seabrook House, 205 Rutledge Court

408 Lucas House, 431 Pincknay Street

409 Leland House, 3533 Pinckney Street

411 Lofton House, 546 Pinckney Strest

413 King Houss, 554 Pinckney Strest

414 Houge, bBS5% Pinckney Street

41% McClellanville Methodist Church, Pinckney Street
416 Skipper House, 8606 Pingkney Strest g
417 Shokes House, 624 Pinckney Street

418 Waring House, 634 Pinckney Street

419 Lofton Bouse, 226 Oak Strest
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420 Memorial Park
L Rew Wappehtaw Prasbviterisn Church, Pinckney Strest
422 Lofton House, 226 Oak Strest
423 5%, James, Santee, Chapel, 20% Cak Street
434 Doar Housge, Charlotte Street
425 Dear House, 204 Charlotte Street
427.0 Whilden Bouse, 125 (Qak 3treet
4274 Whilden Kitchen House
427 .2 Whilden Office
428 Leland House, Oalk Street
429 Morrison House, 102 Oak Street
430 MeGillivray House, 608 Morvison Street
431 Leland House, 114 Oak Street
432 Leland House, 120 Oak Street
433 Leland House, 12& Cak Street
434 Graham House, 140 Qak Street
435 Morrison House, 144 Oak Street
436 Morrimon House, 208 Oak Strest
438 Houge, 218 Oak Street
441 New Wappetaw Pregbyterian Manse, 632 Venning Street
442 Faacock House, 207 Scotia Street
443 Mackintosh House, 211 Scotia Street
444 Machintosh House, 217 Scotia Street
445.0 U8 Biological Survey Qffice; MeClellanville Town Hall
445.1 ¥oClellianville Fire Tower
449 House, 617 Morrison Street
450 Mills House, 535% Morrison Street
451 Murray House, 703 Morrison Street
452 Houge, 104 Sgotia Street
483 Houssa, Scotia Strest
454 Drayton House, 704 Pinckney Street
456 MeClelianvilile Public School
4560 House, 228 Baker Street
4562 Houss, 710 Morrison Street
463 Houge, 721 Morrison Street
464 Horrison House, 12 Morrison Court
465 House, 735 Morrison Street
466 House, 32 Morrison Court
E. SITES WORTHY OF FURTHER INVESTIGATION
Bite# Survey Property
246.0 Red House Plantation, Ruins
ass.0 White Point Road, Slanng Island
385.1 Slann’s Packing Shed
475 Tayior House, HeClellanville
498.1 Sak Avenue along 0ld Georgetown Road
500 Live Oszk Plantation House and Ricefields
501 Live Oak Plantation Cemetery
504 Sauldam Baptist Church
512 Smoak House, Meggett
513 Smeoak-Westervalt House, Meggett
524 House, 8123 Adams Run School Road
537 Yonges Island Oyster Factory
538 Wave Crest, Miliard House, Yongeg Island
540 Geraty House, Windy Point, Yonges Island
565 Small House, 1928 Cermantown Road
883 Jacksonbore Masonlic Lodge #2088, Meggett
600 0id Jacksonboro Road
605 Hospital OQaks, Ravenel
620 Farkers Ferry Road

826
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&85 Towies House

7G4 Baptigt Hill School, Hollywood
F13.0 Thames House, South Santes
726 Cordrav s Grocery

1XI. Geographic Distribution of Survey Sites

One site in Berkeley County, the Wando River

previously been inventoried for the Statewide Survey. It

Aridge

{Highway 41}, has
wag included in this
project because of its locatios and higtorical asgociations.

Ares # of sites % of Toral
Berkeley County i
McClellanville* and Vicinity 128 16.6%
rwendaw* and Vicinity 20 2.59%
Mt. Pleasant* and Vicinity 8 -01%
Lincolnwville* and Vicinity 3
Highway 61 Corridor® 43 5.57%
Ravensl* and Vicinity 51 6.6%
Charleston Area 5 .06%
Hollywood* and Vicinity 39 5.05%
Meggett* and Vicinity TE 1C.1%
Adams Run/ Osborne and Vicinity 76 9.84%
Edisto Island 153 19.55%
Kiawah Island* 2
Wadmalaw Island 167 21.63%
TOTAL 72 37.6%
Total in Incorporated Municipalities 188 24.35%
Total in Unincorporated Charieston County 584 T15.65%
Sites Inside Municipal Boundaries # of sites % . 0f Total
*Incorporated MoClellanville 87 11.27%
*Incorporated Awendaw 2 L002%
*Incorporated Mt. Pleasant 2 .002%
*Incorporated Lincolnville 2 L002%
*Incorporated Ravenel 29 3.76%
*Incorporated Hollywood 19 2.46%
*Incorporated Meggett 45 5.83%
*Incorporated Kiawah Island 2 .002%
*Total Number in Municipalities 188 23.33%

Iv. Claggification of Sites

Survey sites are classified as bulldings (residence, church, school, stors,
post  office); sites (cemeteries, roads, landings, gardens, sgricultural
plantings, locations of former buildings); structures (bridges, cisterns,
wells, fortifications)y; and obilects {small-scale or artistic constructions}.
Resources such as single trees, formal avenuss and lines of trees and shrubs
are classified as either gltes or objects according to historic context and
asgociations. The inventory includes properties whose level of significance
is considered to be local as well as those that are nationally significant,
and several properties that retaln little integrity of site or setting. These
are not unimportant sites, but thelr level of ipportance must be assessed with
regard to local history.



Although individual gravestones are congldersd to be objacts, cemeteriss are
surveyed as sites. Most churghes {(bulldings) in rural argas include &
churchyard cemetery (site), for which a separate card was prepared. Several
church cemeteries were surveyed when the church building itself was a wmodern
structure. Small private or community cemeterles were also surveyed.

The location and uses of buildings, farmlands, trees, transportation routes
and commercial or public areas was historically an inter-related process. An
important consideration of the gsurvey has been to inventory the variety of
gites that make up the historic bullt enviromment according to consistent
criteria: historlie significance, design significance, and integrity of site
and getting. Agricultural and domestic dependencies were usually surveyed as
cutbuildings te principal sites. Those that are isclated or of unusual
interest were surveyed separately, either as sscond cards to principal sites,
or as individueal sites. Most often landscape fgatures were treated as part of
4 sgurvey site’s sgurrcundings, but =25 with depsndencies, those that are
isolated or of unusual interest were surveyed on separate site cards.

Categorization of sites according to common characteristics involves, first,
gsorting them by type. They can then be further olassified in order to
evaluate common characteristics, most usefully by period of construction.

B Type Distribution of Survey Sites

Iype £ cf Sites % of Total
Residences® 459 59.45%
Cemeteries G 1l2.8B2%
Roads and Lanﬁingsb 35 4.53%
Chureh Buildings 28 3.63%
Stores & Commercial® 27 3.49%
Barng, Stables and Agricultural Outbuildings 18 2.33%
Rallroad Lines and Structuree® 16 2.07%
Domestic Outbulildings 14 1.81%
Degigned Landscapes® 13 1.68%
Ruins and Bulilding Sites 13 1.68%
schoolsf 1 1.42%
Bridges and Bridge Sites¥ 10 1.29%
canalal 7 .89%
Pecan Orchards and Groves 7 .9%
Windmills 3 .38%
Oyster Factories 2 L26%
Cotton Ging 2 L 26%
Firetowers ; LPE%
othert & 7%
TOTAL TEZ 9%, 86%

Rfinciudes 5 slave cabing and ahout 20 tenant or employees cottages

Binciudes 8 sites that are sepsrate sections of a single route: e.§., Haybank Righuay was given & site mgrbers
Cincludes post of fices and commissaries

Zinciudes depot, ice houses, packing sheds, miscelisnsous buildings, right-cf-way, snd bridgs sites

2 e Ludes al Lées, gardens, arnd Lines of trees along rosdways

fincludes one auditorium surveved separately. One site (#4567 insiudes g gymmoestum as an suthuilding
9inciudes one rai lroad bridye that retains integrity

hy separate canals. Attantic Intracoastal Waterway repressnts 5 aites

Hncludes 1 lodge, 1 oak grove, 1 phosphatemine, 1 park, 2 clubhouses

bt
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f. Date Distribution of Survey Sites

Resources that are aligible for the Statewlide Survey of Historic Places ares
generally those that were constructed before January 1, 1942, and that retain
integrity. Po have integrity, the resource must have retained, essentially
intact, the physical identity from its historic period. It will either have
few alterations or will have been maintalned with the use of construction
materials that are consistent with the original. Because of the goval of this
project to provide broad-based information about the wvariety of historic
resources in Charleston County, many properiiss were included as gurvey sites
that have lost integrity, but retain local  bhistorical assocliations.
Buildings, sites, structures and objects that were constructed after 1941 but
have architectural signficance oy important historicsl associations are
elligible for the Statewlide Survey, and were included in the project.

The date of construction of a histori¢ resource was provided on the survey
cards as precisely as possible. For a very few properties both the beginning
and completion dates, i.e. 1828-1B30, are known; more commonly the date a
property was first completed for use is given asz the construction date. When
the construction date is not known with certainty, or is unverified, a c¢irca
{ca.) date is given, considered te be acourate within plus or minusg five
vears. [Survey site cards use the abbreviation o, e.g. 1500c¢.]

There is significant variation in date distribution among different types of
gites. This lIs in part due to the loss of pbuildings over time, and also to
the fact that historic houses, barns and churches that have replaced an
original structure are dated according to the current structure, and other
kinds of regources, such as cemeteries, are usually dated from their first
construction.

The eight time periods used for classifying zurvey sites by date cprrespond to
the Periods in BSouth Carolina History in the State Historic Preservation
Office Survey Manual. This chronoclegical organization is also used in the
Survey Narrative History that is included with this report. Survey sites that
were first constructed Pre—178Y represent the period from the first permanent
white settlement in Charleston County through the American Revolution., After
179C the general depression in the county was smarked by agricultural advances
that led to the prospercus Aantebellum Periosd from about 1820 until the
peginning of the Civil War, in 1860. The disruption of the Civil War was
followed by Reconstruction in South Caroclina, which ended in 1877. Although
the gradual process of agricultural and social modernization that lasted until
World War One was not interrupted in any real fashion by the turn of the
century, the forty-year era from 1877 to 1%17 has been divided in this report
into two periods (1877-1900 and 19%01-1%17}) because of the large number and.
diversity of survey sites that were constructed during that forty vear time
period. Between +the two World Wars there was a general agricultural
depression in South Carclina (avoided to a degree in Charleston County by the
positive impact of truck farming); the Great Depression (which Charleston
County did not escape):; and the New Deal. The year 1%41 begins the modern
era, from about fifty vears ago through the present.
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&} Date Distribution:

Period

PFre-178%

17890-1820
1821-1860
1E81-1877
1878~1900
18013817
1918~194G

1941l~present
Unknown (cemeteries and trees)

TOTAL

bry Date Distribution:

Period

Pre-1789

1790~1820
1821-1860
1861-1877
18781900
i9Q1-1917
1818~1940

194l-pregent

TOTAL

vl Date Distribution:

Pericd

Pre~178%

1780~1820
1821-1860
1861~1877
1878-~1900
190k~1917
18318~1%40

Date Unknown

TOTAL

d) Date Distribution: 28 Church Bulildings

Pericd

Pre-1789

1780~1820
18211840
18611877
1B878~1800
1801-1917
1918-1240

i941-presgent

TOTAL

ALY Sites

9% Cemeteries

£.0f Siteg

37
38
68
i3

127
120
328
9
B
70

¥ of Sites

7
id
34
15
654
82

238

5

459

# of Sites

ig
16
g
151
24

# of Siren

et
[ MU N o R S T S

|

e
2 4]

5 of Total

4.79%
4.92%
8.81%
4.27%
16.458%
15.54%
22.49%
1.17%
1.55%
899.99%

459 Residences (ingluding slave and tenant cabins)

¥ of Total

1.83%
3.5%
T.41%
3.27%
13.94%
17.86%
51.85%
+:08%
99.99%

%2 of Total

16.156%
16.16%
5.05%
65.06%
34.34%
6.06%
4.04%
12.12%
99.99%

% of Total

7.14%
3.57%
14.28%
14.28%
35.71%
14.28%
3.57%
7.314%
99.99%
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@l Date Dlgtribution: 3% BEoads and Landings

okeriod # of Gites % of Total
Fre-1789 23 B5,71%
1790-1820 3 B.57%
18211860 5 17.14%
1861-31877 G 0.00%
1878-1900 3 8.57%
19031817 o 0.00%
TOTAL 35 99.459%

BUILDIKG TYPOLOGIES
A RESIDENTIAL

Very few yremaining structures of any kind were bullt before 1800. Thoss that
remaln are typically substantial bulldings, of brick or wood frame, that in
general rest upon brick or tabby foundations. Brick was made on the Wande and
Cooper rivers, where clay was present io the soil; tabby was made on the Sea
Iglands where oyster shell, but not clay, wag available. A few dwelling
houses were bullt of tabby, but it was more commonly used for service
buildings. Brick sesms to have been preferred by those who could obtain it,
even on the islands.

Between 1800 and 18860, because the economy was primarily slave-based staple
crop plantation agriculture, most of the residences within the survey arsea
were built in rural areas. Descriptive names such as Qak Lawn, Live Cak, The
Grove, Fairfield, and Green Point were given to plantations throughout the
Loweocuntry. At least four Laurel Hills were identified during the survey, on
Edisto Island, near Awendaw, near Rantowles, and at Meggett; two Prospect
#Hills, cone on Bdiste Island and one on the Scuth Bdisto River; and two Oak
Groves, both on Wadmalaw Island,

I. PLANTATIONS AND MANOR HOUSES, 1725-1800

Samuel G. Stoney’s Plantations of the Carclina Low Country provides an intro-
duction to the plantation houses from this period. “In general there are
several geemingly notable things about the Low Country plantation houses,
among themw theilr planning, Before the Revolution... and from the opening
years of the eighteenth century almost to its ending, ong plan was used over
and over agaln with only slight variation.” :

The plan referred to includes an unegual divigion of the fromt of the house,
and a central stair hall (a8 seen in the plan of the upper story of the
Charleston Double Houses). The form is Engilish in tradition. Examples ©f
this plan are at Brick House on Edisto Island {17253, at Fenwick Hall on
John‘s Island {1730} and at Fairfield on the Socuth Santes River (1730%. The
Geoprgian syle of the plan of Drayton Hall {1738-42) brought the English
Palladian tradition to its height., The two atory brick structure on  an
elevated bagement with a double~hipped roof was derived from Palladio’s Villa
Pisanl which has a similar two-tiered portico. Palladian influsnce was also
sean in the placement of ite flankers, a planning element which was repeated
at both Hiddleton Place (1740) and Fenwick Hall.

The house built abeut 1740 at OGakland Plantaticon is significant in several
respects, one being its modest scale. QOakland, though convenient +to the
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prickyards on the Wando and Cooper rivers, was constructed with a tabby
foundation., Its gambrel or “Dutoch” roofl and the angled chimney in 1ts
principsl reom are also interesting variations from the Gecrgian norm.

After the American Revolution there were attempts to localize the typical
Georgian plan toward climatic concerng through the ase of more windows and
vross ventilation. This is exempiified by Harrietta, with its slaborate wings
and rear stalr. The Federal or Neoclassical taste mads popular by the designs
of the Adam brothers also resulted in characteristic wvarlations. The
polygonal plan seen at Mount Hope, the Grove, and 4 wing with octagonal ends
added to Fenwick Hall, are good examplss of the styvle.

In addition to the grand house plan there were Gecrgian designs in the typical
Lowcountry tradition. The VanderHorst House on Kiaswah Island and Tibwin
{builit 17%0), both incorporated high style Adamesgue design elements into a
localized version of the "I" house form, one with chimneys not at the ends,
but in the interior.

IT. PLANTATIONS AND MANOR HOUSES, 1800-1860

The builders and architects of the South Carolina Lowcoountry were upusually
skillful in adapting the Necclassical and Greek Revival styles to the good
hasic plans that had already been developed. The plantation manor houses
bhuilt between 1800 and 1860 show a similarity of plan, with wvariations being
in ornamentation and interior detailing. Two stories, of wood frame with
weatherboard siding, two rooms deep and two rooms wide, divided by a central
stair hall, rest upon & high brick oy tabby foundation, sometimes enclosed at
the ground floor where there are freguently fireplaces. Some gain & third
level half-story by the use of two or three gable dormers piercing the lateral
gable roofline at both long sides, or at the facade only. Two chimnevs are
pet at the rear slope of the roof. The principal entry elevation may face
water or land; or there may be two principal facades, as at the William
Seabrook House, probably the most ornate on Ediste Island. The central entry
may have transom or fanlight and sidelights. Houses with two-tier porches,
eapecially where the second level ig roofed, generally repeat the detailing of
the first level entry, sometimes in a slightly simpler fashion. As with
Seabrook s House the porch is often at the central bays, rather than extending
across the entire front., Columng are typical throughout Charleston County,
ranging from the attenuated plain columns at William Seabrook’s House to more
massive and fluted Greek Revival columns.

The general plan is c¢arried out consistently in Charleston County planters’
houses, such as The Wedge, built about 1826, The housse features awsll-
proportioned Greek Revival design and porch across the entirve main facade five
bays wide, with center entry and a central hall plan. Somewhat later, Cassina

Point, bullt about 1847; Windsor Plantation House, about 1837; and MclLeod
#lantation, ¢&. 1858, retained the residential plan essentially unchanged.
Red House {lost to fire ca. 1944} is said to have bsen built to ths standard
plan; only two tall brick chimneys remain., Impressive in appearance even when
simply detalled, as with Summit Plantation House (181%), and Frogmore {about
1820, these houses were built for comfort in warm months and with substantial
fireplacea for ¢old weather, but make lirtle concession to  functional
household activitiss. Although 2 room may have been =set aside as the
planter’s office, more often the office, as were the kitchen, laundry,
icehouse, and dairy room, was housed in an sutbullding.

There were two variations on the typloeal regional wmlan that continued to the
end of the antebellum period. One was the "Double Farior" effect, achleved
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throagh building two front rooms of egual size, each having & main entry from
the front of the house {(one parlor was often used as the dining room)y. Though
guite common in other Lowcountry counties, this plan seems to remaln in
Charleston County only at Harrietta.

The other variation wag orgated by dividing the two front rooms symmetbrically,
with a large central hall that continued on axig into a larger rear stair
hall. The prototype of this styile was William Ssabrook’s Houge on Bdisto
Island {1810). Representling this plar are Oak Island (1830), pPeter's Point
{1840}, and the Crawford House, all on Edisto Island. Crawfordrs, built about
1835, has a large pedimented gable projection, and pedimented gable extensions
at its rear pays. Like the larger rear stair halls at the William Seabrook
Houge and Gak Island, Crawford’s features a segmented stair along its rear
wall, lit by small windows between first and second levels.

The 1830 house buillt on Bdisto Island for Oliver angd Supan Trail Middleiton
also deviagtes from the typleal plan in several respects, although it has the
common treatment of frame construction, fanlight and sidelighbts, and arcaded
brick basement. The house is one room wide, with a hipped roof and end
chimneys; there are one-story wings at both side elevations.

L11. STRUCTURES AND LANDSCAPE FEATURES ASSOCIATED WITH MANOR HOUSES

The available descriptions of overseers’ residences are wvery Lncomplete.
Three overseer’'s oOor manager’ s houses were identifled during the survey that
may have been built before the Civil War. These have Iin common two-story
frame construction, and substantial alterations. Overseers’ houses, although
well-built, were not built for maximum comfort or style, and have been
enlarged or altered over time to provide greater comfort,

Slave cabins were alsc part of the plantation layout. The standard
configuration was a glave "street,” often extending along the land entry to
the principal house, shelitered by the cak allée. At some plantations, such as
Jehogsee Island, cabinsg were laid out along several streets:; an early
description of Rockland Plantation, which notes that the slave cabins were
"not in a row,® seems to indicate that this was unusual. In Charleston
County, =zlave rows remain at Boone Hall and MoLeod plantations. Otherwise,
slave cabins are rare survivors, and during the project were only identified
on Edigto Island. Unlike the morse substantial houses o0f white oversesrs,
slave cabins that remain have not commonly been altered for later generations;
most are unused today. Except at Boone Hall, where the plantation brickyard
provided for brick slave c¢cabing, slaves lived in wood frame one-gtory
structures, sach with a gingle gable end exterior chimney, a 4door at one long
side, probably facing the slave street, and weatherboard siding. Many had no
porch; on Ediste Island a typical variation seems to have been the extension
of the front roofline to provide a simple shed porch. Slave cabln windows
were unglazed; some retain simple wood shutters. Blthough the cabins were
built as one-story dwellings, the space under the eaves was often used as
ioft~level slseping quariters.

HMost other plantation outbulldings have Deen lost over time. The ornate
dependencies constructed at Bleak Hall in sbout 1840 are the only antebellum
Gothic structures known to have survived in the survey ares. The coiton gin

remaing at William Seabrook s Plantation, converted intoc guest guarters above
an automobile garage.

Trees and other plantings were important element to the layout of plantations.
Oaks were often in avenues of two rows, along a straight main entry drive.
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Hotable avenuss remain at such sites as Oakland, MeoLeod, Windsoer, Tibwin,
Amhlay Hall, #riok Houge, and Sslhkirk. At Encamprment and Oak Lawn, later
houses were built at the hesd of existing avenues, Avenues were planted into
the twentieth century, as at Yellow House and the Williawm Seabrook House, and
are stil being planted today.

Canals and ricefields survive throughout the survey area. Morrison's Canal,
behingd the original location of Laurel Hill Plantation, was begun to connect
land in Wambaw Swamp to tidal currents. Ricefields are coften difficult to
gee, becavse of their inaccessibility and the flat landscape of the
Lowcountry. A portion of the fields at Hampion Plantation can be geen from
Hampton Plantation State Park. The South Bdisto River bluff affords a good
view of the fields near Willtown, and paths &long former dikes are accessible
at the Grove Plantation. Remnants of cotton fleld drainage systems have been
found at Yellow House and Selkirk plantations on Wadmalaw Island.

The cemetery 18 the principal historic site remaining for some plantations.
There are alwo cemeteries associated with extant plantation houses. Home
plantation or family cemeteries have been burial grounds for both black and
white communities, as were some churchyards. These cemeteries and burial
grounds reflect the interrelatedness of the black and white populations of the
plantations.

Iv. SMALLER RESIDENCES AND SUMMER HOUSES, 1800-1860

In the forested areas of St. Pauls, St. aAndrews, Christ Church, and §t. James,
santes, parishes, farmers managed livestock and small cropfields while they
produced timber and naval stores; there were also a few independent flshermen
and oystermen. NoO antebgllam houses of yeoman farmers or small produrers have
been identified in the survey area. It is assumed that they were replaced
over time by the familissg who prospered, or lost to nsglect, firse or
demolition when abandoned.

Small farmers’ houses may have been similar to the simplest planters’
regidences. Typically cottages of one or one-and-one-half stories, on a
raised foundsation, these had a single-story porch across the facade; two
ridgeline or rear chimneys in the lateral gable roof; and sometimes dormers.
As with the grander houses, there was a symmetrical facade with central door
and windows at outer bays. This is the plan of Lauvrel Hill {lost to Hurricane
Huge, 1%989) and also of Edisto s 0Old House, which, although given a large
portico at the central sectlon of the facade in the sarly nineteenth century,
retains its simple story~and-a~half plan with lateral roocfline and dormers.

The only extant towns in the survey area that were fully established before
the Civil War were the summer villages of Rockville and adams Run. Rockville,
at the gouthern end of Wadmalaw Island, was laid out during the second guarter
of the nineteenth century. The houses were geparated from Bohicket Creek by a
reoad along the waterfront. The town’'s plan was a fairly regular grid, with
houses facing southeast toward the water. The earliest summer village houses
probably resembled the 1797 description of a well-to-do Charlestonian’s
cottage at Suilivan's Island: an unpretentious ons-story frame struciure on a
gseven foot basement, with a plazze alorg tws sides, “weatherboardsd and
ghingiled, in a plain, substantial workmsnlike mannsr.” The Micah Jenkins
House, sald to be the oldest house at Rockville, although it has been sltered,
retains its historic core, a simple one-story frame cottage on a high tabby
foundation. The majority of the houses in Rockville reflect a trend toward
grander dwellings and more sophisticated taste, but the general elements
remained unchanged: high foundation of brick or tabby, frame construction,
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wide froat elevation with one or two-gtory porch, and & lateral gable roof.
Faw of these houses have dormers, because swmer occupancy precluded the use
of attic rooms, and few have the substantial chimneys typical of plantation
houses.

Adams Run was established not on water, but on a ridge of land convenlsnt to
the rice planteticns of the South Edisto River. Its site was selected by
William Wilkinson, whe subdivided this section of his plantation holdings for
rental teo his fellow planters. His own house, bullit about 1830, is the
earliest remalning in the village. Known as the Wilkinson-Boineau House, it
ig a full two-gtory house on a raised brick basement with 2 one-story porch
agross the south facade. The other houses in Adams Run that have not been
subgtantially altered date from the late 1%th to early 20th century,

A painting from memory of Bdingsville before the 1893 hurvicane shows two-
story housesn, facing the water, with gable roofs, four-bay side elevations,
interior end chimneys, and one-story porches. It iz likely that the houses
ware in fact more like Balley's Store (moved from Edingsville to the interior
of Edisto Island after the Civil War). One room deep, this house was
obviously intended to maximize sea breszes.

Y. RESIDENTIAL PATTERHNS, 1865-1900
Between the Civil War and 1900, several trends are apparent in residential

patterns. First, large numbers of black residents, no longer slaves, were
permitted to own and farm property, operate commercial enterprises, establish

churches, and build houses. They seittled in isclated areas, but more
frequantly in comnunities or “"freedmen's villages" where contiguocus small
parcels of land were sold to individuals or groups. These communities

include the area near Awendaw known as Buck HBall; Freedmen’s Village and
Berwick on EBEdisto Island; Raty #Hill on Wadmalaw Island; &dams Runj South
Santee; and perhaps most notably Lincolnville. At Linconville today, most of
the early houses have been replaced over time, but the lavout of the streets
retains integrity to the initial settlement.

Second, the lose of glave labor led many whites to sgettlie in areas where they
vould engage in commercial enterprises other than agriculturs, The Village
of MeClellanville developed as & fishing and commercial center. Other
communities, such as Ravenel, Adams Run and, most significantly, Yonges
Island, developed arocund important transportation routes and intersections.

Finally, the white small farmers and laborers bulilt houses in scattered rural
areas ngar farms or other places of employment, several of which survive
today. Some of the pre-Civil War elites re-established themselves as large-
scale single crep planters, and they built or rebullt grand residences as
wall as farm and commercial ocutbuildings.

vI. FARM AND VILLAGE HOUSES

The prevailing vernacular forms, espevially the central-hsll farmhouss,
pradominated before 150G, although the influence of such styles as Creek
Revival, Folk Victorian, Quesn Anne and Italianate gan also bhe sesn Lo
geveral of the residences. The central hall plan wss uszed throughout rurval
Charleston County, usually with fulli-facade porches, and transca and
sidelights at the principal entry.

Improving economics and the availability of Icocally-sawn and milled trim
resulted in the ornamentation added at seversl houses, including an
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interesting example at Lincolnvilie, with its spindiework porch detailing.
The HoClellan House at Silver Hill and the Wilsop~Barkley Houge on Wadmalaw
Igland are good exanples of the persistence of Iocal vernacular style
combined with decorative trim work. Queen Anne design elements are seen at
the BSkidmore House on Edisto Island, and the Skipper House at McClallanville.
& good example of Folk Victorian architecture was noted at Adams Run.

Many central-hall plan houses were bullt with four principal rooms, and “"shed
rooms" at the rear. The kitchen and pating roosm were located in these simple
shed rooms, connected by a breezeway, most of which today have been enclosed
within the house. Several houses from this period, and as late aa 1913
{ Smoak-Westervelt House), have fireplaces set at angles in the principal
rooms, a trestment that had been rare since Oskland Plantation House was
builit in 1740,

Detached kitchen houses were frequently gable roof, one~by-two bay
structures, attached to the rear of substantial farms or village houses;
examples were noted at Rockville and Adams Run. The modest Burbage House at
Warren Crossrcoads has a smaller dwelling or kitchen house attached at the
redar. Common in other rural areas of South Carclina, where the gmaller house
wag often an earlier dwelling converted for kitchen use when a more
substantial house could be built, this house is & unigue example of the type
in the survey area.

VII., FREEDMEN'S HOUSES, 1B65-~1900; 1900-1%45

The typical freedmen’s house in Charleston County is & simple cottage of wood
frame constyuction on low brick or wood plers, with a lateral gable roof that
is often punctuated by one or two gable dormers, less freguently by side
windows at the upper level, and small brick chimney or filne. The entry is
wsually centered at the facade, with single windows at the outer bays. )
common alteration i3 the addition of a rear gable wing, often with a shed or
hipped roof side porch.

Hore elaborately detailed houses were built on Edisto Island’s Berwick tract,
by Henry Hutchinson, Glascow Whaley, and Cooper Whaley; and by John Thorn
near Freedmen’s Village. The Hutchinson and Thorn houses have dormers and
gingerbread trim; the Whaley houses have peaked gable proiections st facade
and side elevations.

Although few of the typical freedmen’s cottages were documented with
certainty as having been built before 1900, the style wasg pereistent and
examples of the type were built as late as 1945. In 1%41 writers for the
Warks Progress bddminlstration noticed these small houses, their ioft levels
punctuated with "typical Lowcountry dormers". Representative examples of the
type are the Grimball House on Wadmalaw Island; the Fraser House, ca. 1915;
and houses on Seewee Road and Chandler Road. The Harrell-Mosely Houss, bullt
in 1938, in the familar side-gable, two dormer layout, was built with a reay
L-wing, also with dormers. Other simple houses, such as those found at
Seaside Plantation on James Island, and Sunny Polnt on Wadmalaw Island, have
gable end windows providing upstairs living space, but no dormers.

Many twentleth century freedmen’s houses have the same style and plan as had

been used since the 1860s. As a later generation of working class blacks
began to build houses for themselves, the influence of malnstrean Amsrican
architectural taste also became apparent. Such properties as the Lawrence

Houge at Buck Hall, and a house on Maues Hill Read, both built about 1925,
have a low hipped roof and hipped dormers.
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aAn interesting tvend became apparent near MeClellaneills at about the same
time. In the community adiacent te the Village of MoClellanville are houses
dating from the 19%20s to the 1350z, all with dormers in one of two standard
styles: either a small hipped dormer, or an oversized shed dormer. Many of
these dormers arve labter additions to earlier houses. MoClellanwville was the
site of a number of oyster and vegetablie canneries, sawmills, and turpentine
stills. With wage labor available in the area, residents remained in their
houses, remodeling them from time to time. The loss of historic integrity
reflects ¢ontinuing economic vitality.

VIII. FPARM HOUSES, 1200-1918%

Some interesting and slightly grander residences from the early twentieth
ventury remain in St. Pauls Payish, an ares where truck farming reached its
height of prosperity between about 1895 and 1945. Central hall farmhouses
remalned popular; notable examples were bullt for the Carr and Smoak families.,
The Allston House, moved and rebuilt about 1880, retains at its ground floor
the earlier hall-and-parlor configuration. But beginning with the Towles-
Golden House {about 1901} and lasting through about 1%20, the Prairie
influence in American architecture is apparent in several large foursquars
houses near Meggett. These frame houses feature hipped roofs, several with
slightly bellcast or flared eaves; hipped dormers; central doorways with
transom and sidelights; and occasionally smaller hipped wings at sides and
rear. There are sgeveral examples at McoClellanville as well, notably the
Graham House. Simpler foursguare houses, without dormers, were bullt near
Holliywood and at Adams Run.

Rare examples of Italian Renaissance-influenced houses are the Gonzales House
at Oak Lawn, near Adams Run, and the Towles~Williams House near Meggett.
Stuceoed, with clay tile hipped roof, flat brackets, and {(at the Gonzaies
Housge} hipped dormers, these represent a style that is unusual in Charlieston
County.

Alsoc somewhat unusual in rural Charleston County is the Colonial Revival style
that was popular in much of America into the 1950s. This style is seen at the
Cox-Tazewell House and Harmony Hall, both built about 1910 near Meggett: twow
story frame structures with side-gable roof and, at Tazewall, a full-height
pedimented gakle portico. The smomewhat later (18223 Morrison House at
MoClellanville has a hipped roof and full, two-tiered porch.

IX. RESIDERCES OF THE MODERN ERA, 1918~1941

By about 191% the Bungalow-Craftsman influence was becoming as important in
Charlegton County as it was throughout the nation., Smaller houses especially’
show its influence in their low-pitched front gable, or less commonly hipped,
roofs; porches, freguently engaged with the front roofline, supperted by brick
piers; and low dormers. Carved or shaped rafter ends, brackets, and mulii-
light windows were less often used than in the pure Craftsman bungalows built
in many South Carclina towns; in Charleston County the influencs i3 more
apparent in plan and in a restrained use of characterigtic elements. Hoat
common  are tapered porch plers on brick supports, ssen alse at wvernacular
central~hall farmhouses such ag the Cox Houss; thres-over-one windows; and
hipped dormers. Two-over-two windows were common, and continued to be used in
Charieston County as late as 1942. Several houses have porte-cocheres engaged
with the porch roofline. Houses are typically clad in weatherboard or shiplap
siding; quite a few have asbestos shingle siding, which is sometimes original.
The uee of wood shingles was uncommon, bul can be seen at the Walker House in
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Rpavensl and the Tavlor Houss in McClellanville. Two-story houses showing
Craftaman influence are also uncommon: the Thames House at South Santse 1s a
rare example. This sivle alse had an impact on later “"fresdmen’'s cottages,”
48 noted above. A number of residences near MeClellanville were altered with
the addition of hipped dormers during this period.

B. CHURCHES AND CEMETERIES
I. CHURCHES, 1700~180CG

Three early Anglican Parish churches survive in Charleston County, They can
e described typlcally as one story, rectangular, brick buildings with round-
headed windows, and a hipped or jerkinhead roof without a tower. In plan the
thancel 1s at the esast with a cross—aisle in the middle, Pews were placed to
face the center of the church. St. Andrews Parish Church, built in 1706,
Christ Church, built about 1726, and 8t. James, Santee, Parish Church, bulilts
about 1768, all feature this standard plan. 8t. James, Santee, has a portico
but the others do not. The rectangular shape of 5t. Andrews was altered in
1723 by the addition of transept wings, giving it a cruciform layout under a
srosa-gable roof. Christ Church, gutted during the Revolutionary War and
again during the Civil War, has been essentially rebuilt twice. The hipped
roof and cupocla are ningteenth century additions. Roofing materials of these
early churches have been replaced over tinme.

Ii. CHURCHES, 1800-1%00

There is in the survey area one good example of the Gresk Revival templs form.
Although alterad, the Presbyterian Church at Rockville (ca. 1850} uses the
vocabulary of the Greek Revival style to create a3 monumental appearance fox
what is actually a small rural chapel.

In the early nineteenth century, wooden "basiliva" style churches were built
throughout Charleston County. These are rectangular and symmetrical in plan,
with entry along the main axis, and pews in the nave facing the altar at the
far end. In larger examples vestibules and stairs for access to a rear or
side gallery. There isg almost always a steeple and some form of portico or
entry porch. As with residences of the period, the addition of Federal, Greek
Revival or Gothic Revival stylistic features at portico, windows, door panels,
and decorative trim do not introduce significantly different types of plans.

Edigto Presbyterian Church {ca. 1830) is an elaborate example of the essential
basilica plan, with the addition of side doors and a gallery. Its
trangitional styvle combines a monumental Grssk Revival entry portiso with
classical stylistic details: the Palladian chancel window and Heoclassical
arched windows and tower details, The flemish parapet abutiting the steeple at
the gable end recalls those used on well-known urban churches in Charleston.
The Edisto Isiand Baptist Church {ca. 1818) combines Heoclassical and Greek
Revival elements with the basilica form. 'The twentieth century Zion Reformed
Episcopal Church, also on BEdisto, was bulilt on the site of an earlier church.
Pergistent local tradition holds that 2ion was originally built as  an
Episcopal Chapel at Edingsville Beach, and moved to this site about 1870. The
church as rebuilt is certainly in a style appropriate to a summer chapel of
the sarly aineteenth cantury.

Ravensl Methodigt Church {ca. 1885y, Wesley Methodist Church {(ca. 1887) at
Lincoinville, Saint Andrew’s Church at Red Top, and Wesley Methodist Chuch
{ca. 1895}, near Hollywood are good examples of the nineteenth century rural
church form. With their simple rectangular form, plain weatherboard siding,
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centered entry, fullewidibh portice, and steeple, thesse are pure examples of
the bapsilics form.

At HeClellanville ares two inteéresting examples of the combination of Gothic
Revival decorative elemesnts wirh the rural basilics form. Barhel AME Curch
{1872} combines German coross lancet dormers in the steeple, Queen Anne~
influenced fish-scale zhingles and transom designs, and Gothic windows. Saint
James, Santes, Chapel, with its carvsd vergebosrds, lancet windows, and garved
porch brachets, was built in 1830 in the vocabulary of the earlier Gothio
Revival.

ITI. CHURCHES, 1900-19%45

Built in 1921, Calvary Baptist Church at Meggett is tfypical of the asymeetric
massing found in late nineteenth and twentieth century church structures
throughout the nation. It uses common red bhrick with stylized Gothic elements
of cast stone at the tower, shapsd parapet, and window and doorway openings.

Through the eighteenth, ninsteenth and twentisth centuries, churches were
built in Charleston County that make architectural reference to the vernacular
HNew England meeting house. The gymmetrical box~like form deraives its
sharactery from a simple wood weatherboard exterior and absence of
architectural decoration {no steeple, tower, portico, porch, or stylized

ornamentation). Examples in rural Charleston County include Johns Island
Presbhyterian Church and ¥t. Hebron Presbyterian Church, Stone Baphist Church
{ca. 1858%), and 0ld Sauldam Baptist Church ({ca. 1B%0). All retain a

similarity to the simple and functional meeting house form.
V. CEMETERIES

Rural churches almest all have churchyard cemeteries. 7The cemetery is usually
to the rear of the building, and often extends to one or both sides. The
aarliest seem to be laid out in a random manner, but there is a congistency to
orientation: stones neéarly always face east, regardless of thelr location with
respect to the church. Individual family plots are frequently enclosed with
brick or iron fences. Over time, the trees shading early churchyards,
typically magnoelia or live oak and sometimes cedar, have attained encrmous
size. Later historic landscaping elements include azalea and camellia bushes,
also grown to massive scale.

Grave markers and tombstones of the wealthy elite are themselves important
historic objects. The earliest were of wood; none were found in the survey
area, except some later wood markers at Stono Church. Slate markers were used
during the sighteenth century, and were supplanted by marble in the early
nineteenth century. There were & number of marble rcarvers working in
Charjeston, whose signatures can be read on these early stones; notable
examples of fanerary art remain throughout Charleston County.

The esarly churches of poor congregations were often small or cheaply buils.
They have routinely been replaced over time, lsaving the cemetery as the site
feature with historic integrity. {Many churches change the name of thely
building each time it ig replaced or enlarged, i.e., Greater New Bethlehem.)
The earliest markars, evan at antebesllum churches, usually date from about
15i8. After this date, mass-produced granite markers, which needed only the
name and date carved, brought affordable funersry art for the first time.
Some of the parcels are guite small, and not all the historically black
churches have churchyard cemeteries, Thosae that do have several common
characteristicos: the stones face eagt, usually in rows, but are not bounded
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inte family plota. The cemeteries are often untended and overgrown. Stones
are fredquently set almost ouvitside the churchvard, at the sdge of surrounding
woods. Church cewmsteries that are not adiacent to fLhe bullding, and community
or familvy cemeteriss, conform to this description in general. They awve very
often at the edge of marsh or water;y; it is sald that a desire for oneg’s
zacestors to rest in peace beside cool water 13 the reason for the overgrown
aspect of many such sites.

The late ninsteenth century movement toward suburban or "garden” cemeteries
raesuited in such landscaped spaces as Magnelia Cemetery, originally bullt
outgide the <City of Charleston. in the survey area of rural Charleston
County, only one example of the type was noted, the New Wappetaw Presbyterian
Cemetery at the bank of Jeremy's Creek, the cemetery was laid ocut across from
the Village of McClellanville,

DATA GAPS
1. Fieldwork

Enown historic sites on the Federally-owned lands that make up the Francis
Marion Ratlonal Forest and Cape HRomain National Wildlife Refuge include the
hwendaw CCC Equipment Barn; Buck Hall Plantation House and Axson-Vanderhorst
Cametery; Lucas-Doar Cemetery at Walnut Grove Plantation; and Cape Ropain
Lighthouses were not surveyed,

In the state-owned Santee Coastal Heserve and Cape Romain Hational Wildlife
Refuge are the ruins of several rice mills, and remnants of brick towers built
after the hurricane of 1822. They were intended to provide shelter f{rom
floods that would accompany future storms. These mills and towsrs should be
vigited, by boat, by the S8HPO National Register staff and a knowledgeable
guide.

Ladson Elementary School, on Ladson Read outside the survey area, is an
impressive example of a 19203 consclidated school, still in use. It should be
added to the Statewide Sarvey.

In 8t. Andrews Parish, Coburg Dairy and the USDA/Clemson complex are both
outside the survey boundaries, and arve at present within the incorporated City
of Charleston. A discussion of each is included in the narrative history, but
they should also be added to the Statewide Survey.

We did not visit Jehossee Island during the field survey. An archaeclogical
assessrent of the island was previously made for SBCIAA and we provided a copy
of that report to SHPO. There appears to be one building on the island with

integrity, and several chimney falls and clsterns.

The site of the first 8t. Paul’'s Parish Church, &t the Stono River on what 1s
today Dixie Plantation, wag not accogssible. We did not visit the rulns at
Peachtree Plantation or El Dorade Plantation on the South Santee River. ALl
theseé sites are well-known, but additional public information regarding them
should be kept o a minimum. They should be assessed for Charleston County
and SHPO by & gualified asrchasologist,

The staff at Drayton Hall Plantation ig engaged in ongoing research amd
interpretation at the property. Recent work has focussed on the tenant
houses, slave cabins, and offices that existed on ths property intc the twen-
tieth century, as well as on the eighteenth century srangerie. Exploration of
these archaeologlcal rescurces will add to the understanding of Drayton Hall
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BFlantabion as & working landscaps. We nad hoped, but were pot able, to
revigit Drayton Hall and these archaecloglcal sites.

In 1859 & church was built "on the Wiltown Road between the Club House
fapproximate lowation of Stono Baptist Church] and Slann’s® was dedicated as a
branch of Stono BRaptist Church. The location of this church was not
determined; it seems likely that it weg at or near “Baptist HiILL," and may be
associated with Annivesta Baptist Church.

Some sites were ldentified during the activities of +the Awendaw Land lse
Committee that were not located during the project. Thege include the
Rutledge tomb at Phillps; Vanderhorst Cemetery in Whitehall Subdivision; and
community cemeteries on Laurel Hill Plantation.

Small cemeterles on Bdisto Island thet were nobt located include a cemetery on
Mary Seabrook Road; one on Bleak Hall Plantation; and one on Rabblt Point
Flantation. Twe  cemeteries in the Lincolnville area, one inside the
manicipality and one on Dunmyer Hill Road, were not located. Citizens have
pointed out many small cemeteries throughout the survey area that are marked
on neither topographic nor Tax Maps, These were assigned site numbers,
mapped, and photographed whensver possible. Site cards are provided for each
guch known site that was not visited or photographed, so that when they become
accessible the information may be filled in.

1z. Research

Genezlogiste have always used the information on grave markers o determine
relationships and ancestry; today increasing attention is being pald to grave
markers as examples of craftsmanship., Little information is available about
prolific nineteenth century stonecarvers in  Charieston  County. From
McClelianville to Edisto Island, stones by W. T. White, John White, Howe and
White, D, Walker, C. Gannon, and others, were noted. Carver information was
included on site cards whenever possible. This interesting Charleston
industry is worthy of more research.

Charleston County shows a diversity of water supplies, from fiowing wells,
shallow wells, handpumps and windmills. Cisterns are ubiguitous on Sullivans
Island, commeon on Edisto Island and along the Scuth Edisto River, and rare in
other places. There are a number of windmills on Wadmalaw Island; none were
noted elsewhere in the county. Several flowing wells and underground springs
ware identified in the Ravenel area. In her interpretive report,
archasologist Linda Stine remarks on the lack of information about water
supplies and early settlement decisions; research into regional variations and
remniants of water supply systems might shed more light on that sublject, and on
later settlement and transportation decislions as well.
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RECOMMENDRATIONS

The Data Gaps outlined above are suggestions for further preservation and
ressarch projects.  Additional recommendations follow.

I. Local Government Activities

Information about the survey should be provided to cwners of sites determined
a#ligiblie for Nationszl Register listing or significant by the SHPC and sponsor
agency review. County planning maps should be updated to include all the
cemeterieg identified during the project (pnot all of which are considered
himtorically significant}. The USDA Forest Bervice should be provided
information about out-parcels in the Francis Marion National Forest and sites
adjacent to the forest, in case they are considered for federal acguisition in
the future,

Charleston  dounty should encourage review of the Survey Products by

regearchers, students, interested residents, and others. Publications and
archival resources generally provide indexed information about sites and
families throughout the Lowcountry. Often what is not included is the

material the Statewide Survey provides: exact location of the historic site, a
photograph and description of present condition. The narrative history, site
cards and photographs will therefore be of value to researchers.

Efforts to promote public use of survey data should take security and respect
for privacy into consideration. The site cards that indlcate by "R" in the
control number the owner's expressed wish for confidentiality should perbaps
e housed separately.

We recommend inviting a limited amount of correction or additions by the users

of the survey files. Site-specific information written on the cards (in
pencil, dated, and with source attribution}), may guide future researchers and
plansers in resclving questions about historic properties. The open-file

policy alss has a2 potential advantage in keeping the survey up to date,

Photographic slides are provided to Charleston County and the SHPO. The
County should use slides as well as site cards in making planning and zoning
decisions. Slides are also of potential value to other local governments and
pregervation organizations. The County should determine how best to make
slidesgs available to these other users. {Some guality is always lost when
slides are reproduced photographically.) It may be worthwhile as a separate
project to photograph selected properties for slide programs, and make several
sets available to other organizational users. Professional-quality
photography would not be reguired; this task could potentially be andertaken
by an intern.

Mapping has been 4difficult with this project, because of the size of
Charleston County and the number of Topo Maps involved. The municipalities of
MeClellanville, Awendaw, Heggett, Ravenel and Hollywood, or the community of
Adams Run, do not have planning maps on which to locate survey sites. The
County s Flanning Depaytment preovided an excellent compiled Tax Parcel Hap of
Edisto Island for this project. We recommed that such & map be prepared for
wadmalaw Island, and for each incorporated fown.

The local government in gach incorporated area should be given photoccpies of
the survey site cards and photos within itg jurisdiction, along with gurvey
Topo maps for that general area and a2 copy of the Final Survey Report. Site
cards and general information should also be provided for areas that come
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arder considerstion during future anpexation activities by any of ths
munipalities in Charleston County, so that arsas of conflict betwsen county
and municlpal zoning may be resclved. The zuceemss of any proposed Charleston
County preservation commission iIn developing design guidelines, reviewing
alterations to  historic properties, angd  making decisions about new
congtruction, will depend on a successful working relationship between the
County, the various municipalities, and the citizens of smach.

It is easily sald, and obviocusly true, that zoning and presarvation
ordinances should be responsive to the needs of residents and to preservation

goals. As preservationists or government officials, we must recognize how
much philosophical disagreement and economic conflict is concealed within the
phrase “protvect historic resources.”™ Threats to rescurces come from a lack

of awarsness and ingensitivity to architecture and setting. They alsoe result
from changing patterns of residential and land use, and simple econcmios.
Pregervation planning for Charleston County’s rural areas thus reguires &
flexible approach. The goal wmust be to allow for the reuse of the historic
landscape in wayvs that are compatible with today’s aesthetics as well as the
record contained in individuaal historic resources.

The best preservation policy is appropriate use. Dwellings should be lived
in, stores kept as businesges, and cropfields plowed. When historic
properties lose their integrity, the reason can generally be traced to thelir
ownars’ inability to define a sustainable and compatible use. One
stewardship solution, appropriate foy only a very few properties, is public
vwnership and heritage tourism. Snee Farm, McLeod Plantation, Hampton
Plantaticn, and Drayton Hall are all being used in this wavy. At Live Oak
Blantation, near the Tea Farm County Park, is the grave of Colonel William
washington, as well as rice filelds, dikes and trunks, and an interesting
nineteenth century house. If Live 0Oak could be added to the Tea Farm
property, its rich heritage as a ferry site, rice plantation, and residence
could expand the park s potential as a center for heritage education.

Reoreational use and site interpretation are closely tied to the issue of
stewardsghip of historic properties. Besides regulating the activities of
private property owners, government at every level must manage the property it
owng. With governmental projects, questions often arise about the added
expense of pregervation, and which entity should administer what kinds of
oversight. The line item cost for preservation reguirements is not compared
in a comprehensible fashion with the altsrnatives, but may be presented as an
"extra” oost to be borne by the taxpayer. Cnly when the taxpayers begin
clearly to favor preservation will government agencies beglin routinely to
congider demolition or iansensitive alterations to public properties as more
axpensive than good preservation.

II. Public Awareness

Charleston County is a large territory geoqraphically, with  meveral
communiities, islands and parishes that have a strong sense of themselves as
distinet areas. We recommend that the Survey Report along with appropriate
cards and maps should be made avallable to local historical socisties for
their own programs. These are the groups who should work with the SHPD snd
tourism organizations to make survey information more readily scocsssible to
their own communities and wisitors. This can be carried out in several ways.
Publications, displavs, and regional tours are among the most manageable, and
can benefit from the photographs, summary history, and informal maps included
with the survey. These preojects should provide general information that
pertains to the entire county, illustrated by local properties.
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Yaluable Information ig contalned within studies done In conjunctian with
archasological projects, The reports that are generated by compllancs
prodjects are usually filed with the gproperty owner, and with the relevant
peermitting agency. Some reports are avallable through the firms themselves;
gsome are filed with SCIAA; some with BEPO:; and gome are only on file with
other state and federal agencies. This 18 2 tremendous loss to interested
local historians, researchers, and preservation organizations. We rascommend
that as part of leocal permitting, an additional copy of these reports should
e reguired by the local goveroment for its own files or for a research
repogitory such as the South Carolina Historical Society. The archaeologist
in charge should have the option of providing an historical doocument that
deletes descriptions and locations of archasclogical sites,

ITI. General Preservation Issues

Coptinuing economic vitality has included changing the basis of the sconomy in
some areas of Charleston County, especially farmlands in waterfront areas.
Invreased population 1n rural areas tends to result in widened roads, new
commercial zones, and ostentatious architecture, and the principal threat to
historic resources is usually defined as “"development.” More than single
buildings, however, the resource that is lost is recognized as being the rural
landscape itsgelf, the narvow tres-lined roads, working cropfields, small
homesteads with functional outbuildings, and the occcasional grand structure.

A loss of visual integrity in the rural landscape results from the cumulative
effect of maicr infrastructure projecis - water, electricity and road projects
made more intrusive by flood elevation, minimum road width, wind resistance,
and sign visibility requirements -« as much as it does from subdivisions and
new construction. Much of the negative impact may not be necessgary, and each
stage of infrastructure construction should be guestioned.

Taken to an extreme, protecting historic sites from development can result in
moving a simple building ocut of the path of a highway, and out of context.
There are ne easy solutions to the loss of isoclated mansions too large to keep
up, or farm cottages too small to live in. However, these bullidings should
have more potential uses, not less, as the population increases. An
increasing population base, combined with a more general appreciation of
historic structures, could result in privately-fundsd pressrvation, site by
site.

A separate c¢hallenge 1is to assist owners who find Lt  inconvenient or
financially infeasible to maintain historic¢ properties in a state of good
repalir. There is little money available in the form of grants, technical
agsigtance, or otherwliege, to help with the expenses of good preservation. If
it is true that Americans find a way to buy the things they really want, as.
preservationists we can 4o most to solve the problems of deferred maintenance
and incompatible alterations through education, positive advocacy, and mutual
efforts with owners cf historic resources o identify ways to make
economically sensible and appropriate use of the propertlies.



IV. Brogram Recommandatlions

The BEdisto Island Historlc Pressrvation Seciety has bagun & program  fo
identify, olean and protect the early cemsteries on the island, particularly
those with notable gravestone craftsmanship or whéere important people are
buried. Survey data will be nelipful to this project. We recommend that the
group be provided copiss of site cards for all the cemeteriss and burial sites
on Edisto Ialand, with the reguest that they add ionformation to the cards awm

their stabilization project makes it available. The information should be
provided f£o  the County Planning oOffice, SHPG, and other historical
agrganizations. Thisa kind of project demonstrates private-sector
ragponsibility, aad is the kind that local groups can 4o best: it im

manageable in scope, flexible according to finapncial and human resources,
likely to provide new information, amd directed toward greater public
awareness and appreciation for historic mites.

The area adiacent to MeClellanville holds the potential for a very interesting
laocal history project. This is a neighborhood historically settled by blacks,
where local men, many with other jebs in the community, have built and
improved houses since before 1900, Most of the houses have been radically
altered over time; those that have not are typilcally vacant and now
deteriorating. Alterations and original constructien include twe styles of
dormer: the hipped, or "umbrella” dormer, and the shed, or "bungalow” or “flat
top® dormer. The shed dormer extends across three to five bays of the facade;
the hipped dormer, at facade and spide elevations, generally has one or two
windows. These types are repeated over and over; no examples of small shed
dormers, oversized hipped dormers, or gable dormers, all wvery typical
elsavhere, were noted. A community-based study of these houses, thelr owners,
and the carpenters who worked on them would shed light on decisions about
building styles that were made well into the mid-twentieth century.

The Reconnaissance Survey for the developed St. Andrews area is the basis for
an historic sites survey, which should be carried cut. The subdivisions that
were developed after 1925 in Charleston County began & process that is still
underway. & valuable component would be to use the historic information in &
congideration of the wariations in land planning over time.
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landscape from a perscnal perspective. While our understanding of higtory can
never be complete, and there are as many interpretations as there are
interpreters, our own interpretation of the sites in the inventory rests in
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PUBLIC MEETINGE

Hine public meetinge were held during the Charleston County Survey. At the
Ediste Island and Xiawah-Beabrook islands meetings there was a Joint
presentation by Preservation Consultants and SCIAA.

Wadmalaw Island, May 7, 1981 at Wadmalaw Community Center

Edisto Island, May 16, 1981, at Edisto Island Community Center

Highway 61 Aresa, May 30, 1891, at HMiddleton High School

Eiawah~Seabrook, June 4, 1991, at Kiawah Town Hall

MoClellanville, Ocitcber 186, 1991, at New Wappetaw Preasbyterian Church
Adams Run, November 21, 1991 at Adams Run Civic Center {Adams RBun School)
8t. James, Santee, March 3, 1992 at 8t. James-Bantee Flementary School
Ravenel, M¥arch 10, 1992 at Ravenel Town Hall (Ravenel Depot)

Meggett, April 20, 1992 at Meggett Town Hall {(Meggett Post Qffice)

Attendance varied, bupt there were usually between twenty-five and thirty
interested citirzens and property owners. Mestings were opened and woderated
by Community Leaders. After the consultant’s presentation, representatives
from the State Historlc Preservation Office, Charleston County Planning
Department, and Sponsor Organizations answered questions from the floor.
hfter the official wmeetings cleosed, the consultants and members of the
aundience had the opportunty to discuss a variety of matters informally.



APPENDIX C: SAMBLE FORMS

Letter f£rom Charleston County Planning Dirvector William W. Miller

South Carcolina Statewids Survey Site Form

tatewide Survey Site Form, Continuation and Photographs

The two-part Suyvey Site Form provides for a consistent method of
describing and evaluating historic properties throughouth South
Carolina. It is designed for computer entry of essential
information, but alsc allows for the narrative information that is
required for a full assessment of a historic resource.

The gecond page has space for continuwatiorn of narrative data,
gketch maps or site plans, and a black-and-white photograph of
each property,
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County of Charleston o

- - - . WRLLIAM W BILLER, DIEECTOR
Charlestan, South Caraling

PHONE B0 JE3472%
HREPLY REFER TO:

FLANNING DEPARTMENT
SOUNTY OFFICE BULDING
& SOURT HOUSE SOUARE
CHATLESTOM, S0 2840402508

Lear Charleston County Resident:

Charleston County 1is conducting an inventory of historic
buildings and siteg throughout the county. Ce-sponsored by the
Preservation Society of Charleston, the Historic Charleston
Foundation, and the Scuth Carolina Department of Archives and
History, this preject is intended to document structures, sites
and landscape features that were constructed before 1%41.
Preservation Congsultants of Charleston is our contractor for
the inventory.

Preservation Consultants will be carrying out field work for
the project through the summer of 1992. They will identify and
document sites of historical value, and photograph specific
properties. Part of the Statewide Survey of Historic Places,
permanent files will be housed at the County Office Building
and the $.C. Department of Archives and History in Columbia.
The information will be used to educate planners, property
owners, residents and the general public about the rich
heritage of Charleston County and the importance of our
historic sites.

The Charleston County Planning Department hopes that local
residents will be able to supply historical information about
communities, farms, buildings and other historic sites. If you
have guestions about the project, please contact Steve Dykes or
Joe Heard of the Planning Department at 723-6739 or Sarah Fick
at 723-1746 {Preservation Consultants).

We appreciate vour help and interest.
Sincerely,
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William W. Miller
Director of Planning
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South Carolina Statewide Survey Site Form

State EF e ¥

wtion Olice

P2 Box 11669 Colvanbia » SCo 20811+ (B0Y] 7346609

DDENTIFICATION

1. Coptrol Wamber L/ / . o 2. NR Microfiche index ¥
county  cenmms designaied place g #

3 Hstoric naons(s)

€. Covaroon parne:

&.

Citys Vicinity of: Counyy: Charieston THS:

€. Ownership:  private {1} city (2) county (3) state (4) federal (5) 5. Currentuse(s):  single dwelling (1) multi dwelling (2)
7. Category: building (1) site (2) struceure (3) object (4) commercial {3} other ()
8, Historie use(s): dngle dwelling (1) muld dwelling (2) commercial 3 19.Potental: NR{1} NR historic district {2) archasological (3

other (0}
i1 Suatus/date:

Hates] bnclividually in National Register __/__ 7/
. Hsted as part of NR historic district _ /7. MName of district

_.conuibuting __sonconttibuting

—Jised individually National Historic Landmark __/_ /.

determined eligiblewwowner objection 7/ /
Ldeermined NOT ebigible /7 /.
deferred by reviewboard _ /. /.

. rejecwed by Washingwon _ /_/

—pending federad nominavon /7 /-

completed Prebiminary Information Sheet (PIS)__/__ 7

3L Namber of contributing properties:

name

partof NHE district /7
DY process _ /S
_reieaed by review board /S
removed from NR __ /S /7
_removed from survey /...

demolished /7
_nomination ou file/never processed |/ S

PROPERTY DESCRIFTION: When other (0} is chosen, enter data on reveyse side wnder category 26 or 21

13, Construction Date

14. Alterstion Date

16. Commercial Form -— circle appropriate response (s}

A} 2-part commercial block
B} l-part commercial block
C: enframed window wall

D ystacked vertcal block
E) 2-part wertical block
F) 3parivertical biock

17. DESCRIPTION: Select as many rrponses as appropmigls.

AYHISTORIC CORE SHAPE
recuangular (1)
square {2}

L{%

T {4)

U (5}

H (6)
octagonal (7}
irregular (8)
other {0}

B) STORIES
1story (1)

11/2 sories {2}
2 stories (5}

2 1/2 wories (1)
3 stories (5}
other {(}

CYPORCH HEIGCHT
1 story {1)
1 sroryw/deck (2}
Y or more sories (8)
2 or more with ters {4)
roofed balcony over 1 story
hip/shed (5)
other {0}

D) ROOF SHAPE

gabie {end 1o front} (1)
gable (fateral} (2)
hip ()

cross gable (4)
pyramidal (5}
flac {6)

wuncated hip (7}
gambrel (8)
mansared {9)

salt box (10}
jerkinhead (11)
gubleon-hip (1%)
mono-pitch {14)
not visible (15)
other {0}

£y PORCH WIDTH
entrance bay only {1}
owver 1 bay, less than full
fucade (2}
full facade (%)
facsde & ieft sievation (4)
facade k right elevadon (5)
facade & both elevatons (6)
ather (0}

15. Architectural stye oy influence

G} iemple from
Hywvault

1) enframed block

F} PORCH ROOF SHAPE

shed (1}

hip ()

gable {5}

pedimented gable (4)

flat (5)

engaged (6)

partially engaged {7)
gable-on-hip or shed (8)
engaged poree cochere (9)
other {0}

£} NUMBER OF CHIMNEYS
extetior (1)
_imwerorend (B
__jmeevior (3)
. ceowel (4}
__Bue (5
. double shouldered (6)
. motvisible (7}
. Other (O}

J) Central block w/wings

K) arcaded block
) other

H)} WINDOWS
single {1}
double {8}
tripartie (%}
grouped (4)
decorative (5)
display (6)
other (6}

E) PANE CONFICGURATION
traceried {1}
{ueen Anne biock-glass (2)
Prairie/bungalow /crafisman

geometric (3)

not vidble {4}
other {6}
S S —

JIDOORS
single {1}
_double (3}
manaon: {%)
fanlight (4)
sidelighta (5)
ather {0}



By CONSTRUCTION METHOD

wasotay (1)

fragne {3}

fog (%)

sigal {4)

etfrer {0}

L) EXTERHOR WALLS

wiaiherboard (3}

beaded westherbourd {2)

shiglap (3}

flughboard (4)

wood shingle (53

suceo (6}

tably (7)

brick (B}

brick veneer {3}

stone veneer (10}

caststone (11}

murble {12}

asphali roll (13)

synthede siding (14}

asbestog shingle (15)

pigmented strucmral
glass( 16}

other (0}

B PORCH DETAILS
charnfered posts (1}
mrreed posts (7}
supporss on pedestals (3)
coiuronns (4)
s (5}
piers (6)
pillars (7)
freestanding posts (B}
balustrade (3)
apron wall (10)
mrned balugierss (113
decorative sawn balusiers (12)
slat balusiers (13)
ather sawn/tarned work {(14)
insect screening (15)
porte cochere (16}
other ({)

N} CHIMNEY MATERIAL
brick (1)
stuccoed brick (2}
stone {3}
brick & stone {4}
ather {0

18. HISTORIC OUTBUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES:

none {1)

none visible (2}

garage (3}

gardge w/bving area (4)
shed {B)

kiwchen {6)

wenant house {7)
other house (8)
office {9)

barn (10}
sobacco barn {11}
dajry {12)

O3 ROOF MATERIAL
sompraition shingle (1)
presed metal shingle (2}
wand shingle (4}
share {4}
ragaed searn metal (5)
oiher mctal {5}
rolled roofing {7}
oot vistble (B}
tile (9}
other (I}

P) FOUNDATION
not visible {1}
brick pier (2)
brick pier with 11 (3)
brick {4)
sturcoed masonry (5)
swone pier (6}
swone {7)
concrete block (83
slab consuucton (B)
bzsement (10}
raised basement {11}
other (U}

erib (1%
smokehouse {(14)
slave house {15%)
privy (16)

well (17)
springhouse {18}

Q3 DECORATIVE ELEMENT

MATERIAL

cast Fom {1}
pressed metal (2}
ieTTa cous (3
grariwe {4}
marble {5}

czst gtone (6)
brick {7}

winodd (83
pigmented glass (5}
sone (GO
gocco (13

other {0}

R} INTERIOR FEATURES (list)

atore (19)
windrmill {20}
chicken coop {21}
ailo (22)
washhouse (23)
ool cellar (243
other {(1)

19. SURROUNDINGS: residential {1} residential/commercial(2}) commercial (%) rural (4) rural community (5) industrial (6) other (©)

20. ADDITIONAL DESCRIPTIVE COMMENTS:

Z1. ALTERATIONS

HISTORICAL INFORMATION

22 Theme{s): 28. Period(s): 24. Important persons:
25, Architeci(s): Source:

26. Builder(s) Source:

27. Himorical data

28, Informant/Ribliography

36. Phowgraphs pr‘mr@:ﬁdes (2 nzgaﬁm@

31, Other documenttion: survey back-up files {1} Natonal Register files (2) wax act files {3) grant files (4) state historical marker files (5}
environipental review files (68) HABS/HAER (7) 5CIAA {B) other {0) #

%2, Recorder name/firm 2%, Date recorded




South Carolina Statewide Survey Site Form
CONTINUATION AND PHOTOGRAPHS

Control Nomber U/ 19 /o .,
OUntY census designated place gite #
Continution:
{Atiach photos here}
Photo ¥ Photo Index # View of N, 5EW
Date Taken/Recorded by

State Historic Preservation Office + P.O. Box 11669 » Columbia, SC 29211 « (B03) 7348609
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AVPENDILE D BIZTORICAL BACEGROUND OF SURVEY ABREA
arsd

APPENDIX E:r BIBLIOGREPHY

The Charleston County Architectural and Historical Survey Historical Overview
and Bibllography are incorporated intoe this report as appendices. Hecause the
intent of Charleston County was to provide & research tool that coould also be
used by students, researchers and the general public, the documents are
formatted so that they can be photovopisd separately from each other and from
the rest of this report.
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GECGGRAPHIC OVERVIEW

Encompagsing approximately nine hundred forty-flve smquare miles at the heart
af South Carolina’s Lowcountry, Charleston County lg smeparated from Georgetown
County to the northeast by the South Santee RHiver and from Colleton County in
the southwest by the South BEdisto River. To the sast the county fronts on the

Btlantic Ocean. Inland, the wegtern boundary with Dogchester County is
demarcated by County Line Road and Rantowles Creek, and continues as an
irregular line to the Ashley River. The Wande Rivar and Scuth Carolina

Highway 98 form the boundary with Berkeley County. The county’'s boundary
extends north along Charleston Heck between the BAshley and Cooper rivers.
Lovation, topography and c¢limate have influenced the development of
transportation, agricultural, esettlement and commercial patterns and the
nature of the historic resources that exist in the Charleston County today.

The Sea Islands are part of a chain extending from Florida north to the Santse
River delta, separated from the mainland and one another by networks of
rivers, tidal creeks and inlets, marshes and coastal lagoons. Bull, Capers,
Dawees, Isle of Palms, Sullivan’s, Morris, Folly, Xiawah, Seabrook and Edisto
islands all front on the ocean. The large inland islands, Wadmalaw, Johns and
James, are sheltered from the sea by these barrier islands.!

Elevation in Charleston County is fairly uniform, ranging to seventy feet
above Mean Sea Level {(M5L) with most land being from five to fifteen feet
above MEL. The major rivers are the South Santee, Wando, Cooper, Ashley,
Stono, Wadmalaw, North Edisto and South Bdisto. Principal creeks include
Dawho, Toogoodoo, Bohicket, Church, and Awendaw. Other deep creeks cut into
the larger islands of the county.?

In 1682 three counties - Craven, Berkeley, and Colleton = were laid out az in
today’'s South Carolina, Craven County extended northward from Seewes River
{Awendaw Creek) to the Roanocke River in present-day North Caroling; Berkeley
County from Awendaw Creek south to the Stong River; and Colleton County from
the Stonc River south to the Combahes River.?

In 1706 ten parishes were established as church and civil adwministrative
units: St. Jamses, Santee, in Craven County; St. Philips, Christ Church, St.
Thomas, 8t. Denis, S§t. Andrews, St. John’'s, Berkeley, and 5t. James, Goose
Creak, in Berkeley County; and 8t. Paul’s and S8t. Bartholomew’s in Colleton
County. {Except S5t. Bartholomew’'s, all or portions of these parishes are part
of present-day Charleston County.)4 Ags the population grew, parishes were
subdivided. In 1717 the upper portion of St. Andrew’'s Parish was separated to
form 8t. George, Dorchester (in today’'s Dorchester County}. In 1734, John's,
Wadmalaw, Bdisto and "other islands to seaward”™ were removed from 8t. Paul's
Farish and designated as St. John's, Collston, Parish. St. Philip’'s Parish
wag divided in 1751 with the creatlion of 8t. Michasl’s Parish. In 17%4 the
"English Santee® portion of 3t. Janmes, Santes, Parish was made 3 separsate
parish, 8t. Stephen’s {today in Berkeley C&unty};ﬁ

Usad as gensus gnits through the aineteerth century, Lowocountry parishes are
convenient geographical sectors for the ressarcher. Because of changing
political boundaries inteo the +twentieth century, parishes provide more
accurate statistics than do county-level censgus data. Parizsh names -~ St.
Pauls, St. Andrews, Christ Charch, and St. James, Santes - still refer to
large unincorporated areas of Charleston County.
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Chavleston County’s political ooundaries were changed st least twice during
the 1820s. In 1882 a 2000 sguare mlle area was vemoved to form Berkelay
gounty, with Mount Pleasant itz county seab. The ity of Charleston and a
narrew gtrip along the ccast to its north remalned ag Charleston County; Lts
principal towns were Moulirieville, on Sullivan’s Island, and HoClellanviile.
In 18%3 about 800 square miles of Berkeley Counbty was annexed back into
Charleston County, including the islands southwest of the Ashley River, Mount
Pleasant, and much of the ares between the Wando and South Santee rivers.®

The 1911 annexation of St. Pauls Parish included the mainland ares scouthwest
of Charleston from Hantowles Creek to the Bdisto River. In 1920 Charleston
County achieved its modern boundaries, annexing from Berkeley County a thirty-
five square mile area along the Scuthern Railway line above Charleston Neck.’

Charlegton County’s ares was reduced slightly between 1975 and 1987, The
portion of Edigto Island that includes Edisto Beach was annexed into Colleton
Tounty in March 1975, and is today incorporated as the Town of Bdisto Beach.
I July 1987 a tract north of Edisto Beach, including land to the east and
west of Highway 174, was also annexed into Colleton County.®

MNative Americans

Native BAmerican settlement in South Caroclina is thought to have been
continuous for more than twelve thousand vears. During the Paleoindian Period
(10,800-8,500 BC) the ocean's shoreline may have been up to fifty miles west
of the present coast, which would have put most of Charleston County under
wabter. During the Archalc Period (8,500-1000 BC) the natural landscape became
the humid, pine-dominated environment of today. Small bands of Native
Americang gpent spring along coastal regions, went to inland camps for the
summer, and gathered in the upper ceoastal plaln during the winter. Graduslly.
today's Charleston County became more heavily cocupied than the Pledmont,
apparently because of its richer and more diverse habitats. Bhell rings
indicate babitation sites from the later Archaic period.?

During the Woodland Period (1000 BCO-1000 AD), HNative Americans became more
sedentary and skilled at using diverss vesources, eating deer, bear, rabblit,
turkey, fish and turtles. Some groups began to develop agriculture during the
the Migsissippian Period (1000-1300 &AD). The indigencus people of the
Loweountry apparently lived in settiements, with few isolated farmsteads.
Their trading paths extended throughout the scutheast and beyond.10

During the Contact Period, beginning in roughly 1526, pecple from Europe,
Africa, the Caribbean, and North America began to interact. The Spanish,
French and English encountered Native Americans in the Lowcountry for at least
one hundred years before establishing permanent settlements.!’

Native Americans initially tried to cooperate with the Buropean settlers. The
Kiawah are said to have convinged the early colonists to settle at the Charles
Towne Landing site, a strategic trading location. The Sewes allisd with the
English, supporting them against Spanish ralds and supplying them with food.
Some tribes guickly grew unhappy with the white settlers,. and by 1674 the
Stono and Kussoe rebelled. They were defeated and many caphtives shipped to
the West Indies. In 1686, Hative Americans took part in a raid by Spanish
Floridians that burned English settlements as far as the east side of Edisto
Island.



Irr 171% the Yamassee (Yemassees) Indiang, centersd st Pocatalige, rampaged
thyrough bthe provines. They crossed the Bdisgto River and raided through 8t.
Pauls Parish as far 23 the Stono River. Pravented from crossing the Stono,
they burned Fon Pon Bridge over the South Bdisto River in thely retreat.
Their final defeat in 1717 effectively ended any Indiasn threat to the area. ™

The indigenous population declined as contact with EBuropeans increassed.
pesides military defeats, diseases the Europsans brought with them devastated
the native population, In general, the danger of Indian abtsck receded with
the frontiesr as white settlement expanded north and west into South Qarolina,
hut skirmishss along the southern border continued for some years§14

EARLY SETTLEMERNT, 1670-1730

In 1663, King Charles II granted a2 charter to the provinece of Caralina to
eight Lorvds Proprietors. In 1669 one of them, Anthony, Lord ashley Cooper,
organized a fleet of immigrants who zettled at Albemarle Point {(Charles Towne
Landing) in 1670, South Carclina was established largely as a business
egntarprige, its settlers trading with HNative Americans for such goods as
deersking while they experisented with staple crop agriculture.’” In 1672 the
gettlement was moved to the more defensible Oyvster Point, between the Ashley
and Cooper rivers, and named Charles Towne. The harbor oould be guarded by
defenges on Sullivan’s and James islands while it provided for pasgsenger and
cargo shipping, 10

The Lords Proprietors encouraged thely colonlisbts to establish towns, They
believed fthat & neatly laid out town was more conducive to settlsrs and
investors than sprawling farmsteads, and townspeople were easier to defend,
tax, and call to arms. Becauge Charleston so effectively established its
pasition as the oolony’'s commercial center, there was little development of
other towns. There was a short-lived town on James Island, but Willtown was
the first settlement after Charleston that can be considered a town. Located
on a twenty-five foot high bluff overlioocking the Scuth Edisto River, Willtown
may have been planned as early as 1682. Devastated by the Yamassee raid of
1715, Willtown declined completely after about 1750, duse te the difflculiy of
defending it, the probler of malaria, and trade competition from nearby
Charleston.'?

Regearch into early land grants and settlement patiterns in Charleston County
has shown a fairiy consistent pattern in the selection of early ssttliement
sites. Both on the isiands and in mainland areas, rural colionists developed
gseattered farms along navigable rivers (for transpertation of geods), building
their houses on high ground when possible. Fresh water springs may also have
peen & factor in choosing settlement sites. Farmers especially valued "OLld
Indian Fields,” land that was already cleared for crops.'® Rural dwellings in
1711 were dotted along both banks of the Socuth Ediste River and the west bank
of the North Edisto, scattered on Wadmalaw and Johne islands (mostly along the
Wadmalaw and Stono rivers), and at both banks of the Stono on Johns and James
iglands.!?

The first colonists in South Carolina were almost esgually divided between
Anglicans and Dissenters. Settlers organized churches and constructed
buildings for them as soon as they were able. Although thes Church of England
was the established sect, religicus freedom was guaranteed to others, and by
about 1680 Dissenters (Presbyterians, Baptists, Congregationalists and
Quakers) were in the majority. Rfter 1685 significant numbera of French
Huguenots began to arrive.<l



Carclina‘’s population grew vapidly. By 1708 thers were "1380 freeamen, 200
free women, sixty white sgervant men, sizxty white sepvant women, 1700 free
white ohildren; 1800 Hegro men slaves, 1100 ¥egro women slaves, 500 Indian men
slaves, 600 Indian women sliaves, 1200 Hegro cohildren zlaves. and 300 Indian
children slaves,"?

fefore 16%% about one-guarter of the colony’'s population was made up of black
slaves; by 1708 they had become the majority, as more Africans came through
the port of Charleston than anywhere slse on the continent. Hy 1739 slaves
accounted for almogt two-thirds of Carclina’sa ?qul&ﬁiaﬁazz

SURVEY DATA: Hurricanes have been recorded in Charteston County at Least since 1686, and have had a continuocus, if
sporadic, impect in the loss of buitdings, bridges and sther structures, a3 well as naturs! landscape features 2
while no above-ground rescurces are Znown to remain from the first gettiement period, early plantation sites have
been identified at Point of Pines, #I56; Point farm, #270; Beckett!s, #305; Ash Poing, #F587; Litvle Bricton, ¥390;
Toogoodon/ Lauret HILL, #6517 Tibwin, #577; and others.

Export Commerce and Agriculturas

South Carclinse was established largely ag a business eanterprise, the colonists
trading with HNative Americans while they experimented with stapie crop
sgriculture. Soft white deerskins, dressed by the Indians, were an important
axport product. From 1674 through the 1680s, Lord Ashley’s plantation on the
upper Ashley River was the headguarters for Indian trade west of Charleston.
In 1716 an Act provided for Indians to trade deer skins apnd furs at various
piamhations*24

The earliest sucressful exports intluded forest products as well as trade
goods. The raval stores industry (far, pitch, resin, and turpentine used in
ship construction and maintenance) expanded after Parliamentary incentives
were @stablished in 1704. In 1712 South Carolina was the major producer in
the colonieg; exports increased through the 1720s. During the 1740s profits
from improving agriculture, and loss of British bounties, led to a decline in
the industry. Tar and turpentine production continuved longer in areas that
were unfavorable for crops.®

Hoard lumber products were also important. Long leaf pine and cypress were
prized for wooden planks, shingles and barrel staves. Miils first shippsd
lumber to the shipyvards of Maine and Massachusetts, then expanded trade to the
Weat Indies and South America, and Burope. 8y the late 1670s South Carolina’s
colonists began buillding ships for local and English investors, in Charieston

and along waterways in other areas. According to historian Theodore
Rosengarten, shipbuilding was the ~"c¢hief industrial activity of the Sea.
Islands.” Some shipbullding sites, such as that on Hobcecaw Point in Christ

Church Parish or the James Island Shipyard (1742~-1772), were used fairly
continuougly. Others were used for only a short period of time, as bujilders
camped near their source of wood and moved on when work was completed,?6

The early settlers tried a variety of crops for export, most of which proved
unsuccessful. Tobacce showed potential, but after 1700 Virginiz and Maryland
dominated the British market and little tobacco was grown in Charleston
County. Orangeg failed commercially, as did olives, grapes and silkworns.
Farmers did produce food for themselves and for townspeople, growing Indian
corn, rice, wheat, barley, kidney beans, "American potato,” garvden vegetables
and fruit trees. Typically, livestock animals were allowed free range, plgs
in swamps and forests, cattle or sheep In drier pine forests and savannahs. A
report of 1686 indicates the crops being growsn on a Sea Island plantation: “7¢
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acrez of Indian corn, a crop 2f EBnglish peasn, 200 traces of cholice onlons,
tobacos, and 100 great hogs,”o

SLRVEY DATA: A ramber of mowurwds vemein at Billbrook Plentation, #3155, which appear to be tar kilns. Further
resgarch 1s required To determine when these kiing were used. Severz! shigyard sites have been idergifiod a8
srchapslogicalily portant., Ho shove-ground sites stsociated with the esrly shipbufiding industry have besn
identifiad inChsrieston Sounty.

Dafense and Trangportation

In the generally flat terrain of Charleston County, islands, high riverbanksa
and peninsulas were particularly lmportant for defense. In 1674 Captaln
Florence O'Sullivan wae appointed o manage a signasl cannon on today’s
Sullivan’s Island, flring to warn Charleston when ships approached. In 1706
the c¢oloniste were alerted by the Sclliivan’s Island watch and held off a
French sguadron loaded with Spanish soldiers and Indians. Port Johnson on
James Island was  constructed by 170% to further protect  the harxbor‘s
entranca,?®

Lumber producers, farmers and traders delivered most of their goods by river
to Charleston Harbor for expori. Settlers also adopted land trails and
trading paths already in use by Native Americans, adding routes between their
own gettlements, trading centers, and ferry landings. One of the earliest was
today ‘s Ashley River Road, establighed in 1690, 1In 1703, the General Assembly
directed that a road be built from "the southwest side of Ashley River to
Wiiltown." The southernmost section of today’'s Parker's Ferry Road lies along
this route., aAn Act of June 1714 called for "continuing the road to Edisto
Island” and making bridges over Rawhoo Creek and the South Edisto River. A
statute was passed in 1721 that prohibited cutting shade trees when roads were
laid out.??

Some of the early roads in Charleston County, such as the Ashley River Road
and Parkers Ferry Road, remain largely on the original routes. Over time,
moat rcads have been rercuted to a greater or lesger degres. Curves and
detours were straightened out when bridges could be constructed at wider
waterways, leaving smections of reoadways, ferry and bridge sites to be
abandoned or reduced to serving local traffic.

SURVEY BAYA: Ashley River Road |, #004; Witltown Road |, #141.9 § #5190; Parkers Ferry Road, #620; Pine Larcding #375.1%;
Batany Bay Read and Landing, #195; Old Georgetown Road, #570; Old Jacksonbaro Road, 600,

Government

Under their Fundamental Constitutions, the Lords Proprietors appointed the
provincial governors and controlied the court system. Initially all political
fanctions were vested In the government of the Province ¢f QCarclina: the
Governor, the Parliament (later Enown as the Commons House of Assembly), and
the Grand Council. The Council acted as the upper house of the legislature,
am well as the court of equity, ¢ivil, criminal and admiralty law. Justices
of the peace were the only local officiale.3¥

In 1682 three counties., Craven, Berkeley, and Collston, were laid out as
election districts and militia and judicial units. Craven County extended
north from Awendaw Creek to the Reancke River in present-day North Carolina;
Berkeley County from Awendaw Creek south te the 3tono River; and Colleton
County from the Steno River south to the Combahee River. The counties
extended inland for thirty-~five miles from the coast. A general court was
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pataiklished st Charieston, with urisdiction over =all three counties.
Election precincts were established st Charleston and Hilltown, 3

There was & close link between government and church in colenial South
Carociina, and in rural areas churches were often the only bulldings available
for public purposes. The Church Act of 1704 established the Church of England
in 8outh Careclina and prohibited non-Anglicans from serving in public office.
The act was repealed by the Church Aot of 1706, which sstablished the Church
of Enaland as the state religion, but permitted Digsenters to hold office.??

Providing for more localized government, the Church Act of 1706 divided the
province into ten parishes that were designated as both civil and church
administration units. The parishes established in 1706 were St. James,
Santee, in Craven County; St. Philip‘s, Christ Church, St. Thomas, 3t. Denis,
5t. Andrews, B3t, John's, Berkeley, and St. James, Goose Creek, in Berkeley
County: and $t. Paul’'s and £t. Bartholomew’s in Colleton County. In 1716
Anglican parishes were degignated as election districits, with elections held
at each chureh.33

SURVEY DATA: 8t. Andrsw’s Parish Church, #1187 Christ Church, #031; 1. Paul ‘s Church, #509; Wappetas [ndependent
tongregational Church, #559; Jobns Islond Presbyterisn Church, #047; Edisto Isiand Presbyterian Church, #047%;
Willtown, #141.0.

GROWTH OF THE COLONY, 1720~1780

In 1721 South Carolina’s settlers succesded in their petitions to be removed
from proprietary rule and egtablished as a Royal Celony. They claimed among
other things that the Proprietors had failed to provide adeguate defense for
againgt Native Americans and pirates. The transfer to royal government was
complete in 1729, and the Royal Navy could now be expected to provide
defense .34

Government administration began to shift away from the Anglican Church as
members of other denominations grew more powerful. By 1740 the maijority of
South Carclina‘s population was divided among several Protestant religions:
45% Anglican, 42% Presbyterian, French and other Protestants, 10% Baptist, and
3% Quaker.®

The period of royal government was prosperous for Charleston County. British
mercantile laws favored goods from the Atlantic colonies, and the ¢olonists
were learning to farm effectively. Encouraged by the government, settlers
from frontier areas of the northern coloniss migrated to the “back country® of
gouthaern celonies during the 17530z and 1760s. As they moved South Carolina‘s.
frontier westward, inland settlers raised goods for their own consumption as
well as for export. Their trade moved over land and water €¢ Charieston.3®

Transportation Improvements

As agricultural production expanded, inland waterways remalined the chief
avenues to market. The advantage of shortening these routes was obwvious, so
canals were cut to improve watsrwaye for shippﬁx@g? One of the esarliest
appears to have been Elliott’s Cut, betwesn the Stone and Ashley rivers at the
north side of James Iszland. By 17%1 South Carolina’s colonists had “"cleared
many oreeks, and cut some canals betwixt rivers... made useful public rcads
all over the country, and a multitude of private paths ... from particular
plantations to those roads, or to convenlent landings... bullt many bridges
over rivers, and laid causewsys ACToss marshes, "8
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Boads zigzagged botwesen the narrowest sectiong of oreeks and rivers. Thax
garly bridgess of coastal South Carolina were generally short span, timber

beidges supported by timber trastlss. Short spans could be joined in long
bridges extending across broad expanses of  flat, swampy bterralin. As
sriginearing improvements made longer bridoes possible, new bridges were built
and  roads stralghtened. Becguse ooastal rivers were 8o important  to

transportation, drawbridges were usad falvly &axly°3¢

Stores and taverns in rural areas wers located near bridges or ferry landings.
Church locations were alsoe determined by fransportation routes. in 1768 a
chureh for 8t, James, Santee, Parish was bullt near the bridge over Wambaw
Creek, Betweoen Hdisteo and Wadmalaw izlands, the North Bdisto River was much
too wide to bridge. For Edisto Igland’s Anglicans, who traveled by water to
the parish church on Johns Island, the sclution was te erect a chuwrch for
themselves in 1774.%0

survey Datar Early canals in the survey ares include New Cut, #2404, and Watis Cut, #3753, Ho surviving timber
kridges from this period have been identified. Modern bridoes are found at sites that may have been in continuous
use. Ses St James, Santee, Church, #110, aref Trinity Episcupat Church, #132,

Agriculture and the Plantation Econony

In contrast to a “farm," which produces goods for family or local consumption,
a "plantation” ls defined as producing crops for cash sals. Both systems
flourished in Charleston County, with the city providing a market for domestic
goods, and its harbor providing for an import-sxport plantation economy.
Professicnals, merchants and factors in Charleston complemented thelir business
interests through rural agricultural proeduction. From St. Andrews and Christ
Church parishes, farms owned by clty businessmen or independent farmers
supplied produce, livestock, brick and firewood to the urban market as well as
to single-~crop plantations. Settlers forther from the city, without access to
market for the sgale of food crops, concentrated on forest products, livestook,
or staple goods.4

The success of indigo and rice stimulated the agricultural export economy.
Some of the earliest gettlers had brought indigo seed toe South Carolina. In
1739 Eligza Lucas planted West I[ndian indigo seed abt Wappoo Plantation. By
i744 she had a good crop, and shared her improved sesed with other planters.
Prefits increased after a Parliamentary bounty, intended tc aid the English
textile industry, was instituted in 174%. South Carclina becames the Hritish
Emplire s major producer ©of dye as indigo planting spread through its inland
swamps . %2

In much of Charleston County, indigo became a supplemental c¢rop to riee, which
was alsc favored by British mercantile laws. Flanters sexperimented with
different cultivation methods, ajded by the knowledge of West African slaves
experienced in subtroplcal agriculture. Rice was irrigated with fresh water
through dams, dikes. ftrunks and ponds. Efter about 17%6, the tidal culture
method, which used the power of tides to move fresh water for irrigabtion, was
developed. The guality and guantity of rize was dramatically Iincreased along
rivers where tides were strong above the highest level of salt water ~ the
South Santee, Coopesr, and Scuth Edisto rivers, and Toogoodoo and Awendaw
creeks. Tidal culture was infeasible along the Wando River, in swampy inland
areas, and, except the north and western edges of Edisto Island, on the Sea
Isiands of Charleston County.®



Zlaves were lmported into Charleston County in inCreasing numbers, especially
in aress bthat favored the lsbor-intensive crops of indige and rice. Az early
#% 1720 the trend toward varying proportionsg of slaves in the population of
wvarious parishes wag apparent: that year in 8t. James, BSantee, Parish, there
were 4% taxpayers with 584 slaves {1:14}); in 5t. Andrews Parish 210 taxpaysrs
with 24%3 slaves {1:12); in St. Pauls Parish, which then included Johns,
Wadmalaw and Edisto islandsg, 201 taxpavers and 1634 gslavesn 1:8y:; snd in
Christ Church Parish therse were 107 taxpayers and 637 slaves (1:63.

Bz the proportion of black siaves in Charleston County voge, the threat of
glave rebeilion rose accordingly. The Stono Rebellion of 1732 was an atieompt
by a group of slaves to egeape to Spanigh Florida, which had promised frsedom
e runaways from the English colonies.  About tweniy glaves gathered on Johns
Taland, wcrogsed the Stono River, and traveled south, killing whites, raiding
piantations and gathering recrults. 7The whites caught up with the slaves at
the plantation later known as Battlefield Plantation. They executed all the
captives except those slaves who could convince them that they had been forced
to join the march.*

Survey Data: Publicly-owned ricefields, reserves snd dikes canbe visited today at the Santee Constal Reserve, #736;
the Wedge Plantation, #13%; The Grove, #057; and Hampton Flantation State Park, #058. Other plantations that retain
large-scale landscape elements reloted to rice cultivation include Prospectiiil, #009; Fairfield, #044; Harrietts,
BO57: Prospect HiLL, #101; and¥ount Hope, #147.03,

The Stono Siave Rebellion Site 1s at the edge of Rontoules {reek, near today’s Sea Isiand Small Farmers So-op,
Bartlefield Plantation isnear Parkers Ferry Road, at the neorth side of today's US Highway 17 South {just west of
#7543,

FTown and Country

The “town and country"™ residential pattern, with Charleston the sovial and
cultural capizal of the yiantaticng, developed during the eightgeenth century.
The social hierarchy was tied to land cwnershlp, tempting merchants, factors
and manufacturers to divert profits to the purchase of plantations.
Lowcountry indigo and rice planters, whether fulltime planters or merchant-
planters, had town houses as well as plantation houses. Typically, planters
ware in town from January to March, for the social season, and from May until
the first frost, to escape the fevers endemic in swampy reglicns. According to
historian George Rogers, they "considered themselves to be, and were, almost
equally the citizens of the town with those who dwelt in it."%

Some planters built town houses as residences or investments; others rented
Charleston dwellings for themselves, Even the most progpercus families
typically concentrated thelr major economic and aesthetic resources on the
house they perceived as their primary residence. Until his death in 1774,
Jacob Hotte, Public Treasurer of the Frovince, leased the fine Georglan
reglidence at 8% Church Street from the Jordan Roche family. On his own Mount
Pleasant Plantation, in today’ s Mount Fleasant Historic District, Motite bullt
an uwnassuming two-story wooden house, with wainscot similar to that of his
house in Charleston. %

Houses in town and country often displayed an architectural sophigtiocastion
that demonstrated cloge ties with EFngland and the urban centers of the North.
Professional architects and builders were employed, but with architectural
literascy an integral part of a gentlemanly education, the owners themselves
frequently designed their dwellings.*’

Certain families in partvicular were noted for the elegance of theilr buildings.
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The Bulls of 8t. Andrews Parish and Charieston were typical of an elite group:
wealthy, educated, politically prominent snd assthebically astate. About 1704
Lieutenant-Governor William Bull bullt & two-story brick house st Ashley Hall
Plantation, in the Jacobean gtyie with a hall-and-parior gplan and projecting
atair bowar. [Nearby Middleton Flace, bullt aboub the sasme time, also had a
projecting stalr towsr.] About 1720 he slse pullt & three-story brick house
int Charleston (35 Hesting Street), in the Secrgian 2ivie then populary in
England. About 1770 the sscond Lieutenant Governor William Bull improved
ashley Hall with a formal garden in the Ttaljanate style. %

John  Braybton built Dravton Hell, a {fine example of Georgian-Palladian
architecture, as hig principal residence between 1738-17432. Drayten’s town
houge is much less impressive, salthough the drawing room has & mantelplsce
similar bto those at Dravton Ball; it clearly was a second home. It is in
contrast to the elegant oity dwelling of Hiles Brewton, the leading slave
merchant of his time, and alsc a member of a propinent planting family. He
expended much ©f his fortune on the elasgant town house at 27 Hing Straet,
built 1765-69 in the Palladian style.4

About 172% Paul Hamilton had brick imported from Boston te build a residence
on hig 300 acre BEdisto Island plantation. The style of Brick House, simlilar
to the houses at Mulberry, Hanover, Lewisfield, and Crowfield in todayv's
Baerkelsy County, is sald to have been of Prench influence, and a forerunner of
the Charleston "double housa® of the 17505 angd 1760w.°0

In Christ Church Parish, George Benison‘s %80~acre plantation was worked by
thirty-two slaves, The house, now known &8 Oakland, iz & simple franme
cottage. Although Benison owned considerable amounts of land, he appears to
have been unusual in living only on the plantation: no evidence of another
residence has been found,”

Whether it is because of the value that has historically been placed on
preserving these sites, or the biases of earlier researchers, much more is
known of the plantations of the elite than of the homes of the middie and
lower strata of society. In some parcts of the c¢ounty, notably the Sea
Islands, census data indicate few white or free black laborerg or small
farmers, but in octher areas a substantial proporticn of the population were
not "planters.” However, Linda Stine notes that 63 coolonial/antebellum
*plantation” gites have been identified in Charleston County, as compared Lo
four "farmsteads.” This should be attributed in part to the less substantial
gquality of modest dwellings and, in larger part, to a lack of krnowlegs about
the dwellings of small farmers and entrepeneurs.

SURVEY DATA: Ashley Hall Plantation, #004, Brick House, #022, Dakland, #08B, Mount Pleasant Plantation House, #085,
Fatrfield, #0544, Hampmtion, #058, Draytonfiatl, #0335,

Tabby and Brickmaking

Tabby is a concrete—-like substance composed of shell, sand, and lime, moldad
into large blocks and dried in place. Lime for tabby was often mined from
aoyster beds or Indian shell middens. With no stone found naturally in the
Lowcountry, brichkmaking became significant in Charleston County, especially in
Christ Church Parish, where soil type, abundant pine trees for fuel, and
proximity to Charleston encouraged the industry. The olay soll used for brick
is generally unfavorable for orops, and brickmaking also f£illed In av sglack
planting times. The Horlbeck familv's brickworks remained lmportant through
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the sineteenth century; one of thely bést-known  early buslldings  is
charleston's Exchange Building.>?

SURVEY DATR: Tabby service buildings remsin st Bleak Ball, 017, and Hepribeh Towrsernd s Oven Ruins, #1317,
Seructural walls of deel iing houses remain at Poing Fara, #8270, spd Jawes Seghrock g Heuse, #3587, Early brick houses
include Brick Houge, #0022, ared Drayton Ball, #039; churches include St Arndreus, #1710, and St. James, Santee, #111.
Tabby and Brick fourndations are seen gt houses thiroughout The county,

American Revolution

Bagipping in 1763, Parliamentary acts affecting trade gradually changed the
political affections of most Lowcountry planters. Protest demonstraticong took
place in Charleston against such measures as the 1765 Stamp Act and the
reduction of the indigo bounty in 1770. Strained relations eventually led to
WAY . Charleston’'s defenders moon completed fortifications at Haddrell's
Boint, Fort Johnson, and Sullivan's Toland, 58

In Juns 1776 a British fleet entered Charleston Harbor. They landed at Isle
of Palms, then attempted to crose Breach Inlet to Sullivan's Island. TEG
Americans held off the 2,200 British soldiers Betwaen 177678 most of the
war was fought in the north, but in May 1779, a British army marched from
Savannah to besiege Charleston. They built earthworks at Stono Feryy,
withstood an American attack in late June, then retired to Beaufort. ™

In February 1780 the British came to Charleston County in force. General Bir
Henry Clinton landed troops at Seaahrook Island, secured the upper Stono, and
moved across to Johns Island where he established a temporary headguarters at
Fenwick Hall. He then ordered his army across the Stono River o James
Island. They took PFort Johnson, and bullt a bridge across Elliott s Cut o
move troops and guns to the mainland. On April 8, the British fleet entered
Charieston Harbor. Charleston surrendered May 12, 1780.%%

From thelr kase at Charleston, the British supplied themselves throughout the
region. After the Continental Army was driven out of Scuth Carolina, the only
aef fective American forece was that ¢f Gensral Francis Marion, the “"Swanmp Fox.®
At the Battle of Parker's Ferry, in August 1781, Marion and his 400 troops
intercepted a raid by 540 Hessians, British and Tories. The British fled back
to Fort Dorchester then to Charleston.®

The British Army under General Gornwallis surrendered in October 1781, bhut the
British did not evacuate Charleston until December 1782. inmablis to meet in
the capital city, the General Assembly of South Carolina wmet at Jacksonboro in
1782 .57

SURVEY DATAR: Military sires have heen recognized throughout Charleston Oounty, amgd ere genersiiy treated as
archseslogical resources. Ses Encempment Plantation, #734, where American troops were stationed fo guerd the
approach to Jecksonboro fromCharission,
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RECOVERY ARD REPANSION, 1783-1820

the American Revoclution ended the prosperity of the colonial periocd in
Tharleston Lounty. Continental money was worthless, and agricultural and
commercial markets had changed. Cropfislds had Desn neglected, the
countryside looted, bulldings burned, cattle and horses confiscated and slaves
carried off by the British. The increasingly populous interior sections of
South Carclina began a challenge %o the Lowcountry’'s political dominance.
They succeeded in having the state capital relocated to Columbia in 1730,
adding to Charleston’s post-war distress.ot

Rebuilding the Plantation Economy

There was a brief resurgence in indigo planting after the American Revolution.
South Carcling indige was inferiocr in guality to that grown in the West
Indies, and couid not be grown profitably without British bounties. The
market collapsed after 1796, when English producers shifted their efforts to
Ipdia. Rice planting increased as Scouth Carolinians found new markets and
improved their mills. The English engineer Jonathan Lucas, and his son
Jonathan, Jr., wepre innovators in willing. In 1787 Lucas bullt the first
water mill and by 1782 the firast tidal mill, at Peachtree on the Scuth Santee
River. Qther mills were soon established in the zity and throughout the
Lowcsuntry.5§

Sutvey Data: No rice millyg were surveyed, Thers ig said to have beon a sl south of Willtows {(zee #161.4) as late
as 1980, and the ruins of several mills are said o exist i the Santee River Belta, Summit Plantstion House, #128,
was built in 1819 at the site of anearlier ricemiil, A mill was moved from Tibwin Plantation, #5877, to the Ford
Husewur inMichigan 1n the 1930s.

Elil Whitney's cotiton gin was introduced in 1794. & fairly simple machine and
eagy to replicate, by 1802 it was a standard feature on farms and plantations
throughout the south. United States cottoen production increased from 3,800
bales in 17%0 to nearly 50,000 bales in 1800. Within the next year it doubled
to 100,000 bales.®0

Bea Igland cotton, with fiber twice as long as that of upland or snort-staple
cotton, brought a price up to six times as high. In 1788 Mrs. Kinsey Burden,
using seed from the West Indies, raised a successgful crop on Little Britton
Island. fThe Burden family had a very profitable c¢rop with their selected seed
gtrains., They also ploneered the special gin required for long-staple cotton.
By 1801 Sea Island cotton comprised 20% of the entire Urited States
production. The crop demanded heavy soll additives, and planters discovered
the value of salt mud and sedge, crushed oyster shells and ground cotton seed
ag compost.®!

Large holdings of land and slaves held practical advantages for staple-crop
planters, providing flexibility to cope with seasonal, olimate, and health
projlems. The profitability of rice and <cotvton increased the demand for
slaves in the areas where those crops could be grown., From 1804 to 1808, at
leagt 200 ships unloaded upwards of 40,000 black slaves at Charleston. Even
after legiaslation in 1808 prehibited further importation of slaves inte the
Inited States, slaveholdings in Charleston County continued to lpcrease, with
many slaves being purchased from states to the north. &

The first Census of the United Btates, taken in 1790, listed 249,073 residents
in South Carclina. The twelve parishes of Charleston District had a tobal
population of 66,985 {(about 50,000 cutside the Clty of Charleston). 7% of
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the district’'s population was black, almost all of them slaves. Through 1830,
census flgures show the percentage of Charleston County’s population that was
Black remaining fairly stable at between 77 and 78%. Hearby counties that
grew neither rice nor long-staple cotton never had populations more than fifty
percent slave.®

Census data from 1790 show regional differences in slave holding within
Charleston County. In 8t. Johns, Colleton, Parish, where cotton plantations
ware predominant, there were 585 white, over 4700 slaves, 17 "mulattoes and
free” and 23 free persons attached to white households. Five percent of white
households had no slaves; 32% (55) had ten or fewer. £3% of the total owned
more than ten slaves., Of these, sixteen planters (9% of total) owned between
50~100; and four (2%) over 100. ({By 1810 there were 7127 slaves in 8t. Johns,
Colleton, Parish.)

in 8t. Pauls Parish, with both cotton and rice agriculture, there were 57
white households and fifteen free persons of coolor. Az in 8t. Johns,
Colleton, 5% (three households) owned no slaves; 26% owned fewer than ten.
68% of the total owned more than ten slaves. Of these, nine planters (15% of
total} owned between 50-100, and 7 (12%) over 100.

8t. Andrews Parish, including James Island, alsc had a mixed agriculture.
There were 123 white households and 31 free people of celor. Roughly the same
proportion {(4%) as in St. Johns, Colleton, and St. Pauls owned no slaves. 28%
(35) owned fewer than ten slaves. 4% of the total owned more than ten
slaves, 4 planters owning between 50-100. ks in 8t. Johns, Colleteon, three
planters (2%) had over one hundred.

In Christ Church Parish, 127 white households and one free woman of color were
counted. A much larger proportion (20%) of households had no slaves, and 41%
{52) owned fewer than ten. Only 38% of the total owned more than ten slaves,
nine (7% of total) held between 50-100, and two held more than one hundred.
Even in this area where a majority of whites owned few slaves, 80% of white
households had at least one slave in 1790.%4

This overview o0f parish-level census data indicates the response to wvaryving
transportation, agricultural and commercial opportunities 1in Charleston
County. However, only S$t. Pauls Parish lies fully within the boundaries of
the present project., In Charleston County, James Island (St. Andrews Parish)
and Johns Island (S5t. Johns, Colleton) and much of Christ Church Parish (Mount
Pleasant and Sullivan’s Island) have previously been surveyed. Part of St.
James, Santee, Parish and most of 8t. Thomas and 8t. Denis Parish are in
today's Berkeley County.

Plantation Houses

Among the elite, the pattern of dual residency established before the American
Revolution lasted throughout the antebellum period. Gabriel Manigault is
credited with bringing the Adamesgque style to Scouth Carclina; but the Pinckney
family were also devotees of the architecture of the Adam brothers. During an
extended stay in England, the Charles and Eliza Lucas Pinckney family lived
near Hampton, actor David Garrick’s villa on the Thames, to which architect
Robert Adam had affixed a portico in his distinctive style. Between 1790-91,
Hampton Plantation House, home of the Pinckney’s daughter Harriott P. Horry,
was enlarged, and a portico remarkably similar to that at Garrick’s Hampton
was added. Near Hampton, Harriott Pinckney Horry had Harrietta Plantation
built in 1797 for her daughter Harriott H. Rutledge.®
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Charies and Billza’s son Thomas Pinckney spant most of his youth in Burope. Ia
1797 he wmarried Prances Holbte. Thelr Adamesgues style Charlesiton house (14
Gecrge Strest) has polygonal projections front and back, and frieze detalling
similar to that at Hampton. Pinckney is oredited with the design of ElL
Dorado, which stood on the Bouth Bantee below Falrfield and Harriettd., Begun
im 1797, Bl Dorado had a portico with slender columns simllar to those at
Harrietta and Falrfield and & main block with twin wings, bul was bullt with
considerably less elegance than the town house on George Street.®

A member of a prominent New York family, Colonel Lewis HMorris served in the
Loweountey during the Revolutliopnary War, and married plantatlion heliress Anne
Barnett Elliott. In 17%% they purchased a fine Georgian town houge (34
Meeting #Street), residence of South Carolina’s last colonial governor. The
Gecrglian style was passing out of fashion when Horris acguired the house;
Thomas Pinckney’'s town house could have inspired the plan of the Morrises® c¢a.
1807 plantation house on the South Bdiste Hiver in St. Pauls Parish. With its
polygonal zoom, Mount Hope wae guite shbylish when builn .67

The Seabrooks had planted on the Sea Islands since the early colonial psriod
and were notable builders. Apout 1810 William Seabrook bullt a "mansion
house" on his cotton plantation. HNearby Oak Island, in & style reminiascent of
this residence, was bullt about 1830 by William Seabrook the younger and his
wife Martha Bdings. Casgind Point was constructed for William Seabrook’s
daughter Carolina Lafayette and hey husband Jameg Hopkingon. Members of the
seabrook family are alse sald te have remodeled Edisto Island’s Old House.%®

SURVEY DATA: As noted previousiy, the residences of the wenlthiest tevel of society are the historic resources that
are mast likely to remain. See VanderHorst House, #1537, Hampton, #058, Barrietts, #0860, Fairfisld, #044, Mount Hope,
#1413, Willianm Sesbrook House, #116, Oak Island, #0097, Cassing Point, #0026, snd Old House #92. See also Sumnit
fiantation House, ¥128, Srockiands, ¥I23, Prospect HilL, #101, Crawford’s, #305, and Tibuin, #577. Hore of these
ptantations retain cohesive integrity within the entire complex: typically the principal residernce, surrounding
grounds and water views, and ab entry avenue remain. At & few the location of some slave quarters is definitely
krown; at even fesier have the locations of functional buiidings or structures such as wells and animat pens been
identified,

Religion

The Church of England was weakened after the Amerisan Revolution, as many
Anglicans had left South Carclina. Dissenters, led by Baptist clergy, united
in a petition to the Assembly to completely separate church and state, and in
1780 South Carclina’™s constitution ahbolished the astablished church
altogether. The Anglican Church was transformed into the Protestant Episcopal
Church.%

While Charleston County’s white elite continued mainly to attend the Episcopal
and Presbyterian churches, other denominations, particularly Baptist and
Methodist, began to attract converts. The independent nature of the Baptist
Church made it possible for black Baptists to organize and ordaln ministers,
and the first geparate black Baptist congregation in Scouth Carolinge was
astablished about 1775 by a slave in Aiken County. Between 1787 and 1828
Baptist preacher Richard Furman, a native of Daniel Island, was active in
Charleston County. The Baptist Chureh did not, however, grow as strong in the
Loweountry as in other areas of the state: in 1790 of forty-four churches in
South Carolina, only five, with total membership of 507, were in the
mecaunﬁxy.?ﬁ
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The earlisst Methodist preschers to wvisit EZouth Carolina nad found the
angliean Church firmly entrenched, but after the American Hevolublon there was
a place for the new dencmination, and it developed rapidly. Inn 1787 there
were 2,070 white and 141 black Methodists in South Carolina and Georgia; by
1796 this had risen to 3,583 {24% of them black) in South Carolina alone. In
1808 two missionaries were assigned o cover the Lowoountry from the Santes
River to the Savannah River, preaching to white amd blacks. Camp meetings,
which developed as itinerant preachesrs set up camp at cenbtral locations for

several dayvs of preaching, were tremendously p&pularvﬁ

A early as 1701 the Anglican Society for the Propogation of the Gospsl had
begun miggicnary work among slaves and Native Americans. In 1712 an Act made
it lawful for slaves in South Carclinag to be baptised as Christians, but there
ware continuing disputes among whites as to the nature that slave worship
should take. During the early 1800m, legislation restricting black religious
assemblies had the effect of keeping slaves in the established white
denominations, rather than in independent black sects such as the African
Methodist Episcopal Church (begun in 1787).7¢

Survey Data: See Hepzibabh J. Townsend’s Tabby OvenRuins, ¥131, and Edisto 1sland Baptist Church, #0440,
Tranaportation and New Setitlements

Land and water transportation routes have been continucusly improved in rural
areas of Charleston County. The success of churches, as well as commercial
enterprises such as taverns and stores, relied on road, bridgs, and ferry
connections. In 1798 Andrew Hibben developed Hibben's Ferry at today’s Mount
Pleasant. A few years later James Hibbhen purchased Mount Pleasant Plantation,
near the ferry, and had it surveyed and divided inte 35 trasts. The village
became a significant commercial and gervice area for the residents of Christ
church Parish.”?

SURVEY DATA: See Sesbrook’s Bridge, #0995, and nearby Osk Grove House #1964, said to have been used as a tavern.
Hepribah J. Townsend!' s Tabby Oven, #131, was st Frampton’s Inler, #195.01.

In general, because of the role playved by the City of <Charleston in the
plantation economy of Charleston County, there were few independent villages.
Summer villages were the exception, and their development was motivated not by
commerce but by residential comfort. Buring the humid summer months, South
Carclina plantations exposed thelr residents to "summer fevers.” Ro one hknew
that malaria and yellow fever were carried by mosquitoces, which especially
flourished while rice grew in fields of stagnant wakter. However, well drained
pineland areas, or the seashore with its prevalling ocean breeze, were known
to be relatively healthy. After abouwt 1720 planters built summer homes in
areas free of “"miasmas” or “bhad airs,” glustering in pineland wvillages ox
along saltwater beaches .,

The esarliest settlers had attempted to control the spread of epidemic disesase

through establlishing quarantine sgtations, These buildings, and sometimes
ships at anchor, held free persons as well &5 slaves who were thought to
present a risk of spreading digease. An Act of 1707 called f{or what was

probably the first “pest house,” or lazaretts, on Sullivan's Island. Close o
Charleston, but physically removed from the populstion center, the island was
a convenient guarantine site, Sullivan's Island was appropriated toc the state
for public purpeses (defense and quarantine} in 1787, but by 1791 those who
found it "beneficial to their health” to reside on the island were permitted
to do so, and it developed as a summer village.D
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Un Bdisto Ialand, planters began to rent ot and build summer cottages along
the oeean beach ab Bdingsville. A causeway across the marsh made the village
convenisnt for the planters to vielt their filelds perlodically. There wasg
aleo an early suvmer village known as Cedar Island in the Santee River delta,
logt to the hurricane of 183376

SURVEY PATA: Early supmer village houses of the elivte were much simpler in their plan and detailing than their

principsl city or plantationhouses. Edingsville was largely abandoned after the Civil Wer, and demaged by hurricane
irn the 18705, A few buildings were moved to interior areas of Edisto Istend (Batley®s Store, 003, appears tobe a

typical exsmple of Edinguville architectured before the hurricare of 18973 effectively dantesyved Edingsvil le Beach.

See also Edingsviile Beach Road, #3831, The summer villages in the project ares, Rockville, Adams Run, ang
Hetielianville, were established Later, sndare trested ina later seetion.

ANTEBRELLUY PERIOD, 1820-1560
Transportation

Trangportation develaopmentg ln Charleston County during the antebsllum period
reflect a national interest in improving freight and passenger shipping. The
first steamshlip appeared in Charleston Harbor in 1818, in 1843 Congress
avthorized Ythe bullding of lighthouses, light vessels, and beacons...”
Lighthouges were bullt near Mcllellanville and Cape Romain, and the Morris
ITsland lighthouse at Charleston Harbor was replaced by a tower with a
revolving lamp. Robert Mills surveyed all of South Carolina for his Atlas of
1826, paying special attention to reads and landings, and recommending a
number ©f canal projects: water shiprent remained the most economical way to
move goods over long distances.’’

By 1829 bridges and causeways had been completed along the entire 110-nile
route of the v"State Highway" from Charleston to Columbia, In much of the
Lowcountry, characterized by large land aress separated by water, vroads that
led to ferries or bridges were heavily used. William Seabrook s Edisto Island
Ferry Company linked the Sea lslands to each other and +te Charleston.
Steamboat Landing Road connected Edisto Island’s maln interior route to the
landing adijacent to Seabrook’s plantation. By 1824 Wadmalaw Island’s Maybank
Highway was referred to as the "High Road to Rock Landing," Seabrook's ferry
landing at Rockville.’®

Shore to shore ferries across rivers were improved as well. The HMount
Pleasant Ferry Company operated steamships across the Cooper River between
Charieston and Mount Fleasant, and up the Wando and Cooper Rivers. About 1826
a ferry was established from Little Edisto to the "Borough" neighborhood of
Edisto Island. Botany Bay Road linked the public landing at the scuth side of
the island to the main road.’”

SURVEY DATA: The Cape Romain Lighthouses are within the Cape Ramaln National ¥ildlife Refuge. The present Horrils
Isiand lighthouse was built in 1876, On Ediste Island are Botany Bay Roasd, #349, Steamboat Landing, #1142, and
Steamboat Landirg Road, #3534, and today’s Highway 174, #329. On wadmmiaw islerd see Rock Landing, #155.%, ard
Haybank Highway, #2754,

Inland producers found watser shipment preferable to the long overland haul to
Charleston. After the demise of the State Canal, western South Carslina
cotton was shipped down the Savannah River to Georgia's port, rather than by
road to Charleston Harbor, and the city entered a commercial depression. In
1830 the Scuth Caroclina Canal and Rail Road Company, led by planter/cotton
merchant William Aiken, was established, its goal to regain the upcountry
cotton trade for Charleston. In 1833 the line was complsted from Charleston’s
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Meck to the Savannah River opposite Augusta. Thiz first rallrosd had an
immediate lmpact on shippérs and commercial interests in peninsular Charleston
and the Neck.®™

Charleston s economy revived with the renewsd gotton export trade, and between
1850 and 1860 rall trasckagse in South Carcline incressed from Z8% to 988 miles.
Farmers and others along raill lines obtained contracis to provide flrewood at
designated points. In 1857 the Charleston and Savannah Railroad surveyed a
100-mile line between 5t. Andrews Station and Savannah. Completed in 18560,
the rail line ran southwest from Charleston, with statlions at today’'s
Rantowles, Ravensl, Osborne, and Parkers Ferry. In 1881 & bridge was bullt
aver the Ashley River to connest the line to the Charleston peninsula.  The
owners 0f the land arcund the Ravenel's Station had drawn up 2 plan for a town
of 182 half-acre lots, but development of Ravenel and other depot communities
was interrupted by the Civil war,®!

SURVEY BATA: Todey's community of Parkers ferry is {ocated ot the point where the ratlvey crosses Parkers ferry
Road, #5620, which extends from Wilitewn Road to vhe site of Parkers Ferry. The ferry crossed the Fdiste River
between Yoday’s Borchestar and Dol leton counties, north of present -day Char leston County.,

Agriculture and the Plantation Eoonomy

A scuthern plantation is often described az & self-sufficient community. This
is not entirely accurate in the case of the staple-crop planters of Charleston
County, who were heavily reliant on the purchase of manufactured goods and
even food. The City of cCharleston, a market for commodities from food to
building materials, was also the export-import center for & large area.
Indigo, rice and cotton had wstablished the pattern of growing for export
rather than home consumption, a pattern that continued intc the twentieth
century. While middle and upstate farmas grew food for home, slave and market
consumption, some Lowcountry plantations even imported ymrkﬁaz

Tidal field rice and Sea Island cotton cultivation methods were clearly
defined, requiring large forces of carefully trained, disciplined and
supervised workers. Although most slaves were used as field hands, others
were engaged in domestic sgservice and skilled trades. The “"task" system used
on coagtal South Carclina plantations waeg unlike “gang™ labor in that it
defined the work to be dons each day by each slave. Time after the "task” was
completed was the slaves’ own; what they could grow in this free time was
thelr own, to be eaten, sold, or traded.®

The steam engine, already in use for milling riece, led to a few other

manufacturing enterprises in Charleston County. Turpentine distilling and
steam sawmilling increased, bhut during the antebellum pericd in general,
interest in manufacturing declined in the Lowcountyy. Bgriculture wag

profitable, and plantation ownership remained =socially desirable. During the
18208 the South Carolina Agricultural Society and parlsh-based groups offered
prizes for “any new method of cultivation or fertilizer”™ that ilmproved rice
and ootton yields. while fulltime planters continusd to invest in olity real
estate during the 1820s and 1830s, about one~fifth of Charvleston’s wmador
merchants and factors invested in plantations.®

Land on the Ssa Islands became the most wvaluable in the state. In 1860, the
average wvalue of a plantation on Johns Island wasg §17,075., compared with
average wvalues of §57,714. in Christ cChurch Parish, where along Wando Creek
neither rice nor cotton grew well.®  wWithout extensive drainage, swampy
areas, inciuding Blg Wambaw, Little Wambaw and I'On (Iron)} swamps in 8t.
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James, Santee, Parish; Bear Swamp in St. Andrews Parish; Caw Caw and Dravton
gwamps Lt Bt., Pauls Parish, were aleo diffiecult to farm.

Cotton

Higtorian Theodore Rogengarten has outlined two distinct “golden age™ periods
for Bea Isgland cotton: 1800~1819 and 1848-1861. From a high in 1805, Sea
Igsland cotton production fluctuated with the market, and crashed in 1819,
During the 1840s, when upcountry ootten had especially poor years, many
backeountry planters and thelr slaves left South Carolins pursuing fresh lands
further west. The general economic depression lasted until the late 1840s when
cotton prices rose agaln. Aided by skilled slaves, planters developed new
agricultural procssges and seed strains.5®

In 1850 South Carclina produced thirteen percent ({310,000 bales) of the
nation's cotton. As many planters put all their arable land into cotton, the
state’'s production increased to 350,000 bales In 1860. Prices continued an
upward climb through 1881, with an enormous increase following the bombardment
of Fort Sumter.5’

Rice

In 1850 South Carclina produced 160 million pounds of rice, almost thres-
quarters ©f the nation’'s total. Most of this rice was grown in Charleston
(inciuding today’'s Berkeley), Beaufort, Georgetown, and Colleton counties.
The upper reaches of the South Edisto River, Toogoodoo Creek, the east branch
of the Cooper River, and both sides of the South Santee River were ideal for
tidal rice cultivation.88

Governor William Aiken’'s Jehossee Island was a "rice plantation which for
extent, excellent management and productiveness, is not surpassed by any other
within the state.” The main c¢anal, four miles long, six feet deep, and 22°
broad, connected the South Edisto River with Watts Cut. Irrigation canals
crossed at right angles to the main canal, and there were seventeen masonry
locks. Between 1850 and 1860 Aiken increased his rice land at Jehossee,
reducing the amount of land used for milk cattle, sweet potatoes and corn.
This concentration of land and human resources on rice was rewarded by
production of 1,500,000 pounds in 1860.89

SURVEY DATA: In addition to the residences cited in the preceding section, surviving plantaticon houses include The
Wedge, #1392, The Grove, #0537, Frogmore, #054, Peter’s Point, #097, Windsor, #142, andMiddleton’s, #093.

Trees, gardens, and other plantings were part of plantation layout, Oaks were often in avenues of two rows, along a
straight main entry drive. Notable avenues remain at such sites as Windsor, #142, Tibwin, #577.02, Ashiey Hall,
#004, Brick House, #022, Selkirk, #294, Encampment #734.1, Dixie, #509, and Oak Lawn, #394.

See Morrison’s Canal at site of Laurel Hill, #07%; and remriants of cotton field engineering at #2506 and #294.

Occupaticonal Statistics

In 1850, South Carclina had a ratic of 41% white, 58% slave, and only 1% free
blacks. The ratio in the twelve parishes that made up the Charleston District
was slightly different: 33.8% white, 60.9% slave, and 5.3% free "colored."%0
Census data reflect agricultural and occupational wvariations among the
parishes of Charleston County. Even discounting for the variationg in
different census takers’ reporting as to “planter™ or “farmer," the variation
in occupations among the parishes, different in agricultural, commercial, and
transportation opportunities, is clear,.
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In 1850, 137 white households were counted in 5t. Johng, Qollseton, Parish.
Among their members were 87 planters, 13 overseers, 16 physiclans; 3
Brlacksmithe, 2 laborers, 7 carpenters, 3 alerks, 7 clergymen, 5 storehkespers,
and 2 szeamen. There were no “farsers,” and it is obvious from the white
secupations that most skilled labor on these lslands was done by the 10,332
siaves {an averagse of 7% per white hougehold). There were 104 farmes and
plantations. Mearly #11 {97} of thesm grew oobtton; theére were twenbty rice
producers. Only three cotton growers (3% had made less than ten bales tha
préeviocus year; about oné-third produced betwoen 10 and 19 bales. Fourteen
{13%) of the plantations produced more than 70 bales each, eight of them more
than 100 bales. As in other parishes, some planters producsd both cotton and
rice, but the rice producers mostly reported amounts under 3,000 pounds. Only
three planters produced more than 50,000 pounds of rice, including William
Biken with B30, 000.

In 8t. Pauls Parlsh, there were 20% white hougeholds in 1850, and 4,692 slaves
{22 per white householdsy. Only about half {3101} ths whites reported
agricultural produaction. In &addition to planters, there were a numbsyr of
farmers and drovers. The importance of timbering is seen in cccupations such
as “shingle gstter,” “turpentine getter,” wheelwright, and coocper. Of the 99
planters reporting improved acreage in 1850, 46 produced cotton and 59 graw
rice. In contyast to 8t. Johns, Colleton, 37% (17} of the cotton growsrs (rew
le=ss than ten bales. 8ix planters in the parish produced more than 30 bales,
including William BElliott, who reported 60 hales of cotton and 288,000 pounds
of rice. Although 54% (32) of the rice planters had grown less than 10,000
pounds, 33% (20) produced over 50,000 pounds (6 of them over 500,0003.

In 1850 St. Andrews Parish, including James and Folly islands, reported 88
white households, and 2,912 slaves (33 per white household)y. There were 317
planters and 5 farmers; 4 physiclan/placters, and % physiclans, as well as 2
mechanic/farmers and 1 mechanic; 1 carpenter/planter and 1 carpenter; ona
mariner ang one hunter. Qf the four "laborers,” three were from Ireland, as
was the sgole "servant."” 21 agricultural operators had no improved acreage,
several of them keeping significant numbers of livestock. O©Of the 3% growers
reporting cotton production, nearly half of them made less than ten bales.
onliy 17% (& planters) reported producing more than thirty bales. The 18 rice
producers also grew moderate amounts. Only ons produced less than 10,000
pounds, and only four produced over 50,000 pounds.

In 3t. James, Santee, Parish in 18350 there were 77 households, reporting 36
farmers, 11 overseers, and only 18 planters; but 2,931 slaves (38 per white
household) were reported in the parish. In Christ Church Paxish, with 2,772
slaves total, there 113 households (excluding Sullivan’s Island) outside the
town of Mount Pleasant. There were 50 wplanters, 22 farmers, and three
overgeers; six mechanics, six carpenters, and four oystermen.?

SURVEY DATA: No antebellum farmhouses or homes of timber and Livestock operatives have been identi¥ied in the survey
area. Thres structures, atl substantially altered, were identifiasd as overseers’ houses: at Rockiandg, #1886, snd
Fairview, #662; arula hunting lodge on Jehosses [sland, not visited during field work.

Siave rows remsin 2t Svone Hall, #016, ardd Moleod #059, plantations, both outside the survey project boundaries.
Single slavecabins were identified on Ediste Islang: #0908, #311.1, #377 (where there is aiso s double cabin} andg
#378. Untike the more substantial houses of white overseers, slave cabins that remain have less commonty been
aitersd for later generations; most are unused today, Chimneys remsin from siave cabing in various zreas of
Charieston County, inciuding Bleak Hall, #017, and Hampton #lantation, #128. & row of chimmy remrants is visible at
Red House, #2464, anuadmaiaw Istand,
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Summar Villages

The usge of summer villages contimued through the antebellum period. In 1828
william Zeabrook acguired ¢ 54% ascre trach on Wadmalaw and egtablished a
landing at Rockville for his Bdisto Island Parry Company. HRochville waeg laid
out regularly, with moat of the houses facing south toward Bohicket Cresk,
connected by paryow roadways and paths. The regular lots, closely spaced
housesn, and two summer chapels {(without churchvard cemeteries) make it clear
that the village was intended for residential use: except the landing and
associated tavern houss, no provision appears to have been nade for commerce
of any kind. The logs of the riverside road to the hurricane of 18%3 gave the
village its present appearance, with houses at the water's sdge.™

Adams PRun developed as a summer retreatr for planters on the South Edisto
River. Unlike other summer villages in Charleston County, 1t was located not
on szalt water, but on high ground convenient to the rice plantations of &8t
Paulg Parish. William Wilkinson, whose home was at Summit Plantation, built a
summey houge in about 1830, and began renting lots nearby to other plantsers.
kg early as 1832 George W. Morris of The Grove Plantation had begun leasing a
lot. Because only the houses in Adams Run, and not the lots, were owned by
the planters who built them, few of them werse oocupled after the Civil War.
Many of the lots ware sold during the 1870s and 18B0s to satisfy debts. Host
of t%g residences in today’s BAdame Run were built between about 1880 and
1940,

Rrchibald MeClellan began the sunmer village of MetClellanville when he mold
three waterfront lots on his plantation. In 18%8 R. T. Morrison of Laurel
Hill bought the adjacent Jeremy's Plantation, and he and HcClellan soon
cooperated to lay out and sell waterfront lots. In 18359 an ecumenical church
and a three-month school were established, but by 1860 there were only six
houses at MeClellanville. The village was re-established as a full-time
fighing wvilimge, planter’'s retreat, and commercial center after the Clvil War,
and the typlcal architecture of Hellellanville i3 generslly late-nineteenth
century.?

survey batar lLegareville, a fairly targe summer village on Johns Island, was destroyed by fire in 1864, Three summer
houses rematn in the Secessionville Historio Bistrict onJdames Island,

It the Village of Rockville National Register Historic Digtrict, #4350104, individual praperties at Rockville were
surveyed as #1453 to 17%, At Adams Run, the wilkinson-Boineau House, #643, a full two-story house on a raised
basement with a one-story porch across the facade, appears to be the only antebelium house with integrity. In the
Mcltetlanville Nationsl Register Historio District, #3260075 , individual properties ware surveved as #401- #478,

Churches

Separate churches managed by blacks provided an opportunity for slaves to
develop an independent social and organizational life, but they also had the
potential to foster revolt. After Denmark Vesey’s Charleston plot in 1822
there were severe restrictions on separate black churches. Planters relied on
missionaries from the Presbyterian, Baptist and Methodist churches to organize
ﬁl&ve95wcrship, and the sglave membership in these denominations began to
grow.

There was growth in Episcopalian churches as well. Im 1818 35t. John’'s,
Colleton, Parish Church had one black communicant; in 18%4 there were 375, As
churches became overcorowded, separate gervices were often held for the slaves,
who were nonetheless full members of the white church. Despite the high
propertion cof slaves in some Lowcountry Presbyterian and Episcopalian

30



churches, geperally the Methodist and Baptlst churches in the scuth attractad
the largest numbers. The Southern Presbyterian Church had fewey than 8000
black members in 1860.%

Plantation missions intensified during the 1830z, Slave chapels were built on
a few plantations; otherwise existing bulldings, or simple brush arbors, wers
umed. There were also some chapels bullt for slaves from several plantations
to worshilp jointly, such as Zion Chapel on Wadmalaw Island and at least threes
chapels in £t., Andrews Parish. ceessibility for the prescher to the alave
songregagations was dn important consideration. Robert Mille® aAtlas of 18235
shows the "HE Parsonage® on Edisto Island adiacent £0 the ferry Eaﬁding,g?

After 1836 the Methodist Church stepped away from active abolitionism, and its
white membership increased rapidly. In South Carolina thelr number multiplied
from 2,406 in 1838 to 31,%00 in 1844; black membership also grew during those
years, bub more slowly, from 23,498 to 37,9852, Between 1837 and 184%, schisms
in  Protestant denominations reflected natlonal tenzilons  over  slavery.
Separate gouthern Methodist, Baptist and Presbyierian churches were formed.
The Methodiast Episcopal Church split in 1844, with the formation of thse
Methodist Eplscopal Chureh ({South}. Scuthern HMethodistg continued their
missionary programs to slaves, and at the beginning of the Civil War, black
memnbers were still a slight maﬁoriﬁy.9$

The Southern Baptist Convention met for the first time in 184%, with mors
black communicants, preachers and churches than any other denomination. The
Baptist Church was strong in rural 5t. Pauls Parish, with Stono and SBauldam
both being organized in the early 1840s. &tono Baptist had a marked upturn in
membership between 1855-58.%°

SURVEY DATA: Some churches from this pericd have lsrge interior balconies where black communicants sat: see Bdisto
Baptist Church, #0411, arei Edisto Presbyterian Church, #14%. Calvary AME Cemetery, #3081, on Edisto, is at the site of
Calvary Hethodist., Ses slsoZionlhapel, #222, centrally {ooated on Wadnalaw Isiand; Sauidan Baptiat Church, #504;

andd Stono Baptist Church, #4506,
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CIVIL WAR. 1860-188%

Far decadss, politiciang of South Carolinz nhad guarreliled with the natlonal
government over tariffs, which protected Horthern industyry o the disadvantage
aof the agrarian south. The guarrel deepensd with the ldeclogicsl dispuie over
plavery and states’ vights. After the Compromise of 1850 war wag inevitable.
South Carclina seceded in December 1860, and troops fired on the Union-held
Fort Bumter in April 1861. e protect the approaches to Charleston, the
tonfederates constructed defenses throughout Charleston County. !0

In Hovember 1861 Union ships appeared In Port Roval Harbor, and the Sea
Talands north from Bessufort were ordered evacuated during the winter 1861-62
a8 being indefensible. Forced to abandon houses, churches and cropg, planters
joined the military or left with theilr families for the interior of the state,
leaving many slaves behind. Igclated familiss in other exposed areas alsoc
departed for safer areas. V!

Throughout the Loweountry, Unicn and Confederate troops used bulldings,
livestock and c¢rops as they found them, With no hills to provide wvantage
points, steeples and high buildings provided lookout and signal stations.
Horses and troops were guartered iLn Churchés, barns and houses. Land batiles
in Charleston County mostly took place on Johns Island and James Island., In
early 1863 a Union fleet arrived at Charleston, landing troops on Folly
Island. Hy summer they had taken Morris Island, instated a tight blockade of
Charleston Harbor, and begun besieging the city. Charleston did not surrender
until 1B&S. Although Sherman’s march across the state did not come through
Charieston County, Peaderal troops raided and pillaged Lowcountry plantations.
Particulariy along the Ashley River, there was much deliberate destruction. 182

Evacuating whites left instructions for their slaves, but not all obeved, and
many escaped. As the Federal government tried to bring order to the 15,000
blacks living on the Sea Islanda, Forfelture Acts provided confiscated land
for them to begin farming. As early as 1862 some of the tracts were sold to
their black coperators. The Emancipation Proclamation (January 1, 1883} freed
about 400,000 s.iaves in South <arolina, Bome  remained on  their home
plantations; some went to cities and towns; some Joined the Union Army; and
gsome formed bands of camp fellowers.  General William T. Sherman‘s Special
Field Order Number 1%, in January 1865, designated the entire S8Sea Island
region, from Charleston south to Florida, for black settlement. Freedmen from
the interior of the state joined those already on the islands. The Preedmen’s
Bureau was established in March 1865 to improve their living conditions. 'O |

Mary Ames and Emily Bliss appear to have been typical Freedmen's Bureau
teachers. Salling from New ¥York in May 1865, they traveled to Charleston from
Hilton Head, then fto Edisto Island where they reported o camp on “the
plantation formerly ownad by William Seabrook.” The next day they settled in
a4 plantation house, and taught nearly one hundred students at a nearby church.

When the Fresedmen’'s Bureau educational program ended in the summer of 1865,

Miss Ames and Miss Bliss returned Borth. %

Survey Data: On Edisto islend, Unfon oficers and soldiers quartered st {assina Foint, #026, Frogmore, #0154, Dek
isiand, #0887, and Windsor, #142, where a Large amount of setdiers? graffiti remains in the house.

Several of the summer houses at Adems Run were 108t during or Tomeddistely after the Civil War.

wilbiam Atken’s nouse at Jehossee Island was burned early Tn 1882 by Union troops; Peint farm Plantation house,
#270.02, was destroved by shelling from Federal gunboats in 1863, The Grove Plantation House, #0357, was shelled but
not destroved, Houses at Rurmeymede, #3861, Magnolis, #0779, and Vaucluse Plantation werg hurned, 8s was nearby
¥icddieton Place. William lzard Bull set fire tohis own Ashley Hall, #04, to save 1t from znemy destrustion,

35



#orriy 1otard Lighthouse ues destroved in 1861 by Confederate teoaps in an effore to prevent Undon forcest entry to
Charteston darbor, The Whooping [elend Ferry Uaumeway (soe #3073 (o Edisto Islard ond Bugby Bridas, #2462, between
Johng and Wadmalaw fslend, were destroved by esvacusting Confederates in TREY-AZ. In T8ES Confederatze troops
evgryat ing Charleston desreoyed the Ashiley Biver drawby idae.

RECONSTRUCTION AND THE END GF THE NINETEENTH CENTURY, 1865-1%00

After the physlcal losses to houses, farms, roads, and railwavs, the end of
the Civil War brought a complete disruption of the sconomy of Charlegton
County. Those who had invested in Confederate bonds and money found it
worthless, and the slave-bassd agriculibural system wag dead. Punitive clalms
by the federal govermment aggravated the physival losses of southern planters
and businessmen. When plantation owners were allowed to return to the Bea
Islande late in 1865, the Freedmen’s Bureau negetlated between them and groups
of black workers, ensuring that freedmen would be permitted to harvest the
crops they had planted, and negotlating labor contracts. The Reconstruction
hots of 1867 redefined political systems throughout the south. Radical
Reconatruction, led by Republicans, including many freedmen, dominated South
Carclina‘s government until 1877, By 1884 blacks had lost most of their
political power, and election laws of 1895 closed them ocub fully, 195

Phosgphatesy

The post-war phosphate industry in Charleston, Beaufort and Colleton countiss
was a major factor in the commercial recovery from the Civil War. The firvst
few thougand tons of phosphate produced in 1868 found a ready market in the uUs
and EBurope. Phosphate is mined from warl, deposits of calcified bones, vast
beds of which were found under land and streams in a thirty mile wide area
between Charleston and Port Rovyal. The South Caroclina Mining and
Hanufacturing Company and the Wando Phosphate Company were both established
before 1870. In addition to the economic impact of the mining industry, the
availability of phosphate also improved local crop yields.

Phosphate companies used trams and narrow-gauge rallways extensively, and also
built standard-gauge raillways and bridges te haul rock. Phosphate plants
employed the old elite in management and operations, and former slaves Ffound
mining an alternative to farming. In 18%2 political opposition to state
gsubsidies alonyg with new competition from Florida damaged the river mining
industry; the hurricane of 1893 took many plantsz cout of production. Phosphate
mining ceased altogether in 1911,

Survey Bata: Tram Lines cemain along the westers properties of Runneymede and Millbrook, £355, plantations. On the
southwest side of the Ashisy River Road, C. €. Pinckney mined phosphats deposits on Rupnevmede Plantation amnd built
the present house, ¥36T. tn 1885 Charles H. Draytonused profits fromUrayton Hall s (#039) ghosphate mines to build
an impressive house at 25 East 8attery inCharleston. Phosphate mining attered huge tracts of land, tong lines of
workers shovel ing of f topsoil across wide areas, leaving expanses of furrowed ground. See Phasphatetine Site, #3462,

Timber

Haval storee and lumber production had re-emerged as leading industries in the
1880’8, Productes such as turpentine, tar pitch and resin could be produced by
a Bingle person tending thirty to fifty pine trees, with little need for
slaves or hired employees. Using few laborers, these producers are sgaid to
have felt less impact from Emancipation than did crop farmers. 97 Larger
turpentine stills operated at Ravenel and MeClellanville, where there was a
resident labor supply.
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Turpentine distilling declined as board lumbsr companies began to compete for
longleaf pine trees. Lumber companles aoguired large aveas of abandoned

cropfields as well as depletad phosphate wmining land. The river gities of
Charleston, Gesvgetown and Conway pecame najor lumbsr milling and shipping
centers. Loggers found their best reeocurces in river swamps. They built

large mills near maln line rallroads apd at temporary mill camps desp in the
werods . The conpanies reused phosphate rall lines, and alse ran their own
track intc the woods., Rall lines were easy to lay, move and replace, and were
efficient for bringing logs or rough-sawn timber out of swamps and wetlang, 18

Survey Date: Tramlines remain throughout the Froncis Harion Mational Forest. Locations of nineteenth century
sawmi LLg are wel L-known throughout Charleston County; rohistoriemiil structures were identified during the survey.

Fishing

Small-acale commercial fishing reguires little invemtment except boats, nets
and labor. Therefore, many Lreedmen oould snter the fishing business.
Vendors sold figh at the docks, from wagons, or at retail fish markets,
needing neither storage buildings nor large quantities of ice. In 1880 94% of
the people identified as "fishermen" in Charleston were biack.'9

HoClellanville developsed as a fishing village, center of operations for
larger-scale white {and some black) fishermen, most of whom sold fish and
oysters directly to wholesalers at Georgetown or Charleston. In 18%3 the
Hailey-Lebby company of Charleston put a gasoline engine intoe service on H.T.
Morrison's freight boat between Charleston and MeClellanville, ong of the
earliest uses of gasoline-powered shipping in the county. McClellanville also
grew as the ocommercial center for the large area that was still not
conveniently accessible to Georgetown or Charleston. !

SURVEY DATA: Even large fishing operations needed only 2 dock or mooring, so there are few structurses asscoiated
with fin-fishing in Charleston County. See Griffen House, #300, See¥eliellanviite survey sites #4071 - #4758,

End of the Plantation System

The price of cotton scared as post-War demand increased, and Sea Island cotton
prought especially high prices to black and white planters. Successful cotton
planters focused on lmproved cultivation methods and fertilization, and some
built houses for tenant or laborers. A few substantial houses were builit or
rebuilt for the owners of revitalized cotton plantatiosns, but changing labor
systems had a profound impact on their production. In 1860 Wadmalaw Island
planter D. J. Townsend raised 140 bales, each 400 pounds, of ginned cotton; in
1870 he managed only eight 150-pound bales. On Edisto Island, Wiliiam J.
Whaley reduced his improved land from 800 acres in 1860 to 350 acras by 187C.
His cotton production declined freom 19,200 to 5,000 pounds. In 1878 Whaley
produced six bales of glnned cotton, '

SURVEY BaTA: Substantial plantation houses dating to this period include New Cut, #243, Wilson House at Sunny Point,
#272.2, arxd the 18271 manston at Stiles Point, James lslard (National Register, #126.) The uwhaley house st
Srawford' s, #305, was enlarged.

White planters organized to try teo manage the new agricultural economy. Thelr
plantation commissaries served tenant farmers and wage laborars. Commercial
ginneries were established convenient to water or rail shipping routes
throughout Charleston County.1'?  pespite reduced produstion, cotton planting
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dominsted the agriculiture of most farmers through the remainder of the
ninetesnth century.

SURVEY DATA: Only one gin building was surveysed, #1146, 1. This and three other gin structurss, on Yadmalae, Jomes and
Edisto/Raceoon isiands, have besn tdentified, all four slvered for residential use. Ses aleo Dmarissary at ¢id
House, SU92.1, and cotton bacn at Cypress Trees, #330.1.

Rice planting was greatly reduced. Rice was an  integral part of the
Lowcountyy diet, and f{reedmen as well as whites continued to grow small amount
for home consumpticn, and a few planters, such ag Bdward Barnwell in St. Pauls
Parish, rebullt cowmercial rice plantations. However, most planters could not
manage dikep and jrrigation canale without the skills of former slaves, and
were unable to compete with the wages offered by phosphate mining and
timbering., Property valuss declined: by 1883, the average valus of riceland
in the atate was about ten percent of ltg prewar pﬁiﬁé-“g

Charieston County alsoe suffersd several great natural disasters during the
Late nineteenth century. The “Great Cyclone” of August 25, 1885 blew down
buildings oon James and Sullivans ilglands. The earthquake of 1886 was felt
throughout the region. The hurricane of August 27, 18%3, flooded islands from
Hilton Head to Jokns Ysland, drowning 2,000 people,!l®

Hurricanes destroyved rice trunks and dikes, and flooded fields with salt
water. Because logging had expanded in the uplands and piledmont ¢f South
Carolina during the years before the Civil War, river basins were deforested
and subject to ervgion. Upstream flocding worsened the effect of storms and
spring freshets on the rice plantations of Charieston County. increasing
competition from Loulsiana, Arvkansas and Texas reduced prices for South
Carolina rice. Finally, a blight struck rice crops. Production at Harrietta,
the last large commercial rice plantation in South Carclina, ended in 1903.713

Survey Data: Praspect Hill, #009; HarriettaPlantation, #058,

The Rise of Black Landownership

Agriculiture on small farms was divided between c<otton and foodstuffs,
including rice, corn, vegetables, and livesteck for subsistence and as cash

CrOps. In Charleston County, the fishing, timber and phosphate industries
employed former slaves as laborers, although in rural areas most worked in

agriculture. #leld labor on the Sea Islands was almost all black. In
contrast to most of the South, and much of Bouth Carclina, sharecropping was
rayre in Charleston County. Intending to acguire their own land, £reedmen

avoided sharecropping and labor contracts. 116

Sometimes over the cpposition of their neighbors, white landowners sold all or
parts of many plantations to former slaves. In 1860 there were thirty-geven
farmg on Johns Island; in 1870 there were four hundred. In Christ Church
Parish, the number of farms increased from &1 in 1880 o 317 by 1870, The
first private sale o blacks was Woeodvillie Plantation, north of the Wande
River. In Dacember 1883 it was divided intos & to 18 acre farms, and 220
blacks bought and settled them. 1’

During the era of confiscation sales (1865-66) propsrties were subdivided by
Federal engineers, with more regard for ease of mapping than for existing
cultivation patterns. The result was a pattern of "rectangular strips bought,
combined and settlied by relatives... a gueer patchwork of obligue patches,
little three—cornered lots, and every now and then a plantation seld whole
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carried on still by the old land lines. " This pattern is alsc typical of

lands sold by private owners or state agencies, who retained surveyors to
gdivide tracts evenly.

South Carolina’s Reconstruction Jgovernment established a Land Commission teo
buy, subdivide, and sell plantations for resident farming. After 1877, the
Land Commission‘s sales were directed through the Sinking Fund Commission,
established to reduce state debt. The Sinking Fund preferred to sell land
only in large parcels, but some of its tracts were resold as small lots 119

#ichard Harvey Cain, an AME minister in Charleston and later a US Congressman,
began buying land along the Scouthern Railway line in agbout 1868, In 1871 he
bought a tract of 2000 acres ten miles north of Charlesten. Naming the
settlement Lincolnville, he divided it into two to ten avre plots to sell to
freedmen. The Town of Lincolnville was incorporated in 1889, 10

#ilacks established land-puying cooperatives in some South Carelina counties,
particularly Colleton and Charleston. On Edisto Island James Hutchinson,
cotton gin operator and chairman of the Republican Party precinct, organized
such a group. During the 18708 he acguired tracts and divided them into
twelve to twenty-acre parcels for sale to other blacks. Storekeeper and gin
owner John Thorn also subdivided plantation tracts, and was saild to he worth
as much as $20,000. by 1880,

Iin 1883 wmost black farmers on South Carcvlina s Sea Islandsg farmed “on their
own account.”™ B large number ownaed farms, and a still larger number rented
lands for cultivation. By 1900 42.8% of all black farmers in <Charleston
County owned their farms, versus 22.4% statewide. On the whole, although
there were many failures, due to bad lugk, poor managemsnt and outright
trickery, the combination of determined expectations, farming experience, and
generally fertile lands, resulted in overall success for Charleston County’s
new landowners.'??

SURVEY DATA: On Edisto Island are Hutchinson Houge, #0658, Whaley houges, #2927 and #2946, and Jones House, 3%, At
freedmen' s Village are Fhor . House, #293%, Sites #286 to #2900, arel #2905, (3ee also Laurel Bill, #¥344 and 345, and
Vinegar #ill, #3519 arxd 320.) On Wadmalaw see Grimball Rouse, #21&, and Harrison Tract, #17% to 181, #275; see also
#207, #213 and £357. In Christ Thurch Parish see #552, #5564, #574, #5755, and #578.

Transportation Improvements and Truck Farming

Vegetable {("truck") farming began to replace rice, and later cotton, in large
areas of Charleston County. Railvoads were critical te the development of the
truck farming economy of the Sea Islands and 8t. Pauls Parish. Two Charleston
County farmers, William €., Geraty of Yonges Island and Frank W. Towles of
Wadmalaw Island are credited with introducing truck farming in South Carolina.
In 1868 they began planting cabbages and Irish potatoes for shipment by water
to the New York market. After the Savannah and Charleston Rallroad resumed
aoperations in 18692, truck farmers switched teo rall ftransport. Potatoss soon
hecame a chief money crop in Charlesteon County. Other wvegstables wers alsc
grown Iin large guantities, especially after the development of refrigersted
{ice box} cars.’e

In 1882 r"sSea Island Cotton and Harket Froduce” ware being farmed on James
Island, "Truck and Fruit Parms® on Charleston’s Neck, and "Truck Farms and
Cotton® at the south =ide of the Wando River in Christ Churgh Parish,
Railroad companies assisted in financing tramlines found on many riverfront
farms by about 1880. These small-gauge tracks allowed a small sngine and cars
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e ladd produce direcily onto steamsrd and barges that connected with a rail
Cempany wharf, 194

In 1892 an lmportant new rall line was run gouth from Ravensl to Yonges
Island, where steamboats from Ediste and Wadmalaw islands brought produce snd
pasgsngers to the mainland., During the next few years & network of spur lines
linked crop fields and packing sheds along Chureh Flats, Toogondoo and Gibson
crecks to the rallway. Yonges Island developed az the shipping hub of a large
area, a role that was enhanced with the founding of the Stevensz Line in 1903,
The town of Meggett, located near the center of the trucking area, developed
as its commercial heart. Ravenel wag an important rall junction, and a town
began to devslop arcund its railroad track. 2>

Az a step toward rebullding the commercial ecottomy of the City of Charleston,
the U.5. Army Corps of Enginesrs began to improve Charleston Rarbor for desp-
draft steam vessels. In 1879 work began on jebties extending from Korrls
Igiand and Scllivan's Island, intended to keep the harbor’s channel clear. A
gtudy ip 1583 showed that the jettles, =still being constructed of stone and
riprap, were already working. The dettier withstood the hurricane of 1893,
and were finally completed in 1895, 146

Desplte the improvements to the harbor, rallircad companises generally did not
use Charleston Harbor to connect with ocean freighters. Southern Railway,
which operated on the original South Carclina Railway line onto Charleston’s
Neck, had its principal shipping terminal at Horfolk, and the vegetables grown
in the county were shipped north by train from local depots. For thiz reason,
and because many of its leaders were newcomers to the Lowcountry, the truck
farming industyy remained somewhat apart from Charleston’s commercial
aganomy,m?

SURVEY DATA: In 1878 nine miles of track were laid to connect the originel main {ine from Johns Island Station to
trestie, #364, acrose the Ashley River into today’s Korth Charleston. Farm traml ines were located on Wadmalaw 1slard
ar quiet Corner, #234; Gak Grove, #266; and Martins Point, #249. Other survey sites related to truck farming include
ACL7 Blitches Spur bridge site, #51%; Rose Hill Packing Shed, #658; and Stamn's Packing Shed, #385.1, The ACL Depots
at Adams Rum (Oshorne), Yonges [sland and Beggett were buiit betwsen 1900 and 1906, and are said to have resembied
Ravenel’s Depot, #5017, built in 1900,

“The Second Yankee Invasion”

South Carclina‘s poverty and low property values contributed to a soclial
phenomenon that lasted from the 18%0s and through the 1930s, the acguisition
of plantations by wealthy Northerners. Plantations throughout Colleton,
Jasper, Beaufort, Berkeley, Georgetown and Charleston counties were advertised
for sale in the Northeast.({By the 1940s the change in ownership of so many

plantations was referred to as & “second Yankse invasion, " 28 Drawn
especially by the duck hunting available in eld ricefields, the new owners
usad plantations as winter vacation retreats. They organized olubs, such as

the Santee Gun Club, to acguire and manage tracts of land for hunting. Unlike
vidal rice fields, former cotton plantations oould support other crops, and
contemporary writer Chalmers Murray considered that they were less often sold
for hunting preserves.'2?

The newcomers were especlally attracted by the plantation houses, "already
equipped with the charm of time."!30 ¥any houses were renovated or eniarged
to accommedats large parties, and guest gquarters and stables were added at
several, incliuding Harrietta, Tibwin and the William Seabrook Plantation. At
many estatesg, notable landscaping was ilncorporated into the complex, as with
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the gardens at FPenwick Hall and Wando Plantation. & few planters’ houses wers
demolished and replaced by residences more approprigte Ffor entertaining, such
as the present house at Boong Hall Plantation.

Hot only “Yankees™ acguired plantatioms duving this period. Near Awendaw,
Buck Hall Plantation was acgquired by & phygician from Augusta. The 3500-acve
Wande Plantation was sold to Beaufort native Henrietta Pollitzer Hartford.
Unllke many of the winter sporting retreats, Wando was a "refuge for wildlife,
allowing no hunting of any kind."'3!

Purchasers provided year-round smployment to some local workers, white and

klack, who lived in small communities on the plantations., New houses were
built for some employess while ohthers remained in the tenant or even slave
dwellings. Some plantations were used for agriculturse as well as pleasure.

By the mid-195%0s, many hunting properties had been converted into cattle
farms,13¢

SURVEY DATA: Scabrook Mansion, #1186, Boone Hatl, #0186, Fermick ¥all, #047, Harrietts, #060, Prospect BiGL, #009,
wodge, #139, wilitoun Blaff, #1431, Live Dak, #500, and Tibwin, #5877, are smong the plantations that wers used for
duckhunting or other winter recreatfon. The Santee Gun Club Lodge, #734, 15 on today’s Sontes Copstal Reserve. See
alzo Tayior House, 8475, st Molletlanvilie, and Thames House {Santes Home), 713,

Changing Residential and Religious Patterns

Small towns such as McClellanville, Adams Bun, and Ravenel developed asg
commercial and communication centers during the late nineteenth century.
8outh of Charleston, mall service relied heavily on railroads, and a post
wffice was opened at Ravenel Depot in 1888, By 1896 there were s5ix post
offices along the rail line between St. Andrews Station and the Edisto River,
including Rantowles, Ravensl, and Osborne. At Yonges Island was an important
pogt office that delivered mail by water to Edisto’s Steanmboat Landing and
also to Johng Island’'s three post cffices. North of Charleston, on the
Southern Rallway, there were three post offices in 1896, including one at
Lincolnville. In the area between the Cooper and South BSantee rivers, the
five post offices, including “Awenadaw™ and MeClellanville, relied upon
delivery by road and water from Charlieston.' No post office buildings from
this early pericd have been identified.

Churches were built in the developing towns: Rew Wappetaw Presbyterian in
HeQlellanville by 1877, Ravenel Methodist Church in about 1885, and Christ
Episcopal Church at Adams Run in 1887. Many of the new truck farmers and
thelr laborers were northerners, and a Roman Catholic Church, unusual in the
rural Lowocountry, was built at Yonges Island in 1895, HeClellanville
dedicated a new cemetery in 1873, In keeping with the national trend toward
suburban or garden cemeteries, it was outside the village proper, &t the
opposite bank of Jegremy Cressk.

In lightly settled sreas, the white churches that continued to thrive were
those that were on good roads, and were mostly Baptist or Methodist. on
Ediste, Wadmalaw and Johns islands, where no towns developed, the traditional
churches continued to be used; several were rebullt between the 1870s ({8t.
Johns and Trinity Episcopal churches), and the 1880s ({Grace Chapel at
Rockvilled.

The rise of land ownership among blacks was parallisled by the increasing
independence of their churches. Between 1866-189%, new churches formed
threough initistive, schisms, and missions, and blacks constructed buildings
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and estabished cemeteries on small parcels of laosd chroughowt Charleaton
County. They also gained possession of esarlier siave chapels and bulldings
that had been constructed for white or mixed congz%gahieng.iE@

In the spring of 1863 large numberd of AME missionaries began to come into

South Caroling, and BME membership grew rapldly. {The AME Zion also
flourished ia Socouth Carelina, although few AMEZ churches were organized in
Charleston County.) The northern Methodist Churceh continued its missionary

work in the scuth, and in 1868 sstablished separate black Methodist Eplscopal
conferences. As black Methodists in South Carclina joinsd separate churches
or  other depominations, between 1861 and 1870 thelr membership in the
Hethodist Church, South, foll from 48,600 to only about 28,000, In 1871, the
church encouraged its last black members to form the Colored Hethodist
Episcopal {(Christian Methodist Episcopal}y Church. By that btime, with only 66D
black South Carolinians remaining in the Scuthern Methodist Church, the CHE
wag a small denomination in the state. 1™

Baptists had been among the earliest free black congregations. Iin 1868 the
Seuth Carolina Baptist Convention stated that the dubies of Baptist churches
included not only helping freedmen learn to read the Bible, but alisc to help
them construct their own churches when they wanted to peparate. In 187%Z
BEdigto Island Baptist Church, which had dissolved in 1859, turned over itsg
builﬁiﬁg to the biack members, who had contlinued services throughout the Clvil
War.

The Reversnd Ishmael Houltrie, a graduate of Penn Center, wag the first black
te be trained as a missionary for the Fresbyterian Church, U.S.A. Betwesan
1866, when he organized the Bdistoe Island Presbyterian Church {where he is
buried}), and 1892, the year of his death, he was instrumental in forming the
Preshyvterian churches of St. James, on James Island:; Mount Hebron, on Johns
tatand; and Salem, on Wadmalaw Island. '

Episcopaliansg generally continued the pattern of plack members attending
gseparate services in white-managed churches, The Protestant Episcopal Church
did not ordain b.ack clergy, so pblack congregations had o rely on white
ministers even when they had their own buildings. In 1874 the Reformed
Episcopal Church {begun in 1873 in New York)} agreed toc recelve black Eplscopal
congregations and to train blacks for ordination. Several RE churches in
Charleston County date to the mid-1870s. Otheyr new sects formed out of
antebellum black denominations: Reformed 2Zion Union Apostolic in 1881 and
Reformed Methodist Union Episcopal (RMUE) in 188%5.138

SURVEY DATA: Haversl Methodist, #6007, Christ-St. Pauls, #0648, Sv. Maryts Catholic, #7111, Sauldam Baprist, #3504,
Stono Baptist, #506. Several freedmen’s church buiidings remaininCharieston County, including Bethel AME, #4406, st
McCiatlarwilie; Wastiewinthodist, #703, at Hollywood; arnxg Wesley Methodist Episcepal, #718, at Lincolnville. #any
congregations have replaced or improved their sariybuiidings; for example see Jerusalem, #278, on Wadmaiaw island,
Not all churches establ ished churchyard cemeteries; commuity or family cemeteries have been identified throughout
Charleston County. In Ravenel, the white Methodist Church Cemetery, #607.1, was umed by the members of Bemorial
Baptist, #6185, as weil. Affordable granitemarkers came into widespread use just before WorldWar One. it is typical
to find a modern butiding surrounded by 3 cemetery with wwentieth sentury gravestonas, at the stte of a freedmen’s
church estabt ished in the 188Cs. A good example is annivesta, 703, at Holiywood.

Tourism and Beach Resorbts

Sullivan’s Island remained a popular vacation resort with hotels, hoarding
housas and rental beach houses added to the traditional summsr homes. In 1898
the Charleston and Seashore Railroad Company constructed a trolley line from
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Hount Pleasant across Sullivan’s Island to Isle of Palme, which was also being
developad as a resort. o0

At Magnolia Plantation, whsre John Grimke-Drayton had been cultivating
imported camelliss and azaleas since the 18408, a new comperclal enterprise
began in 1870 when he opened the property to the public. It was listed in
Baedeker s travel guilde as “one of the three greatest attractions in
America. "0  In the twentieth century several other plantation house museums
and gardens have operated nearby, inocluding Bunneymeds, Orayton Hall, and
Hiddleton Place.

SURVEY DATA: Bravton Hall, #0%9, Magnolia Plantetion House, #0079, Runneyoedds, #3561,
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TWENTIETH CENTURY, 1900-191%

BDuring the early twentieth century, the fave of Bouth Carolina began to ¢hangs
to accommedate cars and trucks. Ap early ag 1908, mail in 5t. James, Santes,

Parish was carried by auntomoblle. Bven rallroad companies promoted highway
improvements, asgs a way of moving goods from farms to depots. Crosgroads
stores developed in rasponse to ingreassd auvtomobile traffic. Schoaols were

2lsc established in small towns and crossrsads areas. &

Except the summer villeges and beach communities, there were still no townsg on
Charleston County's large islands. In mainland areas, small towns contined to
grow along rail lines and highways. Churches organized in the spall towns of
Charieston County during this pericd include Osborne Baptist {today Adams Run
Baptist) im 1900; Yonges Island Bapltist (today Calvary Baptist, Meggetti in
1304; and Ravenel Baptist (today Memorial Baptist), by 19313.142

Little timberland had been reclaimed for farming gince bthe Civil War, and some
rice plantations had reverted to timber during the late ninetesnth century.
New lumber companies were formed around the turn of the century and acguired
large tracts of forest and forested former rvicefislds. The Atlantic Coast
Lumber Corporation wasg organized in 18%9% and bought forest land in Geocrgetown,
Charleston and Herkeley counties. The A, . Tuxbury Lumber Company was
established at Charleston in 190%, Its mill on the Cooper River near the Navy
Yard and Seaboard Alr Line railroad was the largest lumber plant in the
county; there was also a planing mill and a box factory. Smaller sawmills and
turpentine stills continued to operate along rail lines and waterways
throughout the Lowcountry. '3

Survey Datar See Post Offices at Wadmalaw, #210, Adams Run, #331.1, Yonges fsland, #537, Meggett, #589, Ravensl,
&627.1, Bsborne, #7132, and South Santee, #713.1.

Schools butit after 1900 refiect a focus on safety ang health masters, and are typified by large one-teacher
classrooms and long bands of windows, Buildings constructed with state assistance had to meet minimam
specifications, and a certain tevel of standardization resul ted. See Wadmaltaw School, #212, Nine Mile Fork School,
#2445, Seaside School, #3067, Central School, #3364, Awendaw School, #5586, andBaptist Hitl Schoal, #701.

sohistoric sawmilis or turpentine stills were identifisd during the survey. The fmpact of the timber industry can
be seer throughout Charleston Dounty, In Large areas s UL managed for pine.

Agriculture

Betwsen 1900 and 1920 came the beginning of seriocus agricultural education in
the south. Publications such as Progresgive Farmer brought new information to

igolated farmers. The USDA State Agricultural Extension Services, set into

motion by the boll weevil infestation, developed and promoted various market
144

crops.

Some agricultural experimentation was unsucressfal. In 1801 the American Tea
Growing Company acquired about 5,500 acres of former rice fields near
Rantowles, but the venture failed by 1907. In 1%14 the company socid the
property, and by 1237 the R.L. MclLecd and Scn timber company acguired the
land. In 1963 the Lipton Tea Company used plants from the earlisy Plnehurst
Tea Plantation near Summervilis to astablish a farm on Wadmalaw Island, now
the Charleston Tea Plantation. This has proven to be & successful
enterprise.'*®

In areas where efficient bulk shipment was possible, truck farming expanded.
The “truck belt” of Charleston County included Edisto, Wadmalaw and James
lalands, and mainland areas from MceClellianville to Farkers Ferry, south to

48



Yonges Island. Although statewide in 1%07 the priscipal crops were cotibon,
gerrn, wheat and oats, on Charlsston County truck farms the great orops were
cabbage, Iirish potatdes, cucumbers and beans. sputh Carolins wag oa world
ieader in cabbage and potato growing. 6

A new rallroad line came to Charieston County in 1914 when the Charleston,
Atlantic and Western Hailway laid the track known since 1917 as the Seaboard
Air Line Rallway. The Seaboard Rir Lipe further limproved the shipping
capakilities of the truck farmers alcong its route, which ran scuthwest from
the City of Charleston, across Johns Island, and acrosg St. Paulsg Parish to
the South Edisto River and bayond. During the early iwentleth century the
Atlantic Ceast Line railway continued constructing spur lines in St. Pauls
parish. %

The Atlantic Coast Line Depot was in the heart of Meggsbt’'s comtercial
district; the Seaboard Air Line station wasg ust north of the small town,
which wag a ventsr of business activity. DPally shipments of several hundred
cars, many of them refrigerated {ice box), left for points north and south.
In addition to agricultural laborers, who included loval, northern, and
“foreign” whites as wall as black wage earners, large numbers of telegraphers,
telephone operators and clerks wers ﬁmglwyed.ma

Survey Data: Sesbosrd Alr Line Right of Way, #3508, Railuay [ce House, #323.1, %ol lvwoed lce House, #598. In the town
of Meggett, see 50 Produce Asseciation Headguarters, #588, and Calvary Baptist Churgh, #58%. The Tes Farwm Coumty
Park being developed by Charteston County occuptes part of American Teo Growing Company's Land,

Rive growing having effectively ended with the <¢lose of the ninetesanth
century, the final biow toc Sea Island cotton planters was the boll weevil.
Beginning its sweep in Texas in 18%4, the insects spread eastward to becowme a
wlear threat in coastal Bouth Carolina by 1%16. In 1917 weevils were obberved
on the Sea Islands, where they were saild to prefer the soft bolis of long-
ataple cotton, Some Charlesion County farmers switched to short-staple
asotton, but wmore sinmply abandoned cotton entirely in favor of truck, corn,
pecang, or livestock, ¥

Farmery experimented with corops that were less labore-intensive than rice or
cotton. Dry land, or land that could be drained, was turned over to gorn as
the use of chemical fertilizers spread. In 1887 the {first large commercial
pecan grove in the south was begun in Georgla. In 1899 there were 9955 pecan
trees in South Carolina, 307 of them in Charleston County. After about 1905
developments in grafting and harvesting led to improved guality, and planting
increased. By 19207 John 5. Horlbeck was said to have the largest pecan
prehard in the world at Boone Haill, with a 600~acre main grove and two smaller
groves, 150

Survey Dats: Large pecan orchards remain at Boone dall, # 015; on Wadmalaw, #2117, amd Yonges lstard #5%46. Smalier
groves were noted at farme and houses throughout the county. Yruck farming continues in parts of Charieston Dounty,
but at & much reduced scale, [ts principal impsct on the landscepe has been to retain large level aress of farmland
as cropfieids, stitl visible today; some are being replaced by tree farms or subdivisions,

The Seafood Industry

During the late nineteenth century, oysters and crabs bhegan 10 be processed in
canneries before being shipped. “Oyster factories” were located whers acosess
was convenient both bto water and read. By about 1890 there was an oyster
factory in Mount Pleasant; about 1902 the first cannery was established at
Charleston. after 1%00, regulations against shipping oysters in the shell

49



inoreased the use of canneries. Twe million bushels of ovsters were canned in
180%, and by 1907 there were 1032 enployess in the gtate’'s ning fachories.
Black and white residents, includisg many women, found emplovment in oyster
factories. B few smaller canneries were opersted by independent fishermen.'d

There were several oyvstber canneries in and around Medlellanville, where
waterway improvements spurred growth. A deepened inland channel leading north
from Copahee Socund through Seewes Bay to a point opposite MoClellanville, with
& pranch channel to the village, was constructed between 1906 and 1%le. By
1813 there were two cannevies along Jeremy's Creek. 138

Near Awendaw Village, Shellmore Packing Shed was situated oo the Atlantic
Intracoastal Walterway at the point where Highway 17 runs oclossst to the
Waterway. At Yonges Island, an oyeter factory wag strategically located
between the rall line and a nearby creek. '’ Flowers’ Oyster Factory on Edisto
Igland was somewhat isolated by comparizon with the canneries established on
the mainliand, and wag a much smaller structure.

Commercial shrimping did not begin in Charleston County until about 1924, In
the late 1920s about forty vessels, mostly from out-of-state, weres working out
of the docks in Charleston. About 1%26 a shrimp cannery was established at
Folly Beach. The first commercial dock on Shem Creek was bullt in 1946, 734

Survey Bata: Yonges I1sisndOyster Factory, #382; Flowers! Gyater Factory, #344. Griffin House, #300. The Hosquite
geach Oyster Factory on James jslend was destroved by surricane Hugo, September 1989, The Shellmors Packing Shed
stood near today’'s Shellmore Road.

Military Construction and World War One

The U.S. Navy established a naval station near Beaufort, in 188%, but by 1895
its inaccessibility caused the Havy to decide to pull eout of South Carolina
entirely. The improvements of Charleston Harbor helped persuade the Federal
Government to relocate the base te the west bank of the Cooper River, on
Chariegton’'s Necok. With the Navy Yard came the urban development of HNorth
Charleston. In 14904 Chicora Place subdivision was laid out, and in 1912 a
1500-acre tract nearby was subdivided as "North Charleston.r!??

Beginning in 18%7, there was & large buildup of BAtlantic Coast forts,

ircluding Fort Moultrie. Betwesen 1%02 and 1935 the growing garrison on
Sullivan‘s JIsland resulted in a large buildup of housing and support
facilities. During World War ©One defense appropriations in the Charleston

area were almost §20. million. Transportation and tralining facilities were
established throughout the county. HMost wartime construction, intended to be
temporary, was of canvas, but some divigional sBteorehouses and gquarters for
speclial use were built of wood. These buildings were dismanteled and sold to
private individuals in the 1%820s, Military housing and some support
structures remain on Sullivan’s Island.'3¢

SURVEY DATA: See Hay House (#242) on Wadmalaw [siand, built in 1929 of lLuarber from 2 barracks at the Army Depot. A
small barn on the property s butlf of hollow clay tile salvaged from & washhouse.

AGRICULTURAL DEPRESSICON, GREAT DEPRESSION AND KEW DEAL, 191%-1%41

Internaticnal cotton prices fluctuated widely with tha onset of World War One,
pifficult economics, combined with the boll weevil and the attractiveness of
truck farming, put an end to cotton production in Charleston County. While
most of South Caroline reliled on cotton, producing over a million bales in
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1921, leas than 4,000 baless of cotion were produced in ocastal South Carolina

that vear. However, the US0A experliment stavtions op Jages and Wadmalaw

islandes carried on the effort to braed wesvil-resistant ocotton unblil aboub
»

1935, 1%

Truck farmers contbinued to progper in Charleston County. While they mostly
shipped frash produce, some also cooperated in the egtablishment of canning
factories for vegetables. By 1924 the Shellmore Oyster Packing Products
Company was growing vegetables dear MoClellanville foy lig vegetable cannery,
and there was also a tomatoe cannery at Yonges Island. In 1%3% South Carclina
was & national leadsr in tomabtoes and esrly Irish potatose, first nationwide
in early fall cabbage, fourth in tobacco production, and fifth among all
atates In cotton production. Twe coropz of cabbage were being cultivated
anmually in the Meggett ares. Varied 'amall truck” -~ cucumbers, peas, and
lettuce -~ was a significant component of the agricultural ecomomy. '8

During the Great Depression, many southern farmers left the land entirely.
Fewer but larger farms depended on machinery, orop gelection, and economic
incentives move than on human lLabor. Five agricultural experiment stations
weére established in South Carclina, joint programs of Clemson College and the
US Department of Agriculture. The Charleston statien, stressing large-scale
farming with machinery and chemlcals, conventrated on truck crops, beef, and
forestry, experimenting with tomatoes of different varisties and planting
pecan orchards on Jamesg and Wadmalaw iglands. Throughout the statée in the
decade of the 1920s¢ the agricultural officials promoted pecans and the
procedures to manage them. New orchards were planted for home congumption and
supplemental income.!??

Some lands were turned to pasturage for beef and dairy herds. Farmers in the
swamps amd pine forests secured cattle grazing rights on timber company lands,
ocften in exchange for waintaining logging company fences and signs.
Eapecially where waterways could serve as fencing, free-ranging cattle
regquired little manpower, and they were one solution to unproductive or fallow
iland. Growth from purchase to market weight was only threaatened by injury,
theft or insects; chemicals prevented the last, Into the 19508 the animals
were periodically dipped in vats of solution and released to forage. 160

Dalrying replaced crop farming for some landowners as moderniged processing
and refrigerated trucks and train cars bescame available. By 1907, incculation
programs wersg reducing the cattle fever tick, Small dairy operationsg were
established on Johnsg Island and at Rantowles Depot. Coburg Dalry in St.
Andrews Parish was founded in 1%22 by Francis 8. Hanckel. ZInitially the dairy
kept its 100 Jersey cows at the site, and later converted to a processing
dairy. About 100 dairies throughout Scuth Carolina provided raw milk to the
production facilities housed in former milking barns. TIn 136% Coburg was the
largest independent dairy in the state,’®!

SURVEY DATA:  See USDA structurss at Rockland, #187. A cattle dip remains st Bailay’s Tstand, ¥348, and watering
troughs are found al Windsor Plantation, #1342, Pine Barren, #3111, and Cox Farm, #482. The USDASCLemson ayricul tural
demonstration and experiment complex is located on Hichway 17 South, and retsing severs! buildings from the early
193¢s. Several of the Coburg Bairy structures remain along the nerth side of Uappos Uresk,

Highway Modernizatlons

There were 40,000 cars in Scuth Carvoiina in 1917, the year the State Highway
Department was formed. Eight vears later, the number had grown to 170,000.
The highway department replaced ferries with bridges, straightened and widened
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rouvtes, and paved roads and highways., In 1918 the fires Dawho Bridge replaced
the Whooping Island cable ferry to Edisto Island, and the main road on the
igland was straightensd, with new bridges built over interior creeks. 6

The decade of the 19208 was the peak of highway oonstruchion activity in
Charleston County. Hew bridges were bullt over Rantowles and wallace coreeks
in 3924, In 1526 the Ashley River Road (Highway 1) was strailghtened and the
Church Creek Ccauseway was ralsed and widened. By the midale of that year
there were forty miles of concrete paved road in Charleston Countv. The year
1928 also saw the congtruction of the Shem Creek Bridge near Hount Pleasant; s
bridge to replace the Stonc Ferry to Johns Island {(todav’'s Limshouse Memorial
Bridge}; a new drawbridge ouver the Edisto River to Jacksonboro; and the Wappoo
Bridge to replace a smaller drawbridge to James Island., In 1227 a bridge over
the Atlantic Coast Line Rallway, near the community of Parkers Ferrxy,
connected today's U.5. Highway 17 to Highway 174 south toward Adams Run and
Ediste Islamd. The Stonc River Bridge was bullt in 1929 between James and
Johns islands, 163

These rcad improvements encouraged increasing residential development on James
Island, areas of S5t. Andrews Parish ilmmediately west of the Ashley River, and
along Highwsy 61 at Pierpont. Rows and stands of live oak trees were retained
in the small developments along the “Garden Road," already known for its
beauty. Scattered houses were alsc built through the decade of the 1920s
facing newly improved roads. Parallel toe the rail line in the town of
Ravenel, Martin and Drayton streets were laid and paved during the 1920s.1%%

Ag late as 1929 travelers from Charleston to Gecrgetown had to cross four
ferries between the Cooper and Santee rivers. The John F. Grace HMemorial
Bridge between Charleston and Mount Pleasant opened “a territory adiascent to
Charleston which had not been readily accessible.” Designed in 13927, the
Grace opensd in 1929, For the first time Mount Pleagant was connected to
Charleston by road. In 1930 the state highway department began paving and
straightening U.S5. Highway 17, & link in the Atlantic Cocastal Highway from
Maine to Florida. The thirty-siyx miles of highway between the new South
Bantee River bridge and Charleston, was said to "touch the old road 17 times.”
Ssections of the old road were left as unpaved rural routes,'®®

The ¥illage of McClellanville wag incorporated in 1926, anticipating a boom
from the road and bridge improvements that were underway. However, whan
Highway 17 was fully paved in 1930, the town was bypassed by traffic to
Charleston or Georgetown. Continuing activities at the sawmills, turpentine
stills, vegetable and seafood canneries, did provide a home market for the
town's small commercial strip. A new municipal wharf was built, and Main
(Pinckney) Street paved, in 1535.166

SURVEY DATA : Whooping [sland Causeway, #347, ca, 1915; Hump Bridge , #352.1, aiwd Store Oreek Bridge, €317, ca. 1918;
Store Creek Bridge, #317.1, 1940, Wescott Rosd, #1140, cut off in 1940, Church Creek causeway, #3467, old Georgetown
Road, #5707, 576; 20th century bridge site, #3467, 0ld Jecksonboro Road, #600; Kighway 174 bridge over $CL Radlusy,
#7333, 1927, New stores, #5587 and #707, wers built {3 serve increasing motor traffic onbs 37,

InRavenel , see #601-611, #627-650, Buildings inMoliel lunvitiewers surveyed as #401-478,

Residential Patterns

Road  improvements and  commercial  opportunities influenced shifts in
residential patterns that were alse affected by the general depopulation of
farms and the continuing exodus of blacks from the south. Betwesn 1900 and
1940, over 500,000 plack Scouth Carclinians moved out of the state. By 1936,
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whites were the majority (54.3%) of the population for the flrst time since

1810, There was lese departure of blacks from the Lowcountry than In the
Fiedmont but still affected censuz figures. The population of Charlsston
County was BY,965 in 1200 {31% white, 6%% black). In 1910 with total

population nearly unchanged, the ratlog had changed to 37% white and 63%
1

black. By 1920 the proportion was 41% white, 59% black.'®7

In the yearg before World War Two, the smmall towns of Charleston County were
gervice centers for thelr immediate surroundings, thelr economies largely
determined by location. Relatively accessible to the markets of Charleston,
Rantowles, was "a scattered village of small farmes at the junction of Highway
17 and 8C 165" with a population of 30. Further from the ity of Charleston,
Adams Bun was on the main road south from the railrcoad and Highway 17, in the
rich farming area of southwestern St. Pauls Parish. There were sevearal stores
at the *two principal croszroads aveas of Adams PRan, which supported a
population of 500. Nearby Barrelville, "where containers are manufactured for
the truck grown at KReggett,” had only 15 residents. Heggett iltself was a
gubstantial town, with a pepulation of 1050, with Hollywood its amall
puburh, 168

The WPA Guide to South Carolina, written in the sarly 1940s, aoted that “large
trucks loaded with all kinds of vegetables are familiar sights on the highways
af South Carolina.” Farmers uged their own trucks te baul thelr produce
central packing complexes for rail and highway shipment. Railroad companies
reduced thelr mileage in Scuth Carolina as freight and passenger traffic
ghifted to trucks and cars. Yonges lIsland and Meggett declined as long-
distance haulers switchsed from water and rail shipment to the ause of highway
trucks. At the same time, significant development began to occur in the Town
of Hellywood, at the junction of nporth-south State Highway 165 with east-west
Highway 162.767

As does the the growth of Hollywood, the suburban areas ¢lose to the City of
Charleston represent sodern residentlial patterns in Charleston County. Much
of the change to suburban developments ls associatved with the longer commuting

distance made possible by bridge and road improvements. In the 1220s,
gubdivigions were laid out at Riverland Terrace on James Isliand, and in West
ashley at Windermere and the Crescent. Although most of the lots in the

Crezscent were not sold until after World HYWar Two, Riverland Terrace and
Windermere developed rapidly ln the 1920s and i930s. Somewhat later, Byrnes
Downs was largely bullt between 1942 and 1845,

Twentieth century subdivisions brought Charleston County, for the first time,
into the main stream of American architecture. Typical bungalow and cottage
styles were spread throughout the nation by pattern books and popular
magazines. The frame houses ia Riverland Terrace include good exampies of
thisg influence, which is also reflected in scattered houses bullt up until
Worid war Two., Brick venser is more typical of the cottages in the Windermere
and Byrnes Downs subdivisions, but very zrare in rural Charleston County
dwellings before about 1950.

Hewly accessible for worksrs in Charieston’s urban market, James Island
experisnced a population ilncrease from 3,058 in 1930 to 3,813 in 1944,
Continuing suburban development resulted in & population of 13,872 in 1960, of

whom 70% were white. The population of Johns Island alsgo increased between
1930 and 1240, from 3,264 to 3,534. The increase was sntirely in the whita
population, howaver, as blacks departed the island. The percentage of Johns

Igland that was black declined from B86% {2,828) to 74% {2,633y during this
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pericd. By 1980 Johns Island’s population bhad grown substantially, o a total
af 6,252, of whom 3,280 (5Z%) were black.

Although the white population of Wadmalaw Island increased slightly during
this period, the black outmigration {from 1,813 in 1930 to 1,607 in 1340}
resulted in an overall population decline, to 1,858 in 1940, Wadmalaw s
population, white and black, incressed over the next decades, to a total of
2,32% py 1860, Ediste Island was far removed from the comsuter mavket. The
igland’s total population was stable between 19340 (1,948) and 1940 (1,958},
put the white population declined slightly, and blacks as a percentage of the
population increased slightly, from 861 to 88%. Ovay the next decades the
white population of Edisto held steady, but there was a black outmigration and
daeciine in total population. In 1960, of 1,589 residents on EBdistoe Izland,
82% were black.'’0

Bducation

In 1922 South Carolina’s 6-0-1 School Law provided funding to local school
digtricts. In the late 1920°s the state bhegan assgisting with transportation
to bring students to central schools. Central and high schools for whites
were organized on Bdisto, Sullivan's, Johns, James and Wadmalaw islandsg, and
at McClellanville, Mt. Pleagant, Ladson, Adams Ron and Rantowles: smaller
klack central schools existed nearby. In other areas, central schools at
Awendaw, 5t. Andrews and Meggett educated white children, and schools at
Philips, Woodeille, and Parkers Ferry served black pupile. By 1927 Charleston
County’s nineteen school districts operated about 65 schocls for blacks, more
than twice as many as# there were for white children. Many black students
attended small schools scattered throughout rural areas, and as late as 1231
wyer half of South Carolina’s black puplles attended schocl in leodge halls,
churches, and similar buildings. The large 1920s central school in the town
of Lincelnville was an exception. The educational programs of black churches
were an important supplement to public schools. Praise houses served
educational, social, fraternal and charitable functions as well housing
religious services.!|

SURVEY DATA: Ediste Island Graded School, #3522, Adams Run School, #6845, Mcllelianville School, #454&. Moving Sisr
#atil, #0846 (lohng {slangd), is the enly praise house knokn (o survive inCharieston Sounty.,

Beach Resorts, Tourism and Recreation

Folly Island had been purchased in 1918 by # group of Charlsston businessmen,
who censtructed avenues and cross streets nesr the beach. There wag little
construction until the Wappoo Bridge opened in 1926, making Folly Beach an
easily accessible alternative to the longer-established resorts of Sullivan‘s
Island and Isle of Palms. Many cottages, several restsurants, a pavilion for
dan¢ing, and a boardwalk were soon built. The Isle of Palms continued to
flourish as a summer resort, with little agriculture or f£ishing activities
centered on the island. In 1940 the vear-round populaticn was only 25.779
Both these oceanfront islands continue as low-density residential resorts,
although today there are substantial vear-round populations at both. Over
vime most of the early cottages have been lost due to storm, fire resulting
from seagonzl vacancy, or owner's desire for a larger or more convenient bheach
house. Those that remain have generally been substantially altered over time.
Ko historic bulldings that retain integrity were identified on Folly Island,

In about 1926 gseveral Edigto Island property owners f{ormed Edisto Beach, Inc.,
angd gave land {(part of Sesside Plantation) to the State Commission of Forestry
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for a state park that was bullt by thes Civilian Coneervablon Corps. & pumber
of houses wers soon bullt opn "front besch,” but most were destroyed by the
hurricane of 1940. Rebuilding took place during and after World War Two. 'S
Bdigto State Park and the ocesnfront Town of Edizsto Beasch are today in
Colleton County,

Besides Bdisto State Park, several private camps sstablished during the 1330s
and 1940z remain Ln use. In about 1938, the Eplscopal Diccese of South
Carclina began to use the sglte of a former hunting camp on Seabrook Isgland as
Camp St, Christopher, and acquired fLibtle in 198Z. In the 1930z the Boy Scout
crganization acguired fifteen acres on a spit of land between Fickling Creek
and Bohicket Creek. Camp Ho Non Wah was expanded in 1943 to its present 130
acres. Canp SeeWee, nsar Awendaw on the Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway, has
been a YMCA camp, and is today a United Hethodist Conference center. Ot hey
Boy Scout and Girl Scout camps are no longer in operation. '

SURVEY DATA: Runneymede Garden, #355, opened for the season on March 1, 1960, WPA Guide describes the garden onp,
285, See Bailey House at the Boy Scoul Camp, #2005,

New Deal Programs

New Deal programs such as the Works Progress Administration (WPA}, the
Agricultural Adiustment Administration (ABA), and the National Industrial
Recovery Act {which focused on textile manufacturing] had a great impact on
South Carclina.'® In Charleston County, the effect of other programs -~ U. §.
Departnent of Agriculturs, Extension Service and Forest Service; U.8 Fish and
Wildlife Service; the Civilian Conservation Corps -~ are readlily seen in
today s landscaps,

In 192% the U. §. Army Air Corps, Civilian Aviation Administration {CRAY, and
Public Works Administration (PWAY began to “build up civilian airports of

value to national defenge.® Between 1940-1944 over 1000 Scuth Carclinians
were employed building and improving alrports, including the Charleston
RBirport and Johns Igland Airbase. The Works Progress Administration

supplanted the PWa in 1935. It continued airport and other transportation and
public service construction projects, such as the Santee-Cooper proiect in
Berkeley County. When it ended in 1%43, over 30 percent of the WPA’‘s budget
in SBeuth cCarcolina had gone to road construction and improvemsnt, including
rows of live oak trees at McClellanville, 78

The Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway (AIWW}, constructed by the ¥.85. Army Corps
of Engineers, with the PWA/WPA and CCC, completed the efforts of various
Rivers and Harbors Acts sipnce the 1880s to provide a continuous inland
waterway aleong the east coast of the United States. ¥From Norfolk, Virginia,
to the 3t. John’s River in Florida, the AIWW sxtends for 73% miles. 210 miles
of its length is within South Carclina. Much of the inland route north of
Charleston Harbor had been completed before 1920, by various projects of the
gtate and federal governmments. During the decade 1%30-1840, earlier canals
such as Elliott's Cur, Watts Cut and Wew Cut were improved, and a small strip
of land connecting Goat Island to Isle of Palmg was cut through in 1934,
Otherwise, between 1930 and 1940 most new work in Charleston County took place
gouth of Charleston Harbor. The channel in Wadamalaw Sound was iLmproved,
cutoffs between the Dawho and South EBEdisto rivers were made, and two sharp
Pends in the Dawho River were cut off in 19385, The final segment of the ARIWW
wag opened in Horry County in 1836, Because of its mandate to improve
shipping opportunities, bridges that o¢ross the BIWY may not ilnpede water
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traffic; rail and highwavy bridgss must either be slevated, or operate as
drawbridges. "7

SURVEY DATA: Ses Watts But, #5375, dew Cuf, #7244 and Atlantic Intraconstal Waterwsy, #2840, Limehouss Bridge, #5692,
Dawho Bridos, #5382, Oak Trees st MoClatlamville, 8455 avd #4467,

The New Deal and Timber Lands

Inn 1930, lumbering was South Carolina’s second largest manufacturing industry.
Following the invention that year of an  inexpensive process of making
newsprint from pine, demand for pulpwood increassd. Pulp mills used enormous
gquantities of wood. Maintaining the supply was critical, but timber lands in
much of Charleston and Berkeley counties had been diminished by continued
logging. 178

State and federal reforestation projects intended to restore the profitability
of timber lands began in 1333, Civilian Conservation Corps {(CCC) workers
developed truck trails and firebreaks and improved thousands of acres of
forest, reseading with pine on privately owned as well as federal lands. They
built fire towers statewide for the South Carclina Commission of Forestry. !’

pegpite the success of the reforestation projects, timber companies found it
infeasible to hold land for the decades required for trees to grow to harvest.
They supporited the U. 8. Government’'s establishment of the Francis Marion
Mational Forest in 1%36, and petitioned for federal purchase of their depleted
lands. The forest, managed by the USDA Forest Service, today consists of
approximately 254,000 acres. The federal governaent had earlier acguired some
84,000 acres nearby, which was established in 1932 as the Cape Romain National
Wildlife Refuge. 8V

Some properties within the Francis Marion National Forest had remained in use
as farmlands, and are today privately owned "out-parcels." Several church and
community cemeteries are also logated situated within the forest. in 8t.
Pauls and 5t. Andrews parishes, large tracts of woodsd ewampland, some of
which are leased by bhunting clubs, are still privately owned by lumber and
pulpwood companies.

Survey Data:r Seo St. James, Santee, Church, #111; cemeteries, %498 and #4699, and houses, #5850, #5571, #5469 ang #5771,

are within the Forest. Fire towers remain at Adams Run, #3530, end Bclletlanville, #445.01. Also at Mcllelianville

t3 the headguarters of the U8 Biclogical Survey, #4458, LUC camps were designed to be portable: work buildings were
congtructed of canvas or other tomporary materizi instead of wood, With the buildup for Worid War Twe, many of them
were moved tomititary training and staging grounds. A bsrnbuilt to house firefighting eguipment within the Francis
Harion National Forest nesr Awerdaw {8 8 rere example of a structurs used by CLC workers.

HODERK CHARLESTON COUNTY, 1941-PRESENT

Social, economic, agricultural and ¢ransportation patterns bsgun in the 1600s
were the framework for the development of modern Charleston County. World War
Two and its aftermath can be considered the beginning of the modern era in
trangportation, employment and residential patcerns.

The continuing departure of blacks from South Carclina combined with wartime
personnle demands to reduce the labor avallable to truck farmers during World
War Two. Laber shortage also brought the gasoline tractor, invented in 18%2,
inte common use for the first time. Draft animals and the buildings
associated with them and their feed c¢rops began to disappsar from the
landscape, along with tenant houses.
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Migrant workers provided another sclution to the loss of  local labor.
Bithough the truck farmers of St. Pauls Parish zeem to have used seasonal
labor since before World War Ong, the first sanctioned use of Mexlican migrant
laborers cams during World War Two. By the end of the war, some 300,000
Mexicans had worked in the U.S5., but it was geveral years more before this now
Labor force, with its assocliated temporary housing, affected Charleston
County. Truck farming recovered to some extent after the war, with tomatces
and beans replacing potatoes after the appearance of potato blight in 1%45.
In 1%48 there were still about fifty large truck farmers In the county, with
6300 acres in potatoes and 2000 in cakbage. ™ A more permanent decline in
truck farming resulted from increased competition from other states, made
possible by modern shipping, irrigation, and farming methods. However, there
are areas of the Charleston County, especially on Edisto, Johns, and Wadmalaw
imljands, where seasonal vegetables are grown on large farms whose cropfields
regemnble those of the late nineteenth century.

with the onset of World War Two, @& number of recreational and hunting
plantations were sold by thelir part-time residents. Some tracts, including
wando Plantation, Balley’s= Island and Kiawah Island, were timbered heavily for
the first time during the late 1%40s and 1950s. Some plantations were
returaned to crop or livesteck farming, but a number remain as preserves,
timber or hunting land today. 82

Since the 19603, development on South Carclina’s Sea Islands hsg been
influenced by the commercial success of Hilton Head Island's "plantations.”
Large tracts of the island were purchased for timbey in 1950 and developsd
afterward by Charles Fraser. Most of Seabrook Isliand was sold for private
development in 1972 for private development. In 1974 Kiaweh Island was
purchased by & subsidiary of Kuwait Investment Corporation, and developed as a
resort 18

Suburban growth has accelerated in areas near peninsular Charleston and the
military bases. The sarlisr subdivisions have been enlarged, and new commuter
suburbs today extend throughount Charleston County.

Hurricanes

Hurricanes bhave caused significant losses of historic structures since mid-
century. With winds estimated at up to 140 mph, Gracie ravaged southern
Charleston County in 1959, causing significant losses on Edisto, Wadmalaw and
Johns islands. Hurricane Hugo, one of the worst hurricanes to hit anywhere in
the United States in fwenty years, made landfall on Beptember 21, 198%. The
eye of the storm passed over Mount Pleasant, Bulls Bay, and Sullivan’s Island.
The storm surge went up the Cooper, Ashley and Santes riwvers, inundating
lowlying areas more than ten miles upriver. The highest surge, and the
greatest loss of buildings, was in the McClellanvillie/Bulls Bay area, where
Hugo s arrival soincided with high tide, 184

Survey Bata: The impact of Hurricane Hugo was felt throughous Charlesteon County. Some buildings in the survey ares,
such as Laurel Hitl Plantationliouse, #D041, were demol ished; many on Sulliven's Island were destroyed by the storm
itself or demplished as & result of storm damage. A few buildings have not Deen repaired to date, ard <11 most
{ikely be lost: #4756, This survey project, compietad three years after Hurriceans Huge, documented a mumber af
buildings in BeClellanville that had been severely damaged but have been rebuilt in o sanner compatible with the
historic character of the district. Demaged trees, outhuitdings, docks and smatl landscape elements are visible
throughout Charieston County. The complete loss of previously undecumented historic resources canmat be assessed.
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